

Doctoral Thesis No. 2024:14 Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science

Phagostimulatory dynamics of adenine nucleotides in mosquitoes

- advancing a taste-based delivery method for vector control agents

MATTHEW LUKENGE



Phagostimulatory dynamics of adenine nucleotides in mosquitoes

- advancing a taste-based delivery method for vector control agents

Matthew Lukenge

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Protection Biology Alnarp



DOCTORAL THESIS

Alnarp 2024

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2024:14

Cover: Blood-feeding mosquito (Photo: Generated by Nova AI)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-8046-292-1 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-8046-293-8 https://doi.org/10.54612/a.7n6ub6343p © 2024 Matthew Lukenge, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5287-8494 Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Plant Protection Biology, Alnarp, Sweden The summary chapter of this thesis is licensed under CC BY NC 4.0, other licences or copyrights may apply to illustrations and attached articles. Print: SLU Service/Repro, Alnarp 2024

Phagostimulatory dynamics of adenine nucleotides in mosquitoes - advancing a taste-based delivery method for vector control agents

Abstract

The mosquitoes Aedes aegypti and Anopheles gambiae are vectors of major medical importance, incriminated in over half a million lives lost annually. While there has been significant focus on understanding the olfaction mechanisms underlying hostseeking in mosquitoes for the development of odour-based control tools, little is known about the mechanisms underlying gustation in blood feeding, the ultimate behaviour in the change of events leading up to disease transmission. An increased understanding of these gustatory mechanisms may be vital for advancing taste-based alternative vector control tools. Using a no-choice membrane feeding assay (papers II, III, and IV) and a spectrophotometric analysis (paper II), the feeding response of the two vectors to blood-derived adenine nucleotide diets, as proxies, and a reliable signal, for blood, was examined. While these experiments revealed that Ae. aegypti is more sensitive than An. gambiae (paper II) to the adenine nucleotide diets, both species maintained the same selectivity to the diets, with a dose-dependent bimodal feeding pattern. The latter expands the all-or-none blood-feeding theory for haematophagous arthropods to include an initial tasting step (paper II). Adenine nucleotides also regulated the proportion of An. gambiae prediuresing in a dosedependent manner, but did not affect the volume engorged or prediuresed (paper II). A transcriptome analysis of the labrum identified putative genes that are involved in the detection and assessment of blood modalities (paper III). A shift from a high abundance of genes with structural function in the teneral age libraries to genes with cellular, neuro-communicative and modulatory function, including putative ATP receptors, in the 3 days-post-eclosion libraries was observed, providing blood feeding mosquitoes with a structurally sturdy and chemosensory-competent blood feeding organ (paper IV). The assessment of whether the ATP sensory pathway may be a viable way of overcoming the aversive effects of antifeedants and toxicants revealed its superiority over the sugar sensory pathway. ATP induced a reflexive engorgement on toxic meals, which were directed to the midgut, in contrast to sugarinduced meals, which were directed to the crop, an observation that correlated with the rapid mortality rates. Taken together, this study expanded our mechanistic understanding of the phagostimulatory dynamics of adenine nucleotides in Ae. aegypti and An. gambiae, and the associated putative labral detection receptors in Ae. aegypti, with the establishment of a novel workflow for advancing taste-based vector control tools.

Keywords: Ae. aegypti, An. gambiae, blood feeding, attractive toxic baits, ATP, purinoceptor, transcriptome, labrum, gustation, feeding deterrents

Dedication

To my family; Patience, Keisha and Nicole

... "Quitters never Win and Winners never Quit: Never measure the height of a mountain until you have reached the top, then you will see how low it is" ... Dag Hamerskjold.

Contents

List c	of pub	lication	S	11	
List c	of table	əs		13	
List o	of Figu	ıres		14	
Abbr	eviatio	ons		15	
1.	Intro	ductior	۱	16	
2.	Background				
	2.1	Life his	story of Ae. aegypti and An. gambiae		
		2.1.1	Host seeking leading to blood feeding in mosqu	uitoes20	
	2.2	Blood	feeding	21	
		2.2.1	Evolution of haematophagy	21	
	2.3	The pe	eripheral mosquito gustatory system	23	
		2.3.1	Structure of the main blood-feeding gustatory of	rgan23	
		2.3.2	The labral sensory system		
		2.3.3	Taste modalities associated with haematophag	y25	
		2.3.4	Adenine nucleotides are the major blood phag 25	ostimulants	
		2.3.5	Variation in adenine nucleotide structu	re affects	
		phago	stimulation	25	
		2.3.6	Other factors affecting phagostimulation	26	
	2.4	Molec	ular basis of the taste function of the labrum	27	
		2.4.1	Soluble binding proteins	28	
		2.4.2	Membrane-bound proteins	28	
	2.5	Taste-	based toxic bait technology	29	
		2.5.1	Working principle and application of the ATSB.	29	
		2.5.2	Active ingredients and modifications of ATSBs		
		2.5.3	Challenges of sugar-based attractive toxic bait	tools31	
3.	Aim	and ob	jectives	32	
4.	Mate	erials a	nd Methods	33	

	4.1	Mosquito colony maintenance			
	4.2	Preparation of mosquitoes for the experiments			
		4.2.1 Sensitivity and specificity to adenine nucleotides			
		4.2.2 Preparation of Ae. aegypti for transcriptome analysis 34			
	4.3	Behaviour and volumetric response to adenine nucleotides34			
	4.4	Age-dependent feeding behaviour and labral transcriptomics in			
	Ae. aegypti				
		4.4.1 Labral extraction of total RNA and differential gene			
		abundance analysis			
	4.5	ATP overrides the aversive effects of antifeedants			
	4.6	Knockdown and lethal toxic effects elicited by ATP- and sucrose-			
		induced feeding			
	4.7	Diet destination in ATP- and sucrose-induced feeding on feeding			
		deterrents and toxicants			
5.	Sum	mary and discussion of results			
	5.1	Sensitivity and specificity of Ae. aegypti and An. gambiae to			
		adenine nucleotides			
	5.2	A bimodal feeding pattern in Ae. aegypti and An. gambiae41			
	5.3	Effect of adenine nucleotides on prediuresis in An. gambiae42			
	5.4	Molecular determinants in blood-meal assessment and feeding 44			
		5.4.1 Age-dependent shift in labrum gene abundances between			
		1 dpe and 3 dpe transcriptome libraries			
	5.5	Chemosensory function of the labrum during blood-feeding46			
		5.5.1 Putative chemosensory role of the labrum in the detection			
		of blood vessels and the blood meal46			
		5.5.2 Putative olfactory role of the labrum in blood detection47			
		5.5.3 Putative labral receptors for detecting the key blood taste			
		modalities47			
		5.5.4 Detection of feeding deterrents in blood			
		5.5.5 Labral purinoceptor expression			
	5.6	Putative neuromodulatory roles of the labral sensory machinery50			
	5.7	ATP overrides the aversion of feeding deterrents in Ae. aegypti 50			
	5.8	Toxic effects of ATP-induced and sucrose-induced feeding on			
		feeding deterrent meals51			
6.	Con	clusion and future perspectives54			
7.	Refe	erences			

Popular science summary	68
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	70
Acknowledgements	72

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- Matthew Lukenge, Rickard Ignell, Sharon Rose Hill. (2022). Phagostimulants drive the acceptance of a blood meal in disease vectors. In: Ignell R, Lazzari CR, Lorenzo MG, Hill SR, editors. Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers. p. 469–88.
- Matthew Lukenge, Rickard Ignell, Sharon Rose Hill. Differential sensitivity and specificity of *Aedes aegypti* and *Anopheles gambiae* to adenine nucleotides – an all-or-none response? (submitted manuscript).
- III. Matthew Lukenge, Rickard Ignell, Sharon Rose Hill. Agedependant differential gene abundance in the labrum correlates with its structural maturation and onset of blood-feeding in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti* (manuscript).
- IV. Matthew Lukenge, Rickard Ignell, Sharon Rose Hill. (2023). Adenosine triphosphate overrides the aversive effect of antifeedants and toxicants: a model alternative phagostimulant for sugar-based vector control tools. Parasites Vectors. 16(1): 416.

Paper I and IV are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of **Matthew Lukenge** to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I. Wrote the chapter section "Phagostimulants drive the acceptance of a blood meal in disease vectors" of the book *Sensory ecology of disease vectors*, with input from co-authors Rickard Ignell and Sharon Rose Hill.
- II. Participated in the conception and design of the study, as well as performed the experiments. Analysed and interpreted the data. Wrote the manuscript together with the co-authors.
- III. Participated in the conception and design of the study, as well as performed the experiments. Analysed and interpreted the data. Wrote the manuscript together with the co-authors.
- IV. Participated in the conception and design of the study, as well as performed the experiments. Analysed and interpreted the data. Wrote the manuscript together with the co-authors.

List of tables

 Table 1. Antifeedant and toxicant compounds and concentration
 37

List of Figures

Figure 1. Mouthparts and sensory apparatus involved in blood feeding of the mosquito Aedes aegypti. 24
Figure 2. Sensitivity and specificity of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> and <i>Anopheles gambiae</i> to adenine nucleotide feeding stimulants
Figure 3. The bi-modal feeding pattern on blood-derived adenine nucleotides in a) <i>Aedes aegypti</i> and b) <i>Anopheles gambiae</i>
Figure 4. The effect of blood-derived adenine nucleotides diet on prediuresis in Anopheles gambiae. 43
Figure 5. Age-dependent feeding on blood and ATP, and the variation in read abundance of 1 dpe and 3 dpe labral transcriptomes of <i>Aedes aegypti</i>
Figure 6. Genes in the labrum of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> exhibiting the highest abundance and differential regulation
Figure 7. Expression of chemosensory genes in the labrum of Aedes aegypti 46
Figure 8. ATP overrides the aversive response to antifeedants and toxicants in Aedes aegypti. 52
Figure 9. ATP and sucrose variably modulate the final destination of the meal 53

Abbreviations

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATSB	Attractive toxic sugar bait
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CSPs	Chemosensory proteins
dpe	days-post-eclosion
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GRNs	Gustatory receptor neurons
Gr	Gustatory receptor
Ir	Inotropic receptor
LIPS	Lipid binding protein of the saliva
OBP	Odorant binding protein
Or	Odorant receptor
ppk	Pickpocket receptor
RBCs	Red blood cells
TRP	Transient receptor potential
VOCs	Volatile organic compounds
ZT	Zeitgeber time

1. Introduction

Despite their minute size, mosquitoes are by far the deadliest animals to humans (Schmidt, 2005), implicated in nearly half of the casualties of the approximately 108 billion people who have populated the earth to date (Winegard, 2019). The Culicidae family is home to close to 3,578 mosquito species (Yee *et al.*, 2022). However, only 9.3% of these are implicated in disease transmission, 2.5% of which are known vectors, sustaining the disease pathogens within the human population (Knight and Stone, 1959; Scott and Takken, 2012; Yee *et al.*, 2022).

Approximately 17% of the mortalities registered under infectious diseases are due to vector-borne diseases, yet malaria (~619,000) and dengue (~40,000) alone make up more than 50% of this burden, with an associated 247 million and 96 million annual cases, respectively (CDC, 2020; World malaria report, 2021), placing the African malaria vector, *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* (*s.s.*) (*An. gambiae* henceforth) and the dengue vector, *Aedes aegypti*, as mosquitoes of major medical importance. Irrefutably, the marked debilitating effects associated with mosquito vectors on human health led to decades-long research on the behaviours leading up to the available mosquito control interventions (Clements, 1992).

The sequence of behavioural events conducted by a female mosquito that culminate in a blood meal, during which pathogens may be transmitted, is initiated by the detection of host volatile cues at long and close ranges (Clements, 1992; Takken and Wijnholds, 1997; Takken and Knols, 1999; Grant and Dickens, 2011). In the quest to imbibe a blood meal, the vector ultimately utilises its sensory feeding appendage, the labrum, to assess the quality and palatability of the blood meal through taste (paper I; Lee, 1974). While extensive research has been dedicated to understanding the olfactory aspects of the host-seeking behavioural events (Gillies, 1980; Majeed *et al.*, 2014; Takken, 1991; Takken and Knols, 1999), the gustatory mechanism involved in blood feeding is largely understudied.

To evade a potential assault from the host while acquiring a blood meal, mosquitoes must swiftly detect and assess the acceptability of the meal based on the blood phagostimulatory components, particularly adenine nucleotides (paper I; Clements, 1992). While the detection process is heavily dependent on the efficiency of the sensory machinery of the labrum (Lee and Craig, 1983; Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Clements, 1999), the specific labral receptors for detecting the blood phagostimulants remain elusive. This information may be vital for refining and advancing innovative taste-based vector control tools. As such, the current study aimed at enhancing our understanding of the underlying dynamics of blood phagostimulation by adenine nucleotides in *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* from a behavioural and molecular perspective. Additionally, this study aimed at providing foundational proof of concept for using stable adenosine triphosphate (ATP) analogues as alternative feeding drivers (phagostimulants) in Attractive Toxic Bait (ATB) technologies.

2. Background

For a mosquito, the process leading up to blood feeding unfolds in a sequence of events initiated by the detection of a host at long range, locating the host over increasing shorter ranges and then landing on the preferred host (DeGennaro et al., 2013; Spitzen et al., 2013; McMeniman et al., 2014; van Breugel et al., 2015; Hawkes and Gibson, 2016; Cardé, 2015; Hinze et al., 2021). These behaviours are regulated by various host-derived cues, including volatile organic compounds (VOCs), such as carbon dioxide (CO₂), lactic acid and 1-octen-3-ol, as well as visual and thermal signatures, and moisture (Clements, 1992; Cardé, 2015). However, the ultimate decision to accept and imbibe a blood meal is primarily determined by the sensory parts of the blood-feeding mouthpart, the labrum, which also serves as the food canal (Day, 1954; Lee, 1974). Species-specific variations are observed in the mosquito responses to blood and blood-derived diets, based on the blood-associated cues that are detected by the labrum as reliable indicators of an acceptable meal (paper I). These variations may further be influenced by several intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as the pH of the meal, tonicity, blood group of the host, size of the red blood cells (RBCs) and the bore size of the labrum of the feeding vector (reviewed in paper I).

Over the past decades, there have been significant advances in understanding the mechanisms underlying olfaction in mosquito vectors, which laid a basis for the advancement of semiochemical-based surveillance and control tools (Wooding *et al.*, 2020). Although gustation-based approaches are a promising strategy in integrated vector control management (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017; Baik and Carlson, 2020), our understanding of the underlying blood phagostimulatory dynamics in blood-meal detection and assessment remains under-investigated, thereby limiting further progress.

Upon perforation of the skin of the host, the labrum shears through the blood vessel walls (Born and Kratzer, 1984; Jové *et al.*, 2020), gaining access to the non-cellular and cellular blood components, as well as intracellular molecules, predominantly the adenine nucleotides (Clements, 1992; Day, 1954). The labrum detects individual key blood phagostimulatory modalities, but only through combinatorial sensory integration is engorgement elicited (Jové *et al.*, 2020). Among the blood modalities, haematophagous vectors use adenine nucleotides, predominantly adenosine triphosphate (ATP), as reliable signals for a high-quality blood meal (paper I; Hosoi, 1958). To date, the molecular machinery in the labrum that detects these blood modalities is not fully described. An increased understanding of the molecular aspects related to blood feeding, particularly, the identification

of the ATP receptors, may offer promising genetic manipulation targets in the control of haematophagous vectors, given the crucial relevance of blood feeding in their reproductive cycle.

While earlier research endeavoured to improve our comprehension of the blood phagostimulatory dynamics underlying blood feeding, the available information is generally difficult, if not impossible, to compare due to differences in the experimental design, such as the age of exposed vectors, pH of the solutions, feeding membranes used and the duration of exposure to the meals (Hosoi, 1958, 1959; Galun *et al.*, 1963; Galun, 1967; Galun *et al.*, 1985a,b; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992). Such information is vital in the establishment of species-targeted and generalised tools aimed at a wider scope of disease vectors.

Through an ecological and behavioural understanding of sugar-feeding in mosquitoes, the taste-based attractive toxic bait technology using sugar as a feeding stimulant was developed (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017). Limitations set by this technology, such as the effect on non-target organisms, the sugarfeeding driver being prone to resistance and prone to competition with natural sugar sources, as well as not targeting obligate blood feeders (see section 2.5.3), have opened up an avenue for exploring blood-based alternative feeding drivers such as ATP-stable analogues (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017). Consequently, to advance the use of taste-based control tools and improve strategies during their field application, there is a need to expand our mechanistic understanding of the blood phagostimulatory dynamics in mosquito vectors through an increased understanding of their ecology and life history.

2.1 Life history of Ae. aegypti and An. gambiae

Both *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* undergo complete metamorphosis, progressing from egg through four larval instars to pupae, all of which are aquatic stages (Clements, 1992). Teneral adults then emerge 24 – 36 h post-pupation, initially dedicating the first hours to resting and acclimatising to terrestrial life by hardening their cuticular exoskeleton (Christophers, 1960; Clements, 1992). Approximately 1 day-post-eclosion (dpe), both mosquito sexes begin to seek for floral and extra-floral nectaries, (fruits, plant tissues and honeydew) (Takken and Knols, 1999; Stone and Foster, 2013; Nyasembe *et al.*, 2014) to gain the energy required to meet the metabolic needs for flight and reproduction (Nayar and Van Handel, 1971). This behaviour also significantly influences the longevity, flight range, insemination rates, egg maturation, ovarian development and overall

vectorial capacity (Clements, 1992; Klowden, 1995; Nyasembe *et al.*, 2014). Depending on the accumulated energy reserves during the aquatic phase, females typically begin to seek a vertebrate host for a blood meal around age 3 dpe, a behaviour which peaks between age 5-7 dpe (Clements, 1992, 1999; Klowden, 1995).

2.1.1 Host seeking leading to blood feeding in mosquitoes

Host seeking in female mosquitoes is a multimodal process of locating a suitable host during the search for a blood meal and relies on the integration of chemosensory, visual and hygrothermal information (Spitzen et al. 2008; McMeniman et al., 2014; Hinze et al., 2021; van Breugel et al., 2022). Following mating, females engage in host seeking (Clements, 1999), with human and animal-exhaled CO₂ serving as a long-range cue, which is detectable at distances exceeding 50 meters (Gillies, 1980; Zollner et al., 2004; Lorenz et al., 2013). Aedes aegypti, and the majority of mosquito vectors, are activated by and attracted to CO₂ (Dekker et al., 2005; McMeniman et al., 2014; van Breugel et al., 2015; Webster et al., 2015; Vinauger et al., 2019), unlike An. gambiae, in which CO₂ induces negligible activation and attraction, unless present in combination with host odours (Takken, 1991; Takken et al., 1997; Spitzen, et al., 2008; Hinze et al., 2021). In all species studied, CO₂ enhances the attraction to the host by gating the behavioural response of the vector to host odour, visual and thermal cues (Spitzen, et al., 2008; McMeniman et al., 2014; Hinze et al., 2021; van Breugel, Jewell and Houle, 2022).

At the intermediate distance, approximately 5-10 m from the host, mosquitoes not only encounter CO_2 but also host-derived volatile organic compounds (VOCs), such as 1-octen-3-ol, sulcatone, ammonia and lactic acid (Clements, 1992; Grant and Dickens, 2011; van Loon *et al.*, 2015). As the mosquito approaches the host, the host-derived VOCs appear to become more crucial than CO_2 in determining the location of the host (Bidlingmayer and Hem, 1980; Dekker and Cardé, 2011; van Breugel *et al.*, 2015). This additional layer of information prompts a stereotypical zig-zag flight motion directed towards the host (Kennedy, 1940; Dekker and Cardé, 2011; van Breugel *et al.*, 2015; Hinze *et al.*, 2021). Despite having lower visual acuity compared to other insects (Land, 1997; Kawada *et al.*, 2006), mosquitoes can perceive objects the size of a human host (Bidlingmayer and Hem, 1980) and discern achromatic and chromatic visual features, further assisting the mosquito in the assessment of the target host (Alonso *et al.*, 2022; van Breugel *et al.*, 2022).

When the mosquitoes approach the host at close-range, hygrothermal signatures and low-volatile VOCs become the most relevant cues for the mosquitoes, and provide critical information about the landing sites on the host (Spitzen *et al.*, 2008; McMeniman *et al.*, 2014; Hinze *et al.*, 2021; van Breugel *et al.*, 2022). Upon landing, a gustatory gating process is initiated, during which the mosquito employs its tarsal and labellar sensory apparatus to locate a suitable spot for perforating the skin with the fascicle comprised of six stylets (see section 2.3.1) (Jones and Pilitt, 1973; Jones, 1978; Klowden, 1995). Through guided manoeuvres, the labrum gains entry into the blood capillary bed and assesses the quality and palatability of the blood meal, ultimately leading into blood feeding (Jones and Pilitt, 1973; Jones, 1981).

2.2 Blood feeding

Blood feeding, or haematophagy, in arthropods, including mosquitoes, is a crucial behaviour for acquiring the proteins required for successful vitellogenesis (Clements, 1992). However, this behaviour is also highly risky as it exposes the vectors to potential harm from the host (Lehane, 2005). As such, its execution must be swift and discrete to minimise the defensive responses of the host. To counteract the haemostatic processes of the host, mosquitoes employ a strategic approach by first releasing anti-haemostatic compounds from their saliva into the host (Clements, 1992; Ribeiro, 1995; Arcà and Ribeiro, 2018). While saliva serves as a conduit for the transfer of disease pathogens, its main role is to dampen the pro-inflammatory and coagulation immune response factors from the host (Clements, 1992; Arcà and Ribeiro, 2018). The following sections explore the evolution of haematophagy in arthropods, and the events leading up to blood feeding, with a focus on the dynamics surrounding phagostimulation as the ultimate step to blood feeding.

2.2.1 Evolution of haematophagy

Haematophagy is a specialised feeding behaviour in arthropods presumed to have arisen in response to nutrient resource limitations, particularly the need for a protein-rich meal to support egg development as seen in mosquito vectors (Huff, 1929; Klowden, 1995; Lehane, 2005; Azar and Nel, 2012) or, to acquire salt, as seen in *Calyptra* moths feeding on salt-limited fruits (Zaspel, 2008). This unique feeding strategy has evolved independently at least five times at the order level within the past 150-200 million years (Lehane, 2005), resulting in the emergence of over 400 haematophagous

arthropod genera (Ribeiro, 1995; Mans, 2011). This evolutionary process, characterised by several morphological, physiological and behavioural adaptations (Lehane, 2005), likely occurred through convergent evolution (Snodgrass, 1945; Adams, 1999).

Two pathways have been proposed for the evolution of the bloodfeeding habit in haematophagous arthropods. The first involves a prolonged and close association between the arthropod and a vertebrate host, in which arthropods with chewing mouthparts, feeding on hair, feathers and skinsloughs, unintentionally gained access to the blood of the host (Waage, 1979; Lehane, 2005; Peach and Gries, 2020). Pool-feeding insects, such as tsetse flies and lice, are thought to have followed this evolutionary pathway (Waage, 1979). The second theory is premised on the existence of insects that were morphologically pre-adapted with piercing-sucking mouthparts, which accidentally fed on vertebrate hosts (Waage, 1979; Lehane, 2005; Peach and Gries, 2020). Selection subsequently favoured insects with physiological and behavioural adaptations that enhanced their ability to locate hosts and digest blood meals (Waage, 1979; Lehane, 2005; Zaspel, 2008; Hill et al., 2010). This conceivably facilitated the development of facultative blood feeders that had an occasional association with the hosts (Waage, 1979; Lehane, 2005). Moreover, a prolonged and close association with a vertebrate host is presumed to have facilitated the transition of the initial facultative feeders to becoming obligate blood feeders (Waage, 1979; Peach and Gries, 2020).

Mosquitoes are believed to have evolved following a process outlined in the second theory. Elongated mosquito mouthparts suggest ancestors that may have been originally feeding on either plant fluids or on plants and insect haemolymph (Waage, 1979; Peach and Gries, 2020). The shift from either plants and/or other insects to vertebrate hosts is believed to have been facilitated by the substantial overlap in floral, larval and vertebrate odour cues (Ignell and Hill, 2020; Peach and Matthews, 2022). Female mosquitoes that subsequently adopted blood-feeding likely evolved as a result of a close association with vertebrates and accidental feeding on these hosts (Waage, 1979; Lehane, 2005). Irrespective of the pathway taken, most haematophagous arthropods share commonalities in the sensory mechanisms used to detect and evaluate the quality and palatability of the blood meal (paper I).

2.3 The peripheral mosquito gustatory system

Gustation, or contact chemosensation, broadly involves the detection of nonvolatile compounds using sensory appendages associated with taste, predominantly the proboscis and legs (Lee, 1974; Rossignol and McIver, 1977; Stocker, 1994; Clements, 1999; Sparks and Dickens, 2017). The legs play a vital role in the initial detection of either a sugar meal or in locating the piercing site on the skin of the host to access a blood meal (Clements, 1992). However, the final assessment of the sugar or blood meal is attributed to sensory structures on the labellum and labrum and in the cibarium (Christophers, 1960; Clements, 1992). Therefore, gustation during feeding in female mosquitoes involves structurally dimorphic appendages and functionally distinct sensory programs (Lee and Craig, 1983, 2009; Klowden, 1995; Jové et al., 2020), which are involved in the detection and evaluation of cues leading to either sugar-feeding or blood-feeding (Christophers, 1960; Klowden, 1995). While the labrum is also involved in the sugar-feeding process, the focus hereafter is on the aspects of blood feeding.

2.3.1 Structure of the main blood-feeding gustatory organ

The female labrum is a component of a fascicle with six stylets (Figure 1a), comprising pairs of chewing maxilla and serrated mandibles, and a salivary conduit, constructed from the hypopharynx and the labrum (epipharynx) (Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983). Serving as a feeding straw, the labrum connects to the cibarium, which acts as a suction pump, leading the meal to pass across the cibarial sensilla (Lee and Craig, 1983). These sensilla are believed to complement the sensory function of the apical and subapical labral sensilla during blood feeding and also determine the final destination of the meals, either to the crop (sugar) or to the midgut (blood) (Day, 1954; Lee, 1974; Klowden, 1995). While all the stylets gain access to the blood meal, it is noteworthy that only the labrum possesses chemosensory abilities.

2.3.2 The labral sensory system

At the distal end of the labrum lies a pair of basiconic apical and subapical sensilla (Figure 1b), which are involved in detecting and assessing the quality of a blood meal (Lee and Craig, 1983, 2009). Positioned approximately 20 μ m behind them are the campaniform sensilla, associated with detecting the flow of blood (Lee and Craig, 1983; Jové *et al.*, 2020). Morphologically, the apical and subapical sensilla are short, single-walled, and contain an apical

uni-pored sensilla housing four gustatory receptor neurons (GRNs) and one mechanosensory neuron (Figure 1c). The dendritic projections of the GRNs terminate at the tip of the pore and are bathed in sensillum lymph (Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983; Jové *et al.*, 2020), while the GRNs project their axons to the antero-ventral sub-oesophageal ganglion of the brain (Jové *et al.*, 2020). The sensillum lymph is generated by the support cells, *i.e.*, trichogen, tormogen, and thecogen (paper I; Lee, 1974; Figure 1c).

The labral sensilla comprises sub-populations of GRNs that detect different blood modalities, categorised as the adenine nucleotide neurons, salt neuron, bicarbonate neuron and integrator neuron (Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a; Jové *et al.*, 2020). Different species rely on a specific subset of taste cues to assess the quality of the blood meal, which aligns with the narrow number of gustatory sensilla and GRNs in the labrum



Figure 1. Mouthparts and sensory apparatus involved in blood feeding of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti.* a) A schematic illustration of the fascicles, *i.e.*, mandible, maxillae, hypopharynx and the labrum, which pierce the skin and provide the tube through which the blood meal is imbibed, housed within the labrum of the proboscis. b) Scanning electron micrograph of the distal part of the labrum, together with the apical and sub-apical sensilla. c) Schematic illustration of a taste sensillum housing four gustatory receptor neurons and one mechanosensory neuron (reproduced from Lukenge *et al.* 2022).

(Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983; Liscia *et al.*, 1993). While it is unclear for other mosquito species, it is only upon the presence of all key blood ligands that *Ae. aegypti* will engorge on a meal, suggesting a combinatorial coding of the response of the four functionally distinct stylet neuron classes, each

tuned to specific blood components associated with diverse taste qualities (Jové *et al.*, 2020). Besides these GRNs, there is a subpopulation of labral sensilla neurons that does not respond to any of the above modalities, presumably detecting other sensory cues, such as feeding deterrents, noxious compounds, thermal cues, as well as olfactory cues (Lee and Craig, 2009; Jové *et al.*, 2020).

2.3.3 Taste modalities associated with haematophagy

The evaluation of blood quality in disease vectors primarily relies on two human-ascribed taste modalities, salty (*e.g.*, NaCl), sour (*e.g.*, NaHCO), and a non-canonical modality based on the detection of adenine nucleotides (Hosoi, 1958; Galun *et al.*, 1963; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun, *et al.*, 1988; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Jové *et al.*, 2020). Notably, the canonical taste of umami (protein) is not required for engorgement (Kogan, 1990; Gonzales *et al.*, Hansen, 2015), however, modalities for sweet (glucose) and feeding deterrents seem necessary for blood meal assessment and acceptance (Kogan, 1990; Jové, *et al.*, 2020).

2.3.4 Adenine nucleotides are the major blood phagostimulants

In mosquitoes, the ligands activating blood feeding are primarily derived from the cellular components of whole blood (Hosoi, 1958; Galun et al., 1963), especially phagostimulants released from RBCs (Hosoi, 1959; Friend and Smith, 1982). Although plasma components, such as NaCl and NaHCO₃ are generally less potent, they have been reported to be phagostimulatory in certain mosquito species (Galun et al., 1985a), triatomines (Friend and Smith, 1982) and sandflies (Ready, 1978). Liberated from the cellular components of blood, the adenine nucleotides, *i.e.*, ATP, adenosine diphosphate (ADP), adenosine monophosphate (AMP) are prominent feeding stimulants (paper I). In particular, ATP, is recognized as a key phagostimulant for several mosquito species, triatomine bugs, horse flies, bed bugs, tsetse flies, rat fleas, stable flies, ticks and blowflies (paper I). As such, ATP, which is abundant within blood cellular components, and is rapidly degraded by blood ecto-nucleotidases to its downstream products ADP and AMP upon cell lysis, serves as an indicator of fresh blood and is thus a reliable signal of an acceptable blood meal.

2.3.5 Variation in adenine nucleotide structure affects phagostimulation Adenine nucleotides exert their influence on phagostimulation through three key structural components: the phosphate group, the amino group on the

purine (C6) and the hydroxyl groups on the ribose sugar (C2-OH and C3-OH). Manipulations on these active sites vary the levels of phagostimulation in the majority of disease vectors (details in paper I). For instance, the removal or addition of phosphate groups from ATP, resulting in ADP, AMP or adenosine tetraphosphate (AtetraP), demonstrates a positive correlation with feeding stimulation in various blood-feeding arthropods, while complete removal of the phosphate groups eliminates phagostimulation in most blood-feeding arthropods, except for Simulium venestum, which responds to adenosine (Sutcliffe and McIver, 1979). Moreover, nonhvdrolvsable and stable of ATP, such analogues as adenylylimidodiphosphate (AMP-PNP) and adenylylmethylenediphosphate (AMP-PCP), were demonstrated to be more potent phagostimulants in Ae. aegypti (Galun et al., 1985) and Tabanus nigrovittatus (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983). This highlights their future potential usage in taste-based tools. The strong potency of non-hydrolysable ATP analogues emphasises that ATP-induced stimulation is not energy-dependent and that ATP and its analogues act as phagostimulants with a direct correlation between phagostimulation intensity and binding affinity strength. While ATP is the most potent naturally occurring nucleotide in a wide variety of genera, exceptions exist. For instance, ADP serves as the key phagostimulant in several Culex mosquito species and the black fly S. venestum (Galun et al., 1963). Moreover, sensitivity to ATP may differ between strains (Galun et al., 1985).

2.3.6 Other factors affecting phagostimulation

Apart from the factors discussed earlier, blood contains various components that directly or indirectly influence phagostimulation in mosquitoes. Three such factors are a) the intrinsic ionic environment, b) blood group antigens and c) the source and size of the red blood cells (paper I). For instance, a) the intrinsic ionic environment: Dissolving ATP with inorganic chlorides, especially NaCl and CaCl₂, significantly enhances its phagostimulatory potency compared to other solutions (Galun *et al.*, 1985). Additionally, the salivary enzyme apyrase, responsible for breaking down adenine nucleotides, requires divalent ions, such as calcium and magnesium, as cofactors (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Galun *et al.*, 1985b). Consequently, ATP and other adenine nucleotides undergo degradation during feeding in the presence of these ions, diminishing the overall potential of adenylated phagostimulants. Hence, not only the ligands but also the physical and chemical properties of the diet impact phagostimulation during blood

feeding. b) Blood group antigens: Mosquitoes exhibit selective landing and feeding preferences based on ABO blood types, which are characterized by the presence or absence of antigens on the RBCs (Watkins, 1966; Schenkel-Brunner, 1980). Species, such as Ae. aegypti (Wood, 1976) and Anopheles spp. (Anjomruz et al., 2014a,b) show a general preference for individuals with blood group O over those with A or B antigens. The ecological significance of this preference remains unclear, as there is no evidence suggesting a relative fitness advantage. However, it is conceivable that the preference is linked to the higher concentration of the precursor H antigen in type O blood, potentially selected over evolutionary time. c) The source and size of RBCs: Mosquitoes obtain intracellular protein content within RBCs through haemolysis, either enzymatically in the gut or by mechanical shearing as the RBCs pass through the cibarial armature situated anterior to the foregut (Coluzzi et al., 1982). Mosquitoes with more derived armature are more likely to utilise nucleated blood from birds (e.g., Culex spp.) and reptiles (Henning, 1972) compared to mosquitoes with less derived armatures (e.g., Anopheles spp.) (Coluzzi et al., 1982). Additionally, Culex ssp. have a wide bore diameter of the labrum, a structural modification that may contribute to their host preference (details in paper I).

2.4 Molecular basis of the taste function of the labrum

Both behavioural and molecular studies emphasize a dual role of the labrum in gustation and olfaction (Choo et al., 2015; Won Jung et al., 2015; Jové et al., 2020). Not only does the labrum express genes encoding for cuticular proteins linked to its structural modification during blood feeding (Arnoldi et al., 2022), but also membrane-bound proteins, which may be putative receptors for blood-associated ligands. The proper function of the membrane-bound proteins is likely supported by soluble binding proteins, which hypothetically preserve and protect the integrity of the blood ligands, and act as molecular chaperons trafficking the soluble ligands to their respective membrane-bound proteins (Liman et al., 2014; Jové et al., 2020). These membrane-bound proteins/receptors are associated with the detection of the canonical blood-appetitive signals (low salt, sweet and sour) and the blood-non-appetitive signals (high salt), as well as the non-canonical appetitive adenine nucleotides signal (Jové et al., 2020; Liscia et al., 1993; Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b). Moreover, recent behavioural findings demonstrate that the labrum detects feeding deterrent compounds (paper III; Jové et al., 2020; Kessler et al., 2014), suggesting the expression of receptors for these compounds in the labrum.

2.4.1 Soluble binding proteins

As observed in the olfactory organs, the labrum expresses soluble binding proteins, *i.e.*, odorant binding proteins (OBPs) and chemosensory proteins (CSPs) (Jové, et al., 2020; Pelosi et al., 2014). The OBPs and CSPs are believed to bind and transport hydrophobic odorants (Pelosi et al., 2014) and tastants (Swarup et al., 2014) within the blood to their respective receptors (Jové et al., 2020), however, functional characterisation studies are still needed to validate this hypothesis. Recently, the salivary D7 proteins, one of the most abundant components in the salivary glands of haematophagous vectors, and demonstrated to enhance blood feeding (Martin-Martin et al., 2020), were reported to be highly expressed in the blood-feeding ages of Culex quinquefasciatus and Ae. aegypti (paper III; Jové et al., 2020). The D7 proteins are distantly related to the arthropod OBP superfamily, and are part of the salivary anti-haemostatic arsenal of mosquitoes, which target biogenic amines, leukotrienes and adenine nucleotides involved in blood coagulation (Martin-Martin et al., 2020). As such, they are believed to play a fundamental role as molecular chaperons, trafficking ADP and/or ATP as reliable indicators of a fresh blood meal, to their respective neuronal membranebound proteins.

2.4.2 Membrane-bound proteins

The neuronal dendrites of the GRNs in the labrum express membrane-bound receptor proteins that act as molecular detectors with variable sensitivity and specificity to blood ligands during blood feeding (Lee and Craig, 1983; Jové et al., 2020). Binding of the ligand by a receptor leads to transduction of the chemical information into an electrical signal, which is sent along the axons to higher brain centres where the information is integrated, ultimately leading to an appropriate feeding behaviour. Previous studies have revealed a diversity of receptor families expressed in the labrum, including the tuning receptors belonging to the gustatory receptors (GRs) odorant receptors (ORs), ionotropic receptors (IRs), transient receptor potential receptors (TRPs) and pickpocket receptors (ppks) (Choo et al., 2015; Jové et al., 2020; Won Jung et al., 2015). Reliable expression of Or and Ir coreceptors i.e., Orco, as well as Ir25a, Ir8a and Ir76b, respectively, has also been demonstrated (Choo et al., 2015; Jové et al., 2020; Won Jung et al., 2015). However, conclusive evidence of their associated ligands is missing. While no functional studies have been done to demonstrate the link between the putative labral receptors and their associated blood modalities, several deductions have been made based on molecular and behavioural evidence. The detection of NaCl and NaHCO₃ has been linked to the expression of the salt and sour-sensing *Ir7y*. *I* receptor as well as the sour-sensing *Ir7a* receptor tuned to a broad range of NaHCO₃ concentrations (Jaeger *et al.*, 2018a; Jové *et al.*, 2020). The labrum also expresses odorant receptors sensitive to blood odours, *e.g.*, the *Cx. quinquefasciatus* receptor *CquiOr99* detects 4-ethylphenol, a common phenolic blood-associated VOC (Choo *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, findings from Won Jung *et al.*, (2015) demonstrated the labral expression of *Or8* and *Or49* and their involvement in the detection of blood alcohols, carboxylic acids and their esters, such as 1-octen-3-ol, cyclohexanol and ethyl acetate in *Ae. aegypti*.

2.5 Taste-based toxic bait technology

The decline in mosquito-borne diseases over the past decades is mainly credited to efforts that decreased the mosquito populations (WHO, 2022). However, the cardinal tools for controlling the mosquito vectors are facing challenges due to the increase in physiological and behavioural resistance to chemical insecticides, and unintended effects on non-target organisms (Milam et al., 2000; Sanou et al., 2021; Taillebois and Thany, 2022). It is worth highlighting that the primary control methods, *i.e.*, indoor residual sprays and long-lasting treated bed-nets exploit the endophilic and endophagic nature of host-seeking vectors, leaving people more vulnerable when outdoors. This underscores the importance of supplementary and/or alternative eco-friendly and fast-acting tools with alternative modes of action, including those targeting vectors in outdoor environments. In that regard, taste-based control tools are some of the promising supplementary mosquito control ventures that require more attention (Fiorenzano et al., 2017). Although the attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) technology in mosquito control had previously received little attention, this has picked up momentum over the past 60 years (Lea, 1965), with further modifications showing promising advances in the efficiency of the technology (Fiorenzano et al., 2017).

2.5.1 Working principle and application of the ATSB

The mosquito ATSB technology capitalises on the metabolic needs, and the ecology of the mosquito to induce oral-based toxicity in the vectors (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017). Adult mosquitoes, regardless of sex, intermittently seek for and feed on nectar and other sugar sources, and regularly return to these sources throughout their lives (Clements, 1992; Stone and Foster,

2013). The ATSB technology leverages this nutritional requirement, as it utilises floral cues to attract the vectors towards a sugar-feeding stimulant laced with toxins (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017). The sugar induces a feeding response, leading to the ingestion of the incorporated gut toxin, directing the meal to the crop, a storage organ (Xue *et al.*, 2006). As the energy demands increase, small boluses of the meal are released from the crop down to the midgut, in turn disrupting the mosquito midgut epithelium, affecting digestion and metabolism, and/or inducing neurotoxicity (Sippy *et al.*, 2020; Kumar *et al.*, 2022). To maximise the efficiency of the bait, the baits are placed near mosquito resting environments, such as foliage near host habitats, enhancing the likelihood of mosquito contact with the toxins (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017).

2.5.2 Active ingredients and modifications of ATSBs

Building upon the groundwork by Lea (1965), advancements and modifications of the ATSBs have improved the technology. Notable improvements include 1) diversification of the active ingredients through the establishment of a) chemical compounds with low toxicity, b) synergistic combinations of these compounds, and c) substances with different modes of action, including an array of transgenic agents (dsRNA: RNA interference) (Coy *et al.*, 2012) and para-transgenic bio-pesticides, such as *Bacillus sphaericus* (Xue and Barnard, 2003; Schlein and Müller, 2010, 2015) 2) Enhancements in the design and application strategy have led to ATSBs being sprayed onto vegetation, *i.e.*, on foliar plant parts of flowering plants or directly onto non-flowering plants, and have been successful in controlling several mosquito species outdoors, having decreased the toxic effect on pollinators (Xue *et al.*, 2006; Müller and Galili, 2016; Furnival-Adams *et al.*, 2020).

Carbon dioxide has been incorporated in ATSBs for *Ae. aegypti* and *Ochlerotatus taeniorhynchus* (Xue *et al.*, 2008) to increase the attractiveness of the tool. Replacement of floral attractants with humanassociated cues has also been exploited in the ATSB technology. The host kairomones L-lactic acid and 1-octen-3-o1 were demonstrated to improve mosquito attraction towards the bait for *Aedes albopictus* and *Ae. aegypti* (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017; Scott-Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017), however, the addition of kairomones as the attractant reduced the efficiency of the ATSBs (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017). In the presence of host cues, *Ae. aegypti* reject a sugar meal (Bishop and Gilchrist, 1946; Jové *et al.*, 2020), which is hypothesised to be a control mechanism so that a vector in need of blood does not accidentally take in sugar and vice versa (Bishop and Gilchrist, 1946; Jové *et al.*, 2020). The enhanced attraction of mosquitoes by host-kairomones in the ATSB technology (Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017; Scott-Fiorenzano *et al.*, 2017), can potentially be leveraged by using blood-related feeding stimulants, such as ATP-stable analogues. Irrespective of the modifications and advances that have improved the technology thus far, the residual challenges that constrain the effectiveness and acceptability of the technology require close attention.

2.5.3 Challenges of sugar-based attractive toxic bait tools

While sugar-based control tools show promise in vector control, they present several limitations for the ATSB technology; as 1) Sucrose may not efficiently override the aversive effects of the toxicants since it does not induce a reflexive and rapid feeding response as observed when bloodrelated feeding stimulants are used (paper IV; Christophers, 1960; Kessler et al., 2014); 2) The use of sucrose as a non-selective phagostimulant affects non-target sugar-seeking organisms, e.g., pollinators (Fiorenzano et al., 2017); 3) Sucrose-induced feeding elicits slow toxicity as a result of inducing feeding with small meal volumes that is first directed to the impermeable crop before small boluses of the meal are released down to the permeable midgut as metabolic demands increase. As such, sucrose-induced feeding requires a long time to cumulate lethal doses of the toxicant in the midgut: 4) The reliance on sugar phagostimulants is prone to resistance (Wada-Katsumata et al., 2013, 2018); 5) The readily available natural sugar sources, e.g., floral and extra-floral nectaries, exert intense competition between the bait sugar source and the natural sources (Beier et al., 2012); 6) A number of haematophagous vectors are obligate blood feeders (Rio et al., 2016), and are thus not targeted by ATSBs. Lastly, 7) the intermittent and smallvolumes imbibed by mosquitoes (Clements, 1999) appear to necessitate multiple visits to an ATSB station to accumulate a sufficient level of toxicity for lethality (Fiorenzano et al., 2017). In light of these challenges, it is crucial to explore alternative feeding drivers to sugar with higher potency and selectivity. Such attributes are likely to be found in blood-related phagostimulatory compounds, such as ATP-related stable analogues.

3. Aim and objectives

The main aim of this thesis was to expand the mechanistic understanding of the phagostimulatory dynamics of blood-derived adenine nucleotides in *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae s.s.*, including the identification of putative blood detection receptors in the labrum, while advancing the development of a novel taste-based method for the delivery of toxic and/or vector modifying agents.

The first objective was to examine the existing body of literature surrounding blood phagostimulation in haematophagous vectors (paper I).

The second objective was to compare the sensitivity and specificity of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* in response to feeding on the blood-derived adenine nucleotides (paper II).

The third objective was to identify candidate receptor(s) in the labrum associated with blood detection, predominantly the major phagostimulant adenosine triphosphate in *Ae. aegypti* (paper III).

The fourth objective was to examine the ability of ATP to override the aversive effects of antifeedants and toxicants, and its associated induced toxicity rates in *Ae. aegypti* (paper IV).

4. Materials and Methods

4.1 Mosquito colony maintenance

In the three projects, laboratory colonies of *An. gambiae* (G3) (paper II) and/or *Ae. aegypti* (Rockefeller) (papers II, III and IV) were used. Both species were maintained under the same standard rearing conditions, $25 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}$ C, $70 \pm 5\%$ relative humidity and at a 12 h:12 h light-dark photoperiod, as previously described (Ignell *et al.*, 2010; Omondi *et al.*, 2015). Briefly, eggs of the two species were placed in separate larval trays (23.5 cm × 18 cm × 7.5 cm; filled with ca. 300 ml water) into which the larvae hatched. Each tray contained ca. 300 larvae that were fed daily on Tetramin[®] fish food (Tetra GmbH, Melle, Germany). The emerged pupae were collected into 30 ml cups (Nolato-Hertila, Åstorp, Sweden) and transferred to Bugdorm cages (30 cm × 30 cm × 30 cm; MegaView Science, Taichung, Taiwan) into which adults emerged. Adult mosquitoes were maintained with *ad libitum* access to 10% sucrose and females fed on sheep blood (Håtuna Lab, Bro, Sweden) using a membrane feeding system (Hemotek Ltd, Blackburn, UK).

4.2 Preparation of mosquitoes for the experiments

4.2.1 Sensitivity and specificity to adenine nucleotides

While no studies have been conducted to compare the phagostimulatory response of *An. gambiae* to the four artificial blood-derived adenine nucleotide diets (ATP, ADP, AMP and cAMP), the effect of these phagostimulants has been assessed in *Ae. aegypti*, yet under various experimental conditions, *e.g.*, various ages of the test mosquitoes, pH of the meals, as well as exposure period and type of membrane used in the feeders

(Hosoi 1958, 1959; Galun 1967; Galun *et al.*, 1984, 1985a,b). This study analysed both species under similar conditions, using a collagen membrane feeding system for 30 min at blood physiological pH (7.4 ± 0.07). The experiments were conducted within the peak feeding time of each species, *i.e.*, photophase (Zeitgeber time, ZT 8-10; *Ae. aegypti;* paper II, III, IV) and scotophase (ZT; 13-15; *An. gambiae;* paper II) (Trpis *et al.*, 1973; Jones 1978, 1981). In brief, 5 days post-eclosion (dpe) non-blood-fed females, previously provided access to 10% sucrose until 4 (dpe), were used. Thereafter, the mosquitoes were starved (22 ± 2 h) with access to water before the start of the feeding experiments (paper II). The same protocol was used for *Ae. aegypti* for assessing the phagostimulatory efficiency of ATP to override the aversive effects of feeding deterrents and toxicants (paper IV).

4.2.2 Preparation of *Ae. aegypti* for transcriptome analysis

Mosquitoes prepared for labral tissue dissection, in preparation for total RNA extraction, were divided into three age groups, 1 dpe, 3 dpe and 5 dpe. Teneral (1 dpe) *Ae. aegypti* were immediately sugar-starved after emergence and maintained on water until the dissection, whereas 3 dpe and 5 dpe mosquitoes were maintained on 10% sucrose for up to two or four days, and then sugar-starved with access to only water, 22 ± 2 h before tissue collection (paper III).

4.3 Behaviour and volumetric response to adenine nucleotides

In a no-choice feeding assay (section 4.2.1 above), starved female mosquitoes of both mosquito species were exposed to adenine nucleotide diets delivered through collagen membrane-covered reservoirs using a membrane feeding system (Hemotek Ltd.). Four adenine nucleotides, *i.e.*, ATP, ADP, AMP and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), were dissolved in bicarbonate buffered saline, adjusted to the physiological pH of blood (7.4 ± 0.07) at 37 °C. Xylene cyanol was added (1 mg ml⁻¹; Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) to increase the visibility of the meal during engorgement scoring and for assessing the volume imbibed. The experiment was set to run for a 30 min exposure period. The proportion of engorged mosquitoes with a distended blue-coloured abdomen was scored using an established scoring scale for each species (paper II).

The generally accepted dogma in haematophagous arthropods is that blood- or adenine nucleotide-induced feeding is an all-or-none event, in which even with low-quality diets, partial engorgement is not common (Smith and Friend, 1970; Friend and Smith, 1977; Romero and Schal, 2014). However, this hypothesis has not been verified for all haematophagous vectors. To test this notion in *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae*, the individuals that were scored as engorged and non-engorged on ATP, ADP and AMP diets, across a range of concentrations, were examined for their respective volumes imbibed using a spectrophotometric approach (paper II). Moreover, the effect of the adenine nucleotide feeding stimulant and concentration on the proportion of *An. gambiae* prediuresing, as well as the respective volume engorged and prediuresed, were examined using a modified membrane feeding technique and a spectrophotometric estimation, respectively (paper II).

4.4 Age-dependent feeding behaviour and labral transcriptomics in *Ae. aegypti*

To determine how the age of female *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes influence their response to a blood meal and an artificial ATP diet, as a proxy of blood, agedependent, no-choice membrane feeding assays were conducted using 1 dpe to 5 dpe females. This age-dependent feeding response was then used to identify relevant age groups for subsequent analysis of differences in abundances of putative labral non-chemosensory and chemosensory genes during the downstream transcriptomics assay. In both experiments, the mosquitoes were sugar-starved with only access to water 22 ± 2 h prior to the experiment (paper III).

4.4.1 Labral extraction of total RNA and differential gene abundance analysis

Total RNA was extracted from 150 labra of 1 dpe, 3 dpe and 5 dpe females, producing four biological replicates of each age groups. The collection of labra was done between ZT 5-7, since RNA transcription is believed to occur 3-6 h prior to the peak blood-feeding time, correlating with the expression of genes associated with blood feeding (ZT 8-12) (Rund *et al.*, 2013; paper III). While females were most prone to take a meal at 5 dpe, the yield of total RNA and the quality of the transcriptomes generated from the labra were low, likely due to the increase in chitinous deposition in this tissue. As such, only the 1 dpe and 3 dpe transcriptome libraries were considered henceforth.

In brief, total RNA extraction was done using an RNeasy microRNA kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), and then immediately stored at -80 °C for

further analysis. The extracted total RNA was used to create ultra-low input transcriptome libraries, which were constructed using NovaSeq Illumina genome sequencing technology (Illumina NovaSeq 6000 S4 PE150 XP). Using the Eurofins proprietary protocol, cDNA library construction was realised, generating paired-end reads of 150 bp coverage and a depth of at least 40 million paired-end reads. The generated raw reads data was cleaned and trimmed to remove adaptors, discarding sequences of Phred score < 20, using CLC Genomics Workbench (version 23.0.1, Qiagen). The cleaned sequences were mapped against the *Ae. aegypti* reference genome (VectorBas: Aaegypti_LVP_AGWG version 61). Variation in the number of transcripts within the individual replicates was then normalised using the trimmed mean of the M-value (TMM) adjusted counts per million (hereafter referred to as CPM).

To establish whether there was an age-dependent enrichment in the transcript libraries at a molecular function level, a gene ontology (GO) analysis (http://www.geneontology.org/) was performed on transcripts with a reliable expression level (an average ≥ 1 CPM) in the 1 dpe and 3 dpe libraries, as well as on the differentially upregulated functional enrichment in the 1 dpe and 3 dpe libraries (> 2-fold change; FDR p ≤ 0.05). This was followed by an examination of the most abundant genes in the libraries of either of the age groups, the 25 genes with the highest (top) abundance in 1 dpe and 3 dpe libraries (FDR p ≤ 0.05 ; fold change (FC) ≥ 2).

An assessment of the chemosensory function was conducted for the reliably expressed chemosensory genes and a differential gene expression between 1 dpe and 3 dpe age libraries (FDR $p \le 0.05$; FC ≥ 2), highlighting both the reliable expression of members of gene families previously demonstrated to have functions associated with the detection, regulation and modulation of labral-directed feeding, as well as upregulated genes associated with blood feeding in the 3 dpe libraries. Further still, candidate genes associated with extracellular binding of ATP, highly abundant or orphan genes in the 3 dpe libraries were investigated following a GO term search targeting putative purinoceptors (P1, P2X and P2Y), including the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) (P1 and P2Y) and ligand-gated ion channels (P2X) (details in paper III).
4.5 ATP overrides the aversive effects of antifeedants

Being the major blood phagostimulant for a wide range of haematophagous vectors (paper II; Lukenge *et al.*, 2022), ATP was assessed as a model candidate alternative to drive feeding in ATB technology. To test whether ATP can override the aversive effects of feeding deterrents and toxicants, a no-choice membrane feeding assay (see above) was used to compare the proportion of engorged individuals exposed to each of the antifeedant compounds (Table 1) at their threshold concentration, in the presence or absence of ATP at either 0.072 mM (exposure concentration eliciting 50% feeding; EC_{50}) or 0.6 mM (exposure concentration eliciting maximum engorgement; EC_{Max}).

Compound	CAS number	Concentration range (mM)
Caffein	58-08-02	0.1 - 20
Nicotine	54-11-5	0.1 - 3
Quinine	130-95-0	0.001 - 2
Lobeline hydrochloride	134-063-4	0.1 - 3
Capsaicin	10045-35-3	0.1 - 5
Boric acid	57-55-6	1.6 - 323.5
Propylene glycol	134-62-3	131.0 - 2628.5
DEET	404-86-4	0.005 - 53.3

Table 1. Antifeedant and toxicant compounds and concentration

4.6 Knockdown and lethal toxic effects elicited by ATPand sucrose-induced feeding

The toxic effects elicited by ATP-induced feeding on deterrent and toxicant diets were examined by exposing the individuals to a range of diet concentrations, with and without ATP (0.6 mM EC_{Max}). Using a no-choice membrane feeding assay, toxic effects (knock down or lethal) in the exposed mosquitoes were visually examined for up to 24 h after an initial 30 min exposure to the meals. In contrast, the toxic effects resulting from sucrose-induced feeding were examined using cotton wick and open-access continuous meal exposure assays up to 5 days, with 10% sucrose as the feeding driver for the toxicant, boric acid (details in paper IV). To examine the possibility of using lower concentrations of lethal toxicants, a putative synergistic effect of the combination of boric acid and propylene glycol, using ATP as the feeding driver, was examined using combined concentrations (131.40/16.17); medium (657.10/80.90) and high (13140/161.70).

4.7 Diet destination in ATP- and sucrose-induced feeding on feeding deterrents and toxicants

Sucrose and an artificial ATP meal trigger different feeding programs in mosquito vectors, sending the meals predominantly to the crop or the midgut, respectively. To establish whether the observed differences in toxicity following ATP- or sugar-induced feeding could in part be explained by the diet destination, gut dissections of *Ae. aegypti* were made. Briefly, the ATP-induced feeding assay followed the procedure described in section 4.2.1 and the sugar-induced feeding assay was done by placing cotton balls soaked in the toxic diet warmed at 37 °C for 40 min, placed on top of a bioassay chamber (Semadeni, Koenigstein, Germany), each containing 10 individuals. At the end of the assay, individuals were anesthetised and dissected under a stereo microscope using Ringer's solution, to ascertain the destination of the meals either in the crop, oesophagus, midgut and or hindgut (paper IV).

5. Summary and discussion of results

5.1 Sensitivity and specificity of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* to adenine nucleotides

Species-specific variations in the specificity and sensitivity to blood-derived feeding stimulants are observed across haematophagous arthropods (paper I). While haematophagous arthropods have evolved independently, the majority of them detect select blood-derived adenine nucleotides, predominantly ATP, as indicators of acceptable blood meals, using a conserved mechanism (paper I and II). Previous scholars, who analysed the behavioural response of haematophagous vectors to blood-derived feeding stimulants, used experimental setups that do not allow for direct comparisons across species due to the incomparable experiment setup conditions. To overcome this problem, this study examined the behavioural response of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* to the blood-derived adenine nucleotide feeding stimulants (ATP, ADP, AMP and cAMP) under comparable experimental conditions.

The sensitivity and specificity of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* were examined by estimating the proportion of individuals that were engorged on the adenine nucleotide diets and the volume of the meals imbibed (Figure 2). Unlike other culicine species that use ADP as a reliable signal for blood quality, *e.g., Culex pipiens* and *Culex univitettus* (Galun *et al.,* 1988; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992), as well as *Culiseta inornata* (Friend, 1981), both *Ae. aegypti* (paper III; Galun *et al.,* 1985, 1984) and the anopheline *An. gambiae* (paper III) use ATP as the major phagostimulant. It is conceivable that ATP, being a major metabolite in the cellular component in the blood of the host and readily abundant once the mosquito labrum perforates the skin and causes mechanical shear of endothelial cells and RBCs (Rich, 2003; Dunn and Grider, 2022), places it as a reliable indicator of fresh blood.

While the specificity for the adenine nucleotides in this study remained relatively consistent between *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae*, the sensitivity (ED_{50}) of the two species differed. Both species maintained an ordered rank response to the adenine nucleotide diets based on the length of the phosphate chain, with the highest sensitivity to ATP and the lowest sensitivity cAMP (paper III; Figure 2). However, *Ae. aegypti* displayed a higher sensitivity to the tested adenine nucleotides compared to *An. gambiae*.

The amino group, the hydroxyl groups and the phosphate group of adenine nucleotides are the key epitopes for the adenine nucleotide receptor (Galun *et al.*, 1985). The avidity of this receptor is dependent on the angle of binding, which is affected by the length of the phosphate chain (Galun *et al.*, 1985). cAMP has a very short phosphate chain, and the active phosphate and hydroxyl groups are concealed by its cyclic structure, limiting the binding of this adenine nucleotide to the receptor, which likely explains the low phagostimulatory effect. Taken together, the findings of this study suggest that the structure of the putative adenine nucleotide receptor is similar in the two species, however, the affinity of the receptors to bind the adenine nucleotides, reflected in the corresponding higher sensitivity, is likely stronger in *Ae. aegypti* than in *An. gambiae*.



Figure 2. Sensitivity and specificity of *Aedes aegypti* and *Anopheles gambiae* to adenine nucleotide feeding stimulants. a) i-v: The scale used to score unfed to engorged individuals. The dose-dependent response in the proportion of b) *Ae. aegypti* and c) *An. gambiae* engorged on artificial adenine nucleotide diets. The buffer without nucleotides served as the negative control (0 mM; not shown on the log scale). No curves were generated for cAMP since the proportion of mosquitoes engorging was below the 50% proportion level. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. The number of replicates for each diet was 90 for *Ae. aegypti* and 50 for *An. gambiae*.

The current working model for blood constituent detection, based on results obtained from *Ae. aegypti*, stipulates a multi-modal taste integration, using the four GRNs within the labral apical and subapical sensilla. In concurrence with Jové *et al.* (2020), labral electrophysiological findings in *Ae. aegypti* identified four labral neuronal cells, with one being responsive to blood-derived adenine nucleotides (Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c). However, this cell was able to discern neither the structure nor the concentrations of the various adenine nucleotides above the threshold stimulation, indicating a likely additional sensory integration for the assessment of the blood meal

quality, probably at the cibarial region (Day, 1954; Lee and Craig, 1983; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c).

The feeding response of *Ae. aegypti* in this study are concomitant with the multimodal integration model, since the exposure of bicarbonate buffered saline alone does not elicit engorgement until combined with ATP (paper II, III and IV). While culicine mosquitoes do not engorge on the bicarbonate buffered saline, *An. gambiae* readily engorged on the buffer (paper II), although at lower proportions than previously reported (Galun *et al.*, 1985a; Kessler *et al.*, 2014). This behavioural response suggests that the neuronal mechanism encoding behavioural specificity for blood modalities is different in *An. gambiae* and requires further investigation. Taken together, the study findings suggest species-specific variations in the putative purinoceptor and the neuronal encoding properties for blood components, likely affecting the affinity of cognate ligands, subsequent feeding rate and volumes imbibed.

5.2 A bimodal feeding pattern in *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae*

The currently accepted theory of feeding in haematophagous arthropods is an all-or-none feeding response (Smith and Friend, 1970; Friend and Smith, 1977; Romero and Schal, 2014), in which once blood-feeding arthropods are stimulated by the phagostimulants at a certain threshold, above which the GRNs respond in a dose-independent manner, the arthropods feed to engorgement. This feeding theory has previously been reported in obligate haematophagous vectors, i.e., Cimex (Romero and Schal, 2014), Rhodnius and Glossina species (review by Friend and Smith, 1977), and has been suggested in Culex nigripalpus (Edman et al., 1975). In the current study, however, both species displayed a dose-dependent bimodal feeding pattern on adenine nucleotide-containing meals, in which individuals either tasted (at lower concentrations) or, following tasting, proceeded to engorge (at higher concentrations) (paper III; Figure 3a,b). These results expand the current theory to include an initial sampling phase. In an ecological sense, the initial tasting of a meal may be an evolutionary precautionary step required to safe guard an organism against potentially toxic food substances before imbibing huge volumes of the meal, which appears to support the capability of blood-feeding mouthparts to detect such risky compounds.

Whether this bimodal feeding pattern also exists in other mosquito vector species remains for further investigation.



Figure 3. The bi-modal feeding pattern on blood-derived adenine nucleotides in a) *Aedes aegypti* and b) *Anopheles gambiae*. The plots indicate a dose-dependent increase in the volumes of adenine nucleotide diets imbibed. The letters indicate the levels of significance of the response of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. gambiae* within concentrations of the same diet. The single and double apostrophes differentiate levels of significance for the ADP (') and ATP ('') diets, respectively. The asterisks indicate significant differences between ligands determined by a two-way ANOVA (** P = 0.0010; *** P < 0.001; ns = non-significant).

5.3 Effect of adenine nucleotides on prediuresis in *An. gambiae*

The phenomenon of prediuresis, a physiological process associated with thermoregulation and erythrocyte concentration, has been documented in various *Anopheles* species, but is notably absent in *Aedes* species (paper II; Galun *et al.*, 1985; Islam *et al.*, 2019; Lahondère *et al.*, 2013; Vaughan *et al.*, 1991). For example, *An. gambiae* exhibits a propensity to continue feeding beyond engorgement, with pronounced prediuresis, a behaviour modulated by heat (Lahondère *et al.*, 2013). *Aedes aegypti*, unlike *An. gambiae*, expresses an abundance of heat shock protein 70, acting as heat molecular chaperons to control thermostress (Gross *et al.*, 2009; Benoit *et al.*, 2011). In contrast, *An. gambiae* leverages mechanical evaporative thermoregulation enhanced by the standing angle of inclination away from the hotter body of the host and deploys prediuretic behaviour (Lahondère *et al.*, 2013). Blood physico-chemical stimulants, such as feeding stimulants, have also been postulated to modulate prediuresis in *An. gambiae* (Arsic and Guerin, 2008).

While the precise role of adenine nucleotide phagostimulants in prediuresis is not fully understood, their modulatory function is commensurate with the second theory of erythrocyte concentration (Vaughan *et al.*, 1991; Clements, 1992). Since adenine nucleotides are

reliable indicators of blood meals, it is conceivable that their presence initiates the prediuretic mechanism to respond to the concentrating nitrogen and haemoglobin. However, the observation that the concentration of the nucleotides does not affect the volume engorged nor prediuresed is counterintuitive and remains to be further investigated.

The current study aimed at contributing an insight into the prediuresis phenomenon and demonstrated a general dose-dependent response in the proportion of individuals exhibiting prediuresis across three adenine nucleotide diets, with ATP showing the highest proportion of prediuresing individuals (Figure 4a). Notably, the structure and concentration of adenine nucleotides did not impact the volume engorged by prediuresing individuals



Figure 4. The effect of blood-derived adenine nucleotides diet on prediuresis in *Anopheles gambiae*. a) The percentage of prediuresing individuals, b) the volume engorged among prediuresing individuals and c) the average volume prediuresed. The letters indicate the levels of significance of the response of *An. gambiae* within concentrations of the same diet. The single and double apostrophes differentiate levels of significance for the ADP (') and ATP ('') diets, respectively. The asterisks indicate significant differences between ligands determined by a two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05; *** P < 0.001; ns = non-significant).

(Figure 4b). However, a dose-dependent response in the average prediuresed volume was observed, with no significant variation between ligands (Figure 4c). Available results thus indicate that the structure and concentration of the stimulating blood-derived adenine nucleotide are key factors in modulating the probability of prediuresis, but not the volume engorged in prediuresing individuals, and likely not the volume prediuresed. Taken together, this study has expanded our understanding of how *An. gambiae* differentially responds to blood meal constituents.

5.4 Molecular determinants in blood-meal assessment and feeding

5.4.1 Age-dependent shift in labrum gene abundances between 1 dpe and 3 dpe transcriptome libraries

Post-emergence, teneral female mosquitoes rest shortly before engaging in floral- and sugar-seeking behaviour, behaviours not requiring hardened stylets (Clements, 1992; Foster, 1995; Lomelí and Dahanukar, 2022). However, behavioural evidence from this study revealed an age-dependent increase in the propensity of *Ae. aegypti* to feed on blood (paper III; Klowden, 1995) and artificial ATP diets (Figure 5a), correlating with the age-related variation in transcript abundance between non-blood-feeding and blood-feeding labrum libraries (Figure 5b).



Figure 5. Age-dependent feeding on blood and ATP, and the variation in read abundance of 1 dpe and 3 dpe labral transcriptomes of *Aedes aegypti*. a) A comparison of the proportion of individuals engorged on blood or artificial ATP meals across different age groups. The upper- and lower-case letters indicate significant differences among the age groups feeding on blood and ATP, respectively. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. b) A principal component analysis representing the variation in overall read abundance in the labral transcriptomes of female *Ae. aegypti* at 1 and 3 days post-eclosion (dpe). The upper-case letters indicate the replicate transcriptomes for each age group.

This study highlights the dominance of chitin and collagen cuticleassociated genes in teneral female labral libraries (Figure 6a,b), emphasising their important role in cuticular structural development and maturation of the labrum in preparation for skin perforation, as mosquitoes reach the bloodfeeding age (Vincent and Wegst, 2004; Henriques *et al.*, 2020). Among the cuticular protein genes that are abundant in both 1 dpe and 3 dpe libraries, *cuticular protein 19 (CP19)* stands out (paper III; Figure 6a,b). The *CP19* encodes a labral protein, which upon binding with the labrum-interacting protein of the saliva 2 (LIPS-2), expressed in the labral libraries of 3 dpe, but not 1 dpe, females, regulates structural changes in the labrum. These changes lead to more rapid intradermal probing during the initiation of blood feeding (Arnoldi *et al.*, 2022), which would reduce the time spent on the host, thus minimising the likely risk of assault.

The abundance of the cuticular structural genes was reduced in the 3 dpe labral libraries compared to the 1 dpe libraries with a differential upregulation of cellular, neuro-communicative and neuromodulatory genes



Figure 6. Genes in the labrum of *Aedes aegypti* exhibiting the highest abundance and differential regulation. The heat plots present the comparison between the abundance of genes in the (a) 1 day post-eclosion (dpe) and (b) 3 dpe libraries, as well as their fold change and maximum abundance. c) Genes demonstrating differential upregulation in the 3 dpe, compared to 1 dpe, libraries. Asterisks indicate p < 0.05 and "ns" indicates non-significance. The scale bars indicate the colour-coded levels of abundance and fold change on a \log_{10} scale

in the 3 dpe libraries (Figure 6). As such, at 3 dpe, the structurally hardened labrum is at this age of the mosquito poised as a sturdy appendage for skin perforation, with a sufficiently mature chemosensory apparatus for blood-meal assessment and feeding (paper III; Figure 6).

5.5 Chemosensory function of the labrum during bloodfeeding

5.5.1 Putative chemosensory role of the labrum in the detection of blood vessels and the blood meal

While blood meal assessment requires contact chemosensation, it necessitates the labrum to use sensory-guided flexible manoeuvres to move through the skin and locate the blood vessels upon skin perforation (Loke *et*



Figure 7. Expression of chemosensory genes in the labrum of *Aedes aegypti*. a) The proportion of reliably expressed chemosensory genes, including the most abundant gene in parentheses. b) Significantly regulated chemosensory transmembrane genes, subcategorised into subfamilies. The co-receptors *Orco, Ir76b, Ir8a,* as well as *Gr19* are included for reference, and are indicated by 'ns' indicating that these were not significantly regulated. c) Significantly regulated genes encoding for soluble binding proteins, subcategorised into their respective gene families. The scale bars (b, c) indicate the colour-coded levels of abundance and fold change on a log_{10} scale.

al., 2009; Choumet *et al.*, 2012). This guided labral manoeuvre could in part be supported by the reliable expression of sensory receptors. The upregulation of the thermoreceptors *TRPA1* and *Ir25a* in the 3 dpe libraries (Figure 7a,b) (Corfas and Vosshall, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2022; Morita *et al.*, 2023) supports this hypothesis. The demonstrated detection of short-range blood volatile compounds, *e.g.*, modified terpenes (Loke *et al.*, 2009;

Himmel *et al.*, 2019), along with the reliable expression of both *Ors* and *Irs*, including their co-receptors (*Orco, Ir8a, Ir25a, and Ir76b*), suggest that VOCs may assist in this task.

5.5.2 Putative olfactory role of the labrum in blood detection

Of the reliably expressed genes encoding for tuning Ors and Irs, only Or10 and Or14 have been functionally characterised and demonstrated to detect phenolic compounds, *e.g.*, phenol, 4-methylphenol and 4-ethylphenol (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Zeng *et al.*, 2019; Ni 2021), which are omnipresent in human blood (Loke *et al.*, 2009). The detection of phenolic compounds may be a conserved function of the labrum across mosquitoes, as a 4-ethylphenol receptor, *CquiOr99*, has also been demonstrated to be expressed in the labrum of the southern house mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Choo *et al.*, 2015).

In blood, alcohols, carboxylic acids and their esters, including 1-octen-3-ol, cyclohexanol, acetic acid and ethyl acetate, have been demonstrated to be detected by Or8 and Or49, expressed in the labrum of an insecticideresistant strain of Ae. aegypti (Won Jung et al., 2015). However, neither of these Ors were reliably expressed in the Rockefeller (this study) or Liverpool strains (Jové et al., 2020). In further support of the olfactory roles of the labrum, was the expression of the OBP and CSP carrier protein gene families, which are often highly expressed in taste organs (Sánchez-Gracia et al., 2009) (Figure 7c). While the majority of the genes in this class were upregulated in the 3 dpe libraries, their functional roles in taste organs are yet to be characterised. However, together with the highly expressed OBPdistantly related D7 proteins, which are distantly related to OBPs, it is likely that they play a role in binding and trafficking of odorants and testants to the putative chemosensory receptors (Pelosi et al. 2014, 2018; Swarup et al., 2014). Taken together, the reliable expression of genes encoding for tuning olfactory receptors, co-receptors and odorant carrier proteins in the labrum emphasises an important role of this organ in blood meal detection.

5.5.3 Putative labral receptors for detecting the key blood taste modalities

The labral GRNs detect taste modalities, including salt (NaCl), sour (NaHCO₃), sweet (glucose) and adenine nucleotides (paper I; Baik and Carlson, 2020; Jové *et al.*, 2020), that are detected or putatively detected by chemosensory proteins encoded among the reliably expressed range of

chemosensory gene families (paper III; Figure 7a). Salt and sour tastes are detected by GRNs expressing *Ir7y.1* (AAEL014686; previously *Ir7f*), which is narrowly tuned to a range of concentrations of NaCl and NaHCO₃, and is upregulated in 3 dpe libraries (Figure 7b). A different population of soursensing GRNs, expressing *Ir7a* (NM_001358741.1; chromosome 3: 37734383-37736188), is tuned to a broader range of NaHCO₃ concentrations (Jaeger *et al.*, 2018a). The identification of distinct putative receptors for NaCl and NaHCO₃, which in combination with ATP elicit the feeding response, is in concurrence with the proposed multimodal integration of the blood-feeding signal (Jové *et al.*, 2020).

Pickpocket receptors, a group of the degenerin/epithelial sodium ion channels, have also been demonstrated to be closely associated with salt detection (Matthews et al., 2019). Although this study did not detect the previously identified salt-sensitive receptor (ppk301) in the labrum of Ae. *aegypti*, four other putative *ppks* were reliably expressed: *ppk103* and *ppk316* were not regulated, while *ppk203* and *ppk314* were upregulated in the 1 dpe libraries (Figure 7b). Moreover, the Gr homologue to the salt and sugar detecting Gr64f in Drosophila melanogaster (Jaeger et al., 2018b; Dey et al., 2023), Gr13 (Kent et al., 2008), was upregulated in the labrum with age, correlated with the development and function of the integrator GRN in labral sensilla, which detects blends of NaCl, NaHCO3 and glucose in bloodfeeding mosquitoes (Jové et al., 2020). Taken together, the upregulation of salt sensing *ppks* in the 1 dpe and not the blood-feeding age, suggests that these *ppks* are not involved in the detection of salt during blood feeding. Whether Gr13 plays a role in salt and sugar detection remains to be investigated.

5.5.4 Detection of feeding deterrents in blood

Aversive compounds are also detected by the labrum (Kessler *et al.*, 2014; Lukenge *et al.*, 2023) and are likely mediated by select *Grs* and/or *Trps*. Homologues of genes of *D. melanogaster* encoding for receptors detecting bitters (*Gr17*) (Kent *et al.*, 2008), as well as noxious substances and irritants (*TrpA1*, *Trpl* and *painless*) (Tracey *et al.*, 2003; Kang *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2013) were reliably expressed in the labrum of *Ae. aegypti* and regulated with age (Figure 7ab). Moreover, the labrum of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* expresses CquiOR136, which detects DEET, a compound that also elicits feeding deterrence in *Ae. aegypti* (paper IV; Dennis *et al.*, 2019). Jové *et al.* (2020) previously demonstrated that among the population of neurons identified in the labrum, there was a population that was non-responsive to the blood phagostimulatory modalities and suggested that these neurones may be expressing receptors for other modalities, such as feeding deterrents and pungent irritants. While the latter supports the notion of the labrum expressing feeding deterrent receptors, functional characterisation of these receptors is required.

5.5.5 Labral purinoceptor expression

Purinoceptors are a class of receptors that bind adenosine or the adenine nucleotides (Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1994). Non-insect purinoceptors are classified among the GPCRs (P1 and P2X) and ligand-gated ion channels (P2Y) (Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1994; Kennedy, 2021), which contain a rich set of targets to screen to identify candidates for the putative purinoceptors in mosquitoes, particularly the ATP receptor. A screen of GPCRs revealed 78 reliably expressed genes, the majority of which were significantly more abundant in the 1 dpe libraries (70%), with the only purinoceptor previously identified in *Ae. aegypti*, the adenosine receptor (Liu *et al.*, 2008) (P1: AAEL026043) being reliably expressed in both ages (paper III). While a significant number of *GPCRs* are expressed in the labrum, their likelihood of functioning as purinoceptors during blood feeding is therefore limited.

The screen for ligand-gated ion channel protein receptor genes (P2Y) revealed 83 reliably expressed receptor genes, with similar level of abundance in the 1 dpe and 3 dpe libraries. This suggests an unlikely role of these genes during blood feeding. In contrast, among the genes encoding for P2X-like ligand-gated ion channels, Ir100c.2 and Ir7n.1 (Figure 7b) were found to be upregulated in the 3 dpe labral libraries, and may thus be strong candidates for future purinoceptor function investigations. Investigation in the ATP binding (GO:0005524) gene ontology category identified 617 reliably expressed genes, of which 30 were significantly upregulated in the 3 dpe libraries. All genes identified in this group were associated with enzymatic and degrading functions that require ATP binding but do not act as transmembrane extracellular binding proteins, and are therefore unlikely to be receptors for extracellular ATP. Taken together, the current screen indicates a reliable expression of the purinoceptor classes in the labrum, with only a few promising candidates identified for further studies. Noteworthy, while the function of chemosensory tissues in insects can be modulated through changes in the level of gene expression and neural sensitivity, these

two aspects can be influenced via various neuromodulatory pathways (Zhao *et al.*, 2022).

5.6 Putative neuromodulatory roles of the labral sensory machinery

The dynamic range of OSN and GRN sensitivity in insects is modulated by the degree of starvation experienced by the insect during early adult maturation, and is then maintained throughout the adult stage, via the endocrine hedgehog signalling pathway between the gut and the peripheral chemosensory organs, as demonstrated in D. melanogaster (Sanchez et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2022). Downstream members of the hedgehog signalling pathway, patched and smoothened, are reliably expressed in the labral libraries of Ae. aegypti, at both 1 dpe and 3 dpe, with the abundance of smoothened showing a trend of reduction in 3 dpe libraries. This is in line with the proposed model, in which endocrine hedgehog signalling modulates the sensitivity of the chemosensory neurons by regulating the expression of chemosensory genes, particularly the receptors (Sanchez et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2022). Chemosensory neuronal sensitivity is also regulated through the short neuropeptide F and sulfakinin pathways in response to feeding state (Lee et al., 2004; Christ et al., 2017, 2018; Guo et al., 2021; Tinoco et al., 2021).

The reliable expression of the *short neuropeptide* F and *sulfakinin* receptors in the labrum suggests that its sensory neurons are being modulated at the peripheral level, as well as at the first synaptic level in the stomatogastric and central nervous systems. Taken together, the concerted feeding response of the labrum is an interplay of a matured and sturdy piercing and feeding straw doubling as a chemosensory organ during the blood-feeding age.

5.7 ATP overrides the aversion of feeding deterrents in *Ae. aegypti*

The ATSB technology relies on sugar as the phagostimulant for the toxinladen meals in vector control. The inherent disadvantages of sugar as a feeding driver (details in section 2.6.1) in the ATB technology warrant the search for alternative phagostimulants. This study demonstrated that ATP is a potent feeding driver activating the adenine nucleotide pathway, which overrides the aversive effects of several structurally divergent antifeedants and toxicants (Table 1; Figure 8ab) in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 8c). The behavioural response to the antifeedants and toxicants suggests that chemosensory neurons in sensilla on the labrum, or the cibarium, differentially detect these compounds (French *et al.*, 2015a,b). However, whether antifeedants and toxicants modulate the response of sensory neurons in these sensilla in mosquitoes, or act through a dedicated pathway, is currently unknown.

5.8 Toxic effects of ATP-induced and sucrose-induced feeding on feeding deterrent meals

Mosquitoes, like other flower-visiting arthropods, have evolved the ability to detect aversive compounds, presumably due to the perceived toxicity of nectar sources (French *et al.*, 2015; Stevenson, 2020; Lomelí and Dahanukar, 2022). Similarly, mosquitoes appear to have been under selection pressure to detect antifeedant compounds in blood (paper IV; Dennis *et al.*, 2019; Kessler *et al.*, 2014). In addition, obligate haematophagous animals are able to detect these compounds through antifeedant-sensitive receptors (Ziegler and Behrens, 2021). The blood of vertebrate hosts, however, does not appear to contain high concentrations of antifeedant compounds as mosquitoes readily engorge on this resource. This study demonstrated that meals containing antifeedants, in addition to ATP, induce rapid toxic effects (< 3 h) relative to the over 5-day period observed in response to sucrose-induced feeding. Thus, the ATP sensory pathway appear to override the aversive effects of antifeedants and toxicants and inducing a reflexive feeding response, which leads to rapid toxic effects.

ATP-induced feeding on the naturally existing alkaloids, *i.e.*, nicotine, lobeline and caffeine, elicited a knockdown effect. This effect may hypothetically be caused by the compounds passing across the peritrophic membrane into the haemolymph, and interacting with nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Unwin, 2013; Alkam and Nabeshima, 2019). In contrast, ATP-induced feeding on the synthetic toxicants, boric acid and propylene glycol, elicited lethal effects, likely through a direct mechanism of action as stomach poisons in the midgut of mosquitoes, disrupting the gut epithelium, affecting metabolism, and potentially acting as neural toxins (Sippy *et al.*, 2020). The combination of two lethal compounds resulted in synergistic effects

demonstrating the potential of using lower, eco-friendly concentrations of toxicants in field applications.



Figure 8. ATP overrides the aversive response to antifeedants and toxicants in *Aedes aegypti*. a) i-v: The scale used to score unfed to engorged individuals. b) The proportion of *Ae. aegypti* engorged on meals of antifeedant and toxicant compounds, in combination with ATP at EC₅₀ (0.072 mM) and EC_{max} (0.6 mM) (n = 50). The behavioural response of the mosquitoes to the antifeedant and toxicant compounds is aversive when these are presented in combination with ATP at EC₅₀, whereas ATP EC_{max} is able to override this effect. An ANOVA was used for the pairwise comparisons and asterisks indicate the level of significant difference. c) Mosquitoes engorged on 0.6 mM ATP-containing antifeedant and toxicant diets in a dose-dependent manner. The error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. The number of replicates for each diet and concentration was 50. PRO: propylene glycol.

While vectors possess an innate ability to detect and evade antifeedant- or toxicant-containing meals, this study demonstrated that such avoidance is variably overridden depending on the type of phagostimulant used. This, in turn, influences the destination of the meal and the rate of toxicity with the meals destined to the midgut (ATP-induced) causing faster toxicity compared to meals destined to the crop (sugar-induced) (Figure 9). In summary, the benefits linked to ATP as a phagostimulant strongly indicate that its thermally stable agonists could serve as viable alternatives to sucrose in the development of oral-based vector control technologies. These advancements would enable the oral administration of various vectormodifying agents, including biological substances (such as *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins), genetic material (such as dsRNA) and chemical agents.



Figure 9. ATP and sucrose variably modulate the final destination of the meal. The guts of mosquitoes fed on antifeedant- and toxicant-laden meals induced by either sucrose or ATP are shown in the upper and lower panels, respectively. The micrographs of gut dissections demonstrate the predominant destination of antifeedant- and toxicant-laced meals (NIC: nicotine; LOB lobeline; QUI: quinine; CAP: capsaicin; PRO: propylene glycol BOR: CAF: caffein; BOR: Boric acid; DEET: N,N-Diethyl-meta-toluamide; blue) to the crop (CP), oesophagus (OS), midgut (MG) and hindgut (HG). The control gut dissections for unfed, sucrose-, blood- and ATP-fed mosquitoes are presented in the four leftmost panels. The pie charts represent a semi-quantitative indicator of the distribution of the meals to the four main gut regions in an anticlockwise direction, starting from the top-left quadrant, the CP, OS, MG and HG. The colour intensities in the pie chart (scale to the right) visually rank the average intensity of the blue dye in the gut regions on a scale of 0 (lowest) to 3 (highest; n = 10).

6. Conclusion and future perspectives

Evaluation of the blood meal by the labrum is the ultimate sensory assessment prior to engorgement is poorly understood. This crucial process to the survival of a mosquito may offer an avenue for advancing taste-based tools, which can supplement the existing integrated vector control management strategies. The findings in this study indicate a novel dosedependent behavioural response to blood-derived adenine nucleotides in An. gambiae, which was less sensitive than in Ae. aegypti. Both mosquito species exhibited a bimodal feeding response, thereby introducing an initial tasting step to the conventional theory of a general all-or-none feeding pattern among haematophagous vectors. The shift of labral gene abundance in Ae. aegypti from those with structural functions to those with cellular, neurocommunicative and modulatory gene functions as the vector matures into the blood-feeding age, positions the labrum as a sturdy and chemosensory competent organ with gustatory, olfactory and thermoreceptive abilities. The identified putative and orphan transmembrane labral genes may serve as receptors for ATP and other blood phagostimulatory modalities, and set the foundation for future functional genomic studies to characterise the receptors involved in, e.g., ATP detection. The evidence that ATP can effectively override the aversive response to feeding deterrents, and when combined with toxicants, elicit more rapid lethal effects, underscores the potential effectiveness of activating the adenine nucleotide pathway over the traditional sugar pathway in the future development of the ATB technology. Prospectively, the electrophysiological response of both species to phagostimulants and antifeedants should be examined to widen our mechanistic understanding of blood feeding. From an applied perspective, stable analogues of ATP will need to be explored to develop a prototype vector control tool that leverages the use of human odours as lures in the development of an ATP-based toxic bait technology.

7. References

- Abbracchio, M.P., and Burnstock, G. (1994). Purinoceptors: Are there families of P2X and P2Y purinoceptors? *Pharmacol. Ther.* 64, 445–75. doi.org/10.1016/0163-7258(94)00048-4.
- Adams, T.S. (1999). Hematophagy and hormone release. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 92, 1-13.
- Alkam, T., and Nabeshima, T. (2019). Molecular mechanisms for nicotine intoxication. *Neurochem. Int.* 125, 117–26. doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2019.02.006.
- Alonso San Alberto, D., Rusch, C., Zhan, Y., Straw, A.D., Montell, C., and Riffell, J.A. (2022). The olfactory gating of visual preferences to human skin and visible spectra in mosquitoes. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 555. doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-28195-x.
- Anjomruz, M., Oshaghi, M.A., Pourfatollah, A.A., Sedaghat, M.M., Raeisi, A., Vatandoost, H., Khamesipour, A., Mohammad, R.A., Mohtarami, F., Akbarzadeh, K., Rafie, F. and Besharati, M., (2014a). Preferential feeding success of laboratory-reared *Anopheles stephensi* mosquitoes according to ABO blood group status. *Acta Trop.* 140, 118-23. doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2014.08.012.
- Anjomruz, M., Oshaghi, M.A., Sedaghat, M.M., Raeisi, A., Vatandoost, H., Khamesipour, A., Mohammad, R.A., Mohtarami, F., Rafie, F., Besharati, M., Yeryan, M., Bakhshi, H. and Nikpour, F., (2014b). ABO blood groups of residents and the ABO host choice of malaria vectors in southern Iran. *Exp. Parasitol.* 136, 63-7. doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2013.11.005.
- Arcà, B., and Ribeiro, J.M. (2018). Saliva of hematophagous insects: a multifaceted toolkit. *Curr. Opin. Insect. Sci.* 29, 102–9. doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2018.07.012.
- Arnoldi, I., Mancini, G., Fumagalli, M., Gastaldi, D., D'Andrea, L., Bandi, C., Di Venere, M., Iadarola, P., Forneris, F., and Gabrieli, P. (2022). A salivary factor binds a cuticular protein and modulates biting by inducing morphological changes in the mosquito labrum. *Curr. Biol.* 32, 3493-504. doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.06.049.
- Arsic, D., and Guerin, P. (2008). Nutrient content of diet affects the signalling activity of the insulin/target of rapamycin/p70 S6 kinase pathway in the African malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. J. Insect Physiol. 54, 21-8. doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2008.06.003.

- Azar, D., and Nel, A. (2012). Evolution of hematophagy in "non-biting midges" (Diptera: Chironomidae). *Terr. Arthropod Rev.* 5, 15–34. doi.org/10.1163/187498312X620577.
- Baik, L.S., and Carlson, J.R. (2020). The mosquito taste system and disease control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 117, 32848–56. doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2013076117.
- Beier, J.C., Müller, G.C., Gu, W., Arheart, K.L., and Schlein, Y. (2012). Attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) methods decimate populations of *Anopheles* malaria vectors in arid environments regardless of the local availability of favoured sugar-source blossoms. *Malar. J.* 11, 31.
- Benoit, J.B., Lopez-Martinez, G., Patrick, K.R., Phillips, Z.P., Krause, T.B., and Denlinger, D.L. (2011). Drinking a hot blood meal elicits a protective heat shock response in mosquitoes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 108, 8026–9. doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105195108
- Bidlingmayer, W.L., and Hem, D.G. (1980). The range of visual attraction and the effect of competitive visual attractants upon mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) flight. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 70, 321–42. doi.org/10.1017/S0007485300007604.
- Bishop, A., and Gilchrist, B.M. (1946). Experiments upon the feeding of *Aedes aegypti* through animal membranes with a view to applying this method to the chemotherapy of malaria. *Parasitology*, 37, 85–100. doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000013202.
- Born, G.V., and Kratzer, M.A. (1984). Source and concentration of extracellular adenosine triphosphate during haemostasis in rats, rabbits and man. *Physiol. J.* 354, 419-29. doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1984.sp015385.
- van Breugel, F., Jewell, R., and Houle, J. (2022). Active anemosensing hypothesis: how flying insects could estimate ambient wind direction through sensory integration and active movement. J. R. Soc. Interface. 19, 20220258. doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2022.0258.
- Cardé, R.T. (2015). Multi-cue integration: How female mosquitoes locate a human host. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 793-5. doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.07.057.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Mosquitoes Bite Symptoms and Treatment*. Atlanta, CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/mosquitoes/mosquito-bites/symptoms.
- Choo, Y.M., Buss, G.K., Tan, K., and Leal, W.S. (2015). Multitasking roles of mosquito labrum in oviposition and blood feeding. *Front. physiol.* 6. doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00306.
- Choumet, V., Attout, T., Chartier, L., Khun, H., Sautereau, J., Robbe-Vincent, A., Brey, P., Huerre, M., and Bain, O. (2012). Visualizing non-infectious and infectious *Anopheles gambiae* blood feedings in naive and salivaimmunized mice. *PLoS One*, 7, e50464. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050464.
- Christ, P., Hill, S.R., Schachtner, J., Hauser, F., and Ignell, R. (2018). Functional characterization of mosquito short neuropeptide F receptors. *Peptides*, 103, 31–9. doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2018.03.009.
- Christ, P., Reifenrath, A., Kahnt, J., Hauser, F., Hill, S.R., Schachtner, J. and Ignell, R. (2017). Feeding-induced changes in allatostatin-A and short neuropeptide F in the antennal lobes affect odor-mediated host seeking in

the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. PLoS One.* 12, e0188243. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188243.

- Christophers, R.S. (1960). Aedes aegypti. The yellow fever mosquito; Its life history, bionomics and structure. Cambridge University Press.
- Clements, A.N. (1992). The biology of mosquitoes. Volume 1. Development, nutrition and reproduction. Chapman and Hall.
- Clements, A.N. (1999). *The biology of mosquitoes. Volume 2: sensory reception and behaviour.* CABI Publishing.
- Coluzzi, M., Concetti, A. and Ascoli, F., (1982). Effect of cibarial armature of mosquitoes (Diptera, Culicidae) on blood-meal haemolysis. J. Insect Physiol. 28: 885-8. doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(82)90103-2.
- Corfas, R.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2015). The cation channel TRPA1 tunes mosquito thermotaxis to host temperatures. ed. Scott, K., 4, e11750. doi.org/10.7554/eLife.11750.
- Coy, M.R., Sanscrainte, N.D., Chalaire, K.C., Inberg, A., Maayan, I., Glick, E., Paldi, N. and Becnel, J.J. (2012). Gene silencing in adult *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes through oral delivery of double-stranded RNA. *J. Appl. Entomol.*, 136, 741–8. doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2012.01713.x.
- Day, M.F. (1954). The mechanism of food distribution to midgut or diverticula in the mosquito. *Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 7, 515–524. doi.org/10.1071/bi9540515.
- Degefa, T., Githeko, A.K., Lee, M.C., Yan, G., and Yewhalaw, D. (2021). Patterns of human exposure to early-evening and outdoor biting mosquitoes and residual malaria transmission in Ethiopia. *Acta Trop.* 216, 105837. doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2021.105837.
- DeGennaro, M., McBride, C.S., Seeholzer, L., Nakagawa, T., Dennis, E.J., Goldman, C., Jasinskiene, N., James, A.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2013). Orco mutant mosquitoes lose strong preference for humans and are not repelled by volatile DEET. *Nature*. 498, 487–91. doi:10.1038/nature12206.
- Dekker, T., Geler, M., and Cadré, R.T. (2005). Carbon dioxide instantly sensitizes female yellow fever mosquitoes to human skin odours. *J. Exp. Biol.* 208, 2963-72. doi.org/10.1242/jeb.01736.
- Dennis, E.J., Goldman, O.V., and Vosshall, L.B. (2019). *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes use their legs to sense DEET on contact. *Curr. Sci.* 29, 1551-6. doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.04.004.
- Dey, M., Ganguly, A., and Dahanukar, A. (2023). An inhibitory mechanism for suppressing high salt intake in *Drosophila*. *Chem. Senses.* 48, 14. doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjad014.
- Dunn, J., and Grider, M.H. (2022). *Physiology, adenosine triphosphate. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island.*
- Edman, J.D., Cody, E. and Lynn, H. (1975). Blood-feeding activity of partially engorged *Culex nigripalpus* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 18, 261–8. doi.org/10.1111/j.1570-7458.1975.tb00397.x.
- Edman, J.D., and Kale, H.W. (1971). Host behavior: its influence on the feeding success of mosquitoes. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 64, 513–6. doi.org/10.1093/aesa/64.2.513.
- Fiorenzano, J.M., Koehler, P.G., and Xue, R.D. (2017). Attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) for control of mosquitoes and its impact on non-target organisms:

A review. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, 14. doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14040398.

- French, A., Sellier, M., Agha, M., Guigue, A., Chabaud, M., Reeb, P.D., Mitra, A., Grau, Y., Soustelle, L., and Marion-Poll, F. (2015). Dual mechanism for bitter avoidance in *Drosophila*. J. Neurosc. 35, 3990–4004. doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1312-14.2015.
- Friend, W.G. (1981). Diet destination in *Culiseta inornata* (Williston): Effect of feeding conditions on the response to ATP and Sucrose. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 74, 151–54. doi.org/10.1093/aesa/74.1.151
- Friend, W.G., and Smith, J.J. (1977). Factors affecting feeding by bloodsucking insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 22, 309–31. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.22.010177.001521.
- Friend, W.G., and Smith, J.J.B. (1982). ATP analogues and other phosphate compounds as gorging stimulants for *Rhodnius prolixus*. J. Insect Physiol. 28, 371–6. doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(82)90050-6.
- Friend, W.G., and Stoffolano, J.G. (1983). Feeding responses of the horsefly, *Tabanus nigrovittatus*, to phagostimulants. *Physiol. Entomol.* 8: 377-83. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1983.tb00371.x.
- Foster, W.A. (1995). Mosquito sugar feeding and reproductive energetics. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 40, 443–74. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.40.010195.002303.
- Furnival-Adams, J.E.C., Camara, S., Rowland, M., Koffi, A.A., Ahoua Alou, L.P., Oumbouke, W.A. and N'Guessan, R. (2020). Indoor use of attractive toxic sugar bait in combination with long-lasting insecticidal net against pyrethroid-resistant *Anopheles gambiae*: an experimental hut trial in Mbé, central Côte d'Ivoire. *Malar. J.* 19, 11. doi.org/10.1186/s12936-019-3095.
- Galun, R. (1967). Feeding Stimuli and Artificial Feeding. Bull. Wld Hlth Org. 36, 590–3.
- Galun, R., Avi-Dor, Y., and Bar-Zeev, M. (1963). Feeding response in *Aedes aegypti*: Stimulation by adenosine triphosphate. *Science*. 142, 1674–5. doi.org/10.1126/science.142.3600.1674.
- Galun, R., Friend, W.G., and Nudelman, S. (1988). Purinergic reception by culicine mosquitoes. J. Comp. Physiol. 163, 665–70. doi.org/10.1007/BF00603850.
- Galun, R., and Kabayo, J.P. (1988). Gorging response of *Glossina palpalis palpalis* to ATP analogues. *Physiol. Entomol.* 13, 419–23. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1988.tb01125.x.
- Galun, R., Koontz, L.C. and Gwadz, R.W. (1985a). Engorgement response of anopheline mosquitoes to blood fractions and artificial solutions. *Physiol. Entomol.* 10, 145–9. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1985.tb00029.x.
- Galun, R., Koontz, L.C., Gwadz, R.W. and Ribeiro, J.M.C. (1985b). Effect of ATP analogues on the gorging response of *Aedes aegypti. Physiol. Entomol.* 10, 275–81. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1985.tb00048.x.
- Galun, R., Oren, N. and Zecharia, M. (1984). Effect of plasma components on the feeding response of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* L. to adenine nucleotides. *Physiol. Entomol.* 9, 403–8. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1984.tb00781.x.

- Galun, R. and Vardimon-Friedman, H. (1992). Gorging response of the mosquito, *Culex univittatus*, to adenine nucleotides. *Sci. Nat.* 79, 519–20. doi.org/10.1007/BF01135773.
- Gillies, M.T. (1980). The role of carbon dioxide in host-finding by mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae): a review. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 70, 525–32. doi.org/10.1017/S0007485300007811.
- Gonzales, K.K., Tsujimoto, H. and Hansen, I.A. (2015). Blood serum and BSA, but neither red blood cells nor hemoglobin can support vitellogenesis and egg production in the dengue vector *Aedes aegypti. PeerJ*, 3, 938. doi.org/10.7717/peerj.938.
- Grant, A.J., and Dickens, J.C. (2011). Functional characterization of the octenol receptor neuron on the maxillary palps of the Yellow Fever Mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. PLoS ONE* 6. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021785.
- Gross, T.L., Myles, K.M., and Adelman, Z.N. (2009). Identification and Characterization of Heat Shock 70 Genes in *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *J. Med. Entomol.* 46, 496–504. doi.org/10.1603/033.046.0313.
- Guo, D., Zhang, Y.-J., Zhang, S., Li, J., Guo, C., Pan, Y.-F., Zhang, N., Liu, C.-X., Jia, Y.-L., Li, C.-Y., Ma, J.-Y., Nässel, D.R., Gao, C.-F. and Wu, S.-F. (2021). Cholecystokinin-like peptide mediates satiety by inhibiting sugar attraction. *PLoS Genet*. 17, e1009724. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009724.
- Hawkes, F., and Gibson, G. (2016). Seeing is believing: the nocturnal malarial mosquito *Anopheles coluzzii* responds to visual host-cues when odour indicates a host is nearby. *Parasite Vectors* 9, 320. doi:10.1186/s13071-016-1609-z.
- Henning, W. (1972). Insektenfossilien aus der unteren Kreide. IV. Psychodidae (Phlebotominae). mit einer kritischen Übersicht über das phylogenetische System der Familie und die bisher beschriebenen Fossilien (Diptera). Stuttgarter Beitr.ge zur Naturkunde 241: 1-69.
- Henriques, B.S., Garcia, E.S., Azambuja, P., and Genta, F.A. (2020). Determination of Chitin Content in Insects: An Alternate method based on calcofluor staining. *Front. physiol.* 11, 117. doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00117.
- Himmel, N.J., Letcher, J.M., Sakurai, A., Gray, T.R., Benson, M.N. and Cox, D.N. (2019). *Drosophila* menthol sensitivity and the precambrian origins of transient receptor potential-dependent chemosensation. *Philos. Trans. Soc.* 374, 20190369. doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0369.
- Hinze, A., Hill, S. R., and Ignell, R. (2022). Chapter 9: Odour-mediated host selection and discrimination in mosquitoes. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G., Hill, S.R. editors. Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers. pp. 253-76. doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9_9.
- Hinze, A., Lantz, J., Hill, S.R., and Ignell, R. (2021). Mosquito host seeking in 3d using a versatile climate-controlled wind tunnel system. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 15. doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2021.643693.
- Hosoi, T. (1958). Adenosine-5'-phosphates as the stimulating agent in blood for inducing gorging of the mosquito. *Nature* 181, 1664–5. doi.org/10.1038/1811664a0.

- Hosoi, T. (1959). Identification of blood components which induce gorging of the mosquito. J. Insect Physiol. 3, 191–218. doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(59)90001-0.
- Huff, C.G. (1929). Ovulation requirements of *Culex pipiens. linn. Biol. Bull.* 56, 347–50. doi.org/10.2307/1537074.
- Hughes, D.T., Pelletier, J., Luetje, C.W. and Leal, W.S. (2010). Odorant receptor from the southern house mosquito narrowly tuned to the oviposition attractant skatole. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 36, 797–800. doi.org/10.1007/s10886-010-9828-9.
- Ignell, R., and Hill, S.R. (2020). Malaria mosquito chemical ecology. Curr. Opin. Insect. Sci. 40, 6–10. doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2020.03.008.
- Ignell, R., Okawa, S., Englund, J.-E., and Hill, S.R. (2010). Assessment of diet choice by the yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Physiol. Entomol.* 35, 274–86. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.2010.00740.x
- Islam, A., Emran, T.B., Yamamoto, D.S., Iyori, M., Amelia, F., Yusuf, Y., Yamaguchi, R., Alam, M.S., Silveira, H. and Yoshida, S. (2019). Anopheline antiplatelet protein from mosquito saliva regulates blood feeding behavior. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 3129. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39960-2.
- Jaeger, A.H., Stanley, M., Weiss, Z.F., Musso, P.-Y., Chan, R.C., Zhang, H., Feldman-Kiss, D., and Gordon, M.D. (2018). A complex peripheral code for salt taste in *Drosophila*. *eLife*. 7, e37167. doi.org/10.7554/eLife.37167.
- Jones, J.C. (1978). The feeding behavior of mosquitoes. Sci. Am. 238, 138-50
- Jones, J.C., and Pilitt, D.R. (1973). Blood-feeding behavior of adult *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. *Biol. Bull.* 145, 127–39. doi.org/10.2307/1540353.
- Jones, M.D.R. (1981). The programming of circadian flight-activity in relation to mating and the gonotrophic cycle in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Physiol. Entomol.* 6, 307–13. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1981.tb00275.x.
- Jové, V., Gong, Z., Hol, F.J.H., Zhao, Z., Sorrells, T.R., Carroll, T.S., Prakash, M., McBride, C.S. and Vosshall, L.B. (2020). Sensory discrimination of blood and floral nectar by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. *Neuron*. 108, 1163-80. doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.09.019.
- Kang, K., Pulver, S.R., Panzano, V.C., Chang, E.C., Griffith, L.C., Theobald, D.L. and Garrity, P.A. (2010). Analysis of *Drosophila* TRPA1 reveals an ancient origin for human chemical nociception. *Nature*. 464, 597–600. doi.org/10.1038/nature08848.
- Kawada, H., Tatsuta, H., Arikawa, K., and Takagi, M. (2006). Comparative study on the relationship between photoperiodic host-seeking behavioral patterns and the eye parameters of mosquitoes. *J. Insect Physiol.* 52, 67–75. doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2005.09.004.
- Kennedy, C. (2021). The P2Y/P2X divide: How it began. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 187, 114408. doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114408.
- Kent, L.B., Walden, K.K.O., and Robertson, H.M. (2008). The Gr family of candidate gustatory and olfactory receptors in the yellow-fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Chem. Senses.* 33, 79–93. doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjm067.
- Kessler, S., González, J., Vlimant, M., Glauser, G. and Guerin, P.M. (2014). Quinine and artesunate inhibit feeding in the African malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*: the role of gustatory organs within the mouthparts. *Physiol. Entomol.* 39, 172–82. doi.org/10.1111/phen.12061.

- Klowden, M.J. (1995). Blood, sex, and the mosquito. *Bioscience* 45, 326–31. doi.org/10.2307/1312493.
- Klowden, M.J. (2007). Making generalizations about vectors: Is there a physiology of "the mosquito"? *Entomol. Res.* 37, 1–13. doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5967.2007.00044.x.
- Knight, K.L. and Stone, A. (1959). A catalog of the mosquitoes of the world (Diptera: Culicidae). SPIE. doi.org/10.4182/UMJB2446.
- Kogan, P.H. (1990). Substitute blood meal for investigating and maintaining Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Med. Entomol. 27, 709–12. doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/27.4.709.
- Kumar, S., Sharma, A., Samal, R.R., Kumar, M., Verma, V., Sagar, R.K., Singh, S. and Raghavendra, K. (2022). Attractive sugar bait formulation for development of attractive toxic sugar bait for control of *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus). J. Trop. Med. 2022, e2977454. doi.org/10.1155/2022/2977454.
- Lahondère, C., and Lazzari, C.R. (2013). Thermal stress and thermoregulation during feeding in mosquitoes. In: Munguin, S., Anopheles mosquitoes - New insights into malaria vectors. IntechOpen. London, United kingdom, doi.org/10.5772/56288.
- Land, M.F. (1997). Visual Acuity in Insects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 42, 147-77. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.42.1.147.
- Lea, A.O. (1965). Sugar-baited insecticide residues against mosquitoes. Mosq. News. 25, 65-6.
- Lee, K.-S., You, K.-H., Choo, J.-K., Han, Y.-M. and Yu, K. (2004). Drosophila short neuropeptide F regulates food intake and body size. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 50781–9. doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M407842200.
- Lee, R. (1974). Structure and function of the fascicular stylets, and the labral and cibarial sense organs of male and female *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera, Culicidae). *Quaest. entomol.* 10, 187–216.
- Lee, R.M.K.W., and Craig, D.A. (1983). The labrum and labral sensilla of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae): a scanning electron microscope study. *Can. J. Zool.* 61, 1568–79. doi.org/10.1139/z83-211.
- Lee, R.M.K.W. and Craig, D.A. (2009). Fine structure of the sense organs on the labella and labium of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* (L.). *Open Entomol. J.* 3, 7–17. doi.org/10.2174/1874407900903010007.
- Lehane, M.J. (2005). *The biology of blood-sucking in insects. Second edition*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- Liman, E.R., Zhang, Y.V. and Montell, C. (2014). Peripheral coding of taste. *Neuron.* 81, 984–1000. doi.org/10.1016/jneuron. 2014.02.022.
- Liscia, A., Crnjar, R., Barbarossa, I.T., Esu, S., Muroni, P. and Galun, R. (1993). Electrophysiological responses of labral apical chemoreceptors to adenine nucleotides in *Culex pipiens*. J. Insect Physiol. 39, 261–65.
- Liu, T., Lu, J., Liu, X., Min, H. and Lin, F. (2008). A simple and effective method for total RNA isolation of appressoria in Magnaporthe oryzae. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. 9, 811–17. doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B0860011.
- Loke, W.M., Jenner, A.M., Proudfoot, J.M., McKinley, A.J., Hodgson, J.M., Halliwell, B., and Croft, K.D. (2009). A metabolite profiling approach to

identify biomarkers of flavonoid intake in humans. *J Nutr.* 139, 2309–14. doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.113613.

- Lomelí, A. M., and Dahanukar, A. A. (2022). Chapter 16: Host-plant feeding in mosquitoes. In: Sensory ecology of disease vectors. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G., Hill, S.R. editors. Wageningen Academic Publishers. pp. 449–68. doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9 16.
- Lorenz, L.M., Keane, A., Moore, J.D., Munk, C.J., Seeholzer, L., Mseka, A., Simfukwe, E., Ligamba, J., Turner, E.L., Biswaro, L.R., Okumu, F.O., Killeen, G.F., Mukabana, W.R., and Moore, S.J. (2013). Taxis assays measure directional movement of mosquitoes to olfactory cues. *Parasites Vectors*. 6, 131. doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-6-131.
- Lukenge, M., Ignell, R., and Hill, S.R. (2022). Chapter 17: Phagostimulants drive the acceptance of a blood meal in disease vectors. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G., Hill, S.R. editors. Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers. pp. 469–88. doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9 17.
- Lukenge, M., Ignell, R., and Hill, S.R. (2023). Adenosine triphosphate overrides the aversive effect of antifeedants and toxicants: a model alternative phagostimulant for sugar-based vector control tools. *Parasites Vectors*. 16, 416. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-023-06039-x.
- Lyimo, I.N., and Ferguson, H.M. (2009). Ecological and evolutionary determinants of host species choice in mosquito vectors. *Trends Parasitol*. 25, 189–96. doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2009.01.005.
- Majeed, S., Hill, S.R., and Ignell, R. (2014). Impact of elevated CO₂ background levels on the host-seeking behaviour of *Aedes aegypti. J. Exp. Biol.* 217, 598–604. doi.org/10.1242/jeb.092718.
- Mans, B.J. (2011). Evolution of vertebrate hemostatic and inflammatory control mechanisms in blood-feeding arthropods. J. Innate Immun. 3, 41–51. doi.org/10.1159/000321599.
- Martin-Martin, I., Paige, A., Valenzuela Leon, P.C., Gittis, A.G., Kern, O., Bonilla, B., Chagas, A.C., Ganesan, S., Smith, L.B., Garboczi, D.N. and Calvo, E. (2020). ADP binding by the *Culex quinquefasciatus* mosquito D7 salivary protein enhances blood feeding on mammals. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 2911. doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16665-z.
- Matthews, B.J., Younger, M.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2019). The ion channel ppk301 controls freshwater egg-laying in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. eLife.* 8, e43963. doi.org/10.7554/eLife.43963.
- McMeniman, C.J., Corfas, R.A., Matthews, B.J., Ritchie, S.A., and Vosshall, L.B. (2014). Multimodal integration of carbon dioxide and other sensory cues drives mosquito attraction to humans. *Cell.* 156, 1060–71. doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.044.
- Milam, D., Farris, J.L.J., and Wilhi, D. (2000). Evaluating mosquito control pesticides for effect on target and non-target organisms. *AECT*. 39, 324–8. doi.org/10.1007/s002440010111.
- Morita, T., Lyn, N.G., Von Heynitz, R.K., Goldman, O.V., Sorrells, T.R., DeGennaro, M., Matthews, B.J., Houri-Zeevi, L., and Vosshall, L.B. (2023). Cross-modal sensory compensation increases mosquito attraction to humans. bioRxiv. doi.org/10.1101/2023.10.10.561721.

- Müller, G.C., and Galili, A. (2016). Attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB): From basic science to product a new paradigm for vector control. Geneva, 1, 17.
- Nayar, J.K., and Van Handel, E. (1971). The fuel for sustained mosquito flight. J. Insect Physiol. 17, 471–81. doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(71)90026-6.
- Ni, L. (2021). The structure and function of ionotropic receptors in *Drosophila*. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 13. doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2020.638839.
- Nyasembe, V.O., Teal, P.E.A., Sawa, P., Tumlinson, J.H., Borgemeister, C., and Torto, B. (2014). Plasmodium falciparum-infection increases *Anopheles gambiae* attraction to nectar sources and sugar uptake. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 217– 21. doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.12.022.
- Omondi, B.A., Majeed, S., and Ignell, R. (2015). Functional development of carbon dioxide detection in the maxillary palp of *Anopheles gambiae*. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 2482–8. doi.org/10.1242/jeb.116798.
- Peach, D.A., and Matthews, B.J. (2022). Sensory mechanisms for the shift from phytophagy to haematophagy in mosquitoes. *Curr. Opin. Insect. Sci.* 52, 100930. doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2022.100930.
- Peach, D.A.H., and Gries, G. (2020). Mosquito phytophagy–sources exploited, ecological function, and evolutionary transition to haematophagy. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 168, 120–36. doi.org/10.1111/eea.12852.
- Pelosi, P., Iovinella, I., Felicioli, A., and Dani, F.R. (2014). Soluble proteins of chemical communication: an overview across arthropods. *Front. physiol.* 5. doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00320.
- Ribeiro, J.M. (1995). Blood-feeding arthropods: live syringes or invertebrate pharmacologists? *Inf. A. and Dis.* 4, 143–52.
- Rich, P.R. (2003). The molecular machinery of Keilin's respiratory chain. *Biochem.* Soc. Trans. 31, 1095–105. doi.org/10.1042/bst0311095.
- Rio, R.V.M., Attardo, G.M., and Weiss, B.L. (2016). Grandeur alliances: symbiont metabolic integration and obligate arthropod hematophagy. *Trends Parasitol.* 32, 739–49. doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2016.05.002.
- Romero, A., and Schal, C. (2014). Blood constituents as phagostimulants for the bed bug Cimex lectularius L. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 552–7
- Rossignol, P.A., and McIver, S.B. (1977). Fine structure and role in behavior of sensilla on the terminalia of *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Morphol. 151, 419–37. doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1051510307.
- Rund, S.S.C., Bonar, N.A., Champion, M.M., Ghazi, J.P., Houk, C.M., Leming, M.T., Syed, Z., and Duffield, G.E. (2013). Daily rhythms in antennal protein and olfactory sensitivity in the malaria mosquito *Anopheles* gambiae. Sci. Rep. 3, 2494. doi.org/10.1038/srep02494.
- Sanchez, G.M., Alkhori, L., Hatano, E., Schultz, S.W., Kuzhandaivel, A., Jafari, S., Granseth, B., and Alenius, M. (2016). Hedgehog signaling regulates the ciliary transport of odorant receptors in *Drosophila*. *Cell Rep.* 14, 464–70. doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.12.059.
- Sánchez-Gracia, A., Vieira, F.G. and Rozas, J. (2009). Molecular evolution of the major chemosensory gene families in insects. *Heredity*. 103, 208–16. doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2009.55.
- Sanou, A., Nelli, L., Guelbéogo, W.M., Cissé, F., Tapsoba, M., Ouédraogo, P., Sagnon, N., Ranson, H., Matthiopoulos, J. and Ferguson, H.M. (2021). Insecticide resistance and behavioural adaptation as a response to long-

lasting insecticidal net deployment in malaria vectors in the cascades region of Burkina Faso. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 17569. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96759-w.

- Schenkel-Brunner, H. (1980). Blood-group-ABH antigens of human erythrocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 104, 529–34. doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1980.tb04455.x
- Schlein, Y., and Müller, G.C. (2010). Experimental control of *Phlebotomus papatasi* by spraying attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) on vegetation. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 104, 766–71. doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2010.08.014
- Schlein, Y., and Müller, G.C. (2015). Decrease of larval and subsequent adult Anopheles sergentii populations following feeding of adult mosquitoes from Bacillus sphaericus-containing attractive sugar baits. Parasites Vectors. 8, 244. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-015-0845-y
- Schmidt, C.W. (2005). Outsmarting olfaction: the next generation of mosquito repellents. *EHP*. 113, 468–71.
- Scott, T.W., and Takken, W. (2012). Feeding strategies of anthropophilic mosquitoes result in increased risk of pathogen transmission. *Trends Parasitol.* 28, 114–21. doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2012.01.001.
- Scott-Fiorenzano, J.M., Fulcher, A.P., Seeger, K.E., Allan, S.A., Kline, D.L., Koehler, P.G., Müller, G.C. and Xue, R.-D. (2017). Evaluations of dual attractant toxic sugar baits for surveillance and control of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* in Florida. *Parasites Vectors.* 10, 9. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1937-z.
- Sippy, R., Rivera, G.E., Sanchez, V., Heras, F., Morejón, B., Beltrán, E., Hikida, R.S., López-Latorre, M.A., Aguirre, A., Stewart-Ibarra, A.M., Larsen, D.A. and Neira, M. (2020). Ingested insecticide to control *Aedes aegypti:* developing a novel dried attractive toxic sugar bait device for intradomiciliary control. *Parasites Vectors.* 13, 78. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-020-3930-9
- Smith, J.J.B., and Friend, W.G. (1970). Feeding in *Rhodnius prolixus*: Responses to artificial diets as revealed by changes in electrical resistance. *J. Insect Physiol.* 16, 1709–20. doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(70)90270-2.
- Snodgrass, R.E. (1945). The Feeding Apparatus of Biting and Sucking Insects Affecting Man and Animals. *Ann. Entomol.* 38, 32–32. doi.org/10.1093/aesa/38.1.32.
- Sparks, J.T. and Dickens, J.C. (2017). Mini review: Gustatory reception of chemicals affecting host feeding in aedine mosquitoes. *Pestic Biochem Phys.* 142, 15–20. doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2016.12.009.
- Spitzen, J., Smallegange, R.C. and Takken, W. (2008). Effect of human odours and positioning of CO2 release point on trap catches of the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae* sensu stricto in an olfactometer. *Physiol. Entomol.* 33, 116–22. doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.2008.00612.x.
- Stevenson, P.C. (2020). For antagonists and mutualists: the paradox of insect toxic secondary metabolites in nectar and pollen. *Phytochem Rev.* 19, 603–614. doi.org/10.1007/s11101-019-09642-y.
- Stocker, R.F. (1994). The organization of the chemosensory system in *Drosophila* melanogaster: a review. Cell Tissue Res. 275, 3–26. doi.org/10.1007/BF00305372.

- Stone, C.M., and Foster, W.A. (2013). Plant-sugar feeding and vectorial capacity. In: Takken, W. and Koenraadt, C.J.M. (eds) *Ecology of parasite-vector interactions*. Academic Publishers. 35–79. doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-744-8 3.
- Swarup, S., Morozova, T.V., Sridhar, S., Nokes, M., and Anholt, R.R.H. (2014). Modulation of Feeding Behavior by Odorant-Binding Proteins in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Chem. Senses*, 39, 125–32. doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt061
- Taillebois, E., and Thany, S.H. (2022). The use of insecticide mixtures containing neonicotinoids as a strategy to limit insect pests: Efficiency and mode of action. *Pestic Biochem Phys*, 184, 105126. doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2022.105126.
- Takken, W. (1991). The Role of Olfaction in Host-Seeking of Mosquitoes: A Review. Int. J. Trop. Insect Sci. 12, 287–95. doi.org/10.1017/S1742758400020816.
- Takken, W., Dekker, T. and Wijnholds, Y.G. (1997). Odor-mediated flight behavior of Anopheles gambiae giles Sensu Stricto and An. stephensi liston in response to CO2, acetone, and 1-octen-3-ol (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Insect Behav. 10, 395–407. doi.org/10.1007/BF02765606.
- Takken, W., and Knols, B.G.J. (1999). Odor-Mediated Behavior of Afrotropical Malaria Mosquitoes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 44, 131–57. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.44.1.131.
- Tinoco, A.B., Barreiro-Iglesias, A., Yañez Guerra, L.A., Delroisse, J., Zhang, Y., Gunner, E.F., Zampronio, C.G., Jones, A.M., Egertová, M., and Elphick, M.R. (2021). Ancient role of sulfakinin/cholecystokinin-type signalling in inhibitory regulation of feeding processes revealed in an echinoderm. *eLife*. 10, e65667. doi.org/10.7554/eLife.65667.
- Tracey, W.D., Wilson, R.I., Laurent, G., and Benzer, S. (2003). painless, a *Drosophila* Gene Essential for Nociception. *Cell*, 113, 261–73. doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00272-1.
- Trpis, M., McClelland, G.A.H., Gillett, J.D., Teesdale, C., and Rao, T.R. (1973). Diel periodicity in the landing of *Aedes aegypti. Bull. World Health Organ*. 48, 623–29.
- Unwin, N. (2013). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and the structural basis of neuromuscular transmission: insights from Torpedo postsynaptic membranes. *Q. Rev. Biophys.* 46, 283–322. doi.org/10.1017/S0033583513000061.
- Vinauger, C., van Breugel, F., Locke, L., Tobin, K., Dickinson, M., Fairhall, A.,Akbari, O., and Riffell, J. (2019). Visual-olfactory integration in the human disease vector mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Curr. Biol.* 29, 2509–16. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2019.06.043.
- Vaughan, J.A., Noden, B.H., and Beier, J.C. (1991). Concentration of Human Erythrocytes by Anopheline Mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) During Feeding. J. Med. Entomol. 28, 780–6. doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/28.6.780.
- Vincent, J.F.V., and Wegst, U.G.K. (2004). Design and mechanical properties of insect cuticle. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 33, 187–99. doi.org/10.1016/j.asd.2004.05.006.

- Waage, J. (1979). The evolution of insect/vertebrate associations. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc. Lond.* 12, 187–224. doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1979.tb00055.x
- Wada-Katsumata, A., Robertson, H.M., Silverman, J. and Schal, C. (2018). Changes in the Peripheral Chemosensory System Drive Adaptive Shifts in Food Preferences in Insects. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12, 281. doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00281.
- Wada-Katsumata, A., Silverman, J. and Schal, C. (2013). Changes in taste neurons support the emergence of an adaptive behavior in cockroaches. *Science*. 340, 972–5. doi.org/10.1126/science.1234854.
- Watkins, W.M. (1966). Blood-Group Substances. Science. 152, 172–81. doi.org/10.1126/science.152.3719.172.
- Winegard, T.C (2019). *The Mosquito: A human history of our deadliest predator*. Dutton Publishers, Boston. p. 468.
- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A. (1999a). Sensitivity of the mosquito Aedes aegypti (Culicidae) labral apical chemoreceptors to blood plasma components. J. Insect Physiol. 45, 485–91. doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1910(98)00151-6.
- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A. (1999b). Sensitivity of the mosquito Aedes aegypti (Culicidae) labral apical chemoreceptors to phagostimulants. J. Insect Physiol. 45, 629–36. doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1910(98)00151-6.
- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A., (1999c). Factors modulating the blood feeding behavior and the electrophysiological responses of labralapical chemoreceptors to adenine nucleotides in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* (Culicidae). J. Insect Physiol. 45, 801-8. doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1910(98)00153-X
- Webster, B., Lacey, E.S., and Cardé, R.T. (2015). Waiting with bated breath: opportunistic orientation to human odor in the malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*, is modulated by minute changes in carbon dioxide concentration. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 41, 59–66. doi:10.1007/s10886-014-0542-x.
- WHO (2022). World Malaria Report 2022. Geneva: WHO. www.who.int/teams/global-malaria-programme/reports/world-malariareport-2022.
- WHO (2020). WHO-About vector-borne diseases. Geneva: WHO. http://www.who.int/campaigns/world-healthday/2014/vector-bornediseases/en/.
- Won Jung, J., Baeck, S.J., Perumalsamy, H., Hansson, B.S., Ahn, Y.J. and Kwon, H.W. (2015). A novel olfactory pathway is essential for fast and efficient blood-feeding in mosquitoes. *Sci. Rep.* 5, 13444. doi.org/10.1038/srep13444
- Wooding, M., Naudé, Y., Rohwer, E. and Bouwer, M. (2020). Controlling mosquitoes with semiochemicals: a review. *Parasites Vectors*, 13, 80. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-020-3960-3.
- World malaria report (2021). *World malaria report 2021*. Geneva: WHO. www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240040496.
- Xue, R.-D., Ali, A., Kline, D.L. and Barnard, D.R. (2008). Field evaluation of boric acid- and fipronil-based bait stations against adult mosquitoes. J. Am. Mosq. Control Assoc. 24, 415–8. doi.org/10.2987/5683.1.

- Xue, R.D., and Barnard, D.R. (2003). Boric acid bait kills adult mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J. Econ. Entomol. 96, 1559–62. doi.org/10.1093/jee/96.5.1559.
- Xue, R.D., Kline, D.L., Ali, A., and Barnard, D.R. (2006). Application of boric acid baits to plant foliage for adult mosquito control. J. Am. Mosq. Control. Assoc. 22, 497–500. doi.org/10.2987/8756971X(2006)22.
- Yee, D.A., Dean Bermond, C., Reyes-Torres, L.J., Fijman, N.S., Scavo, N.A., Nelsen, J., and Yee, S.H. (2022). Robust network stability of mosquitoes and human pathogens of medical importance. *Parasites Vectors*, 15, 216. doi.org/10.1186/s13071-022-05333-4.
- Zaspel, J.M. (2008). Skin-piercing and blood-feeding moths, Calyptra spp. (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae: Calpinae). In: Capinera, J.L. editor Encyclopedia of Entomology. Springer, Netherlands. pp 3383–85. doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6359-6 4221.
- Zeng, F., Xu, P., and Leal, W.S. (2019). Odorant receptors from *Culex quinquefasciatus* and *Aedes aegypti* sensitive to floral compounds. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 113, 103213. doi.org/10.1016/j.ibmb.2019.103213.
- Zhang, H., Wang, C., Zhang, K., Kamau, P.M., Luo, A., Tian, L., and Lai, R. (2022). The role of TRPA1 channels in thermosensation. *Cell Insight*. 1, 100059. doi.org/10.1016/j.cellin.2022.100059.
- Zhang, Y.V., Ni, J. and Montell, C. (2013). The molecular basis for attractive salttaste coding in *drosophila*. *Science*. 340, 1334–38. doi.org/10.1126/science.1234133
- Zhao, Y., Khallaf, M.A., Johansson, E., Dzaki, N., Bhat, S., Alfredsson, J., Duan, J., Hansson, B.S., Knaden, M. and Alenius, M. (2022). Hedgehog-mediated gut-taste neuron axis controls sweet perception in *Drosophila*. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 7810. doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35527-4.
- Ziegler, F., and Behrens, M. (2021). Bitter taste receptors of the common vampire bat are functional and show conserved responses to metal ions in vitro. *Proc. Royal Soc. B.* 288, 20210418. doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.0418.
- Zollner, G.E., Torr, S.J., Ammann, C., and Meixner, F.X. (2004). Dispersion of carbon dioxide plumes in African woodland: implications for host-finding by tsetse flies. *Physiol. Entomol.* 29. 381-394. doi.org/10.1111/j.0307-6962.2004.00399.x.

Popular science summary

The world is home to a vast array of mosquito species, with many causing mere annoyance through buzzing and irritating bites. However, a small proportion of mosquitoes play a significant role in impacting human health, the economy and productivity, by transmitting disease pathogens. *Anopheles* mosquitoes, for example, are associated with malaria, a disease that claims the lives of two children every minute, primarily affecting low-income developing countries. Despite ongoing efforts to combat mosquito-borne diseases, the current arsenal of control tools is limited, necessitating urgent development of supplementary and alternative approaches. Understanding the behaviour of disease vectors, particularly blood feeding in female adult mosquitoes is crucial for devising and developing effective control strategies.

After emerging from the pupae, mosquitoes initially seek sugar for energy, then transition to blood feeding, approximately three days later. The process of host seeking, by which a mosquito ultimately acquires a blood meal, involves using odours to locate the host from a distance, followed by landing on the host and using taste sensation to identify suitable blood cues. While much is known about olfaction, from which odour-guided tools have been developed, taste-based tools remain underexplored, although these may provide a novel perspective on vector control management.

The most advanced taste-based control tool presently is the attractive toxic sugar bait technology, capitalizing on the general sugar-seeking behaviour of mosquitoes. However, this technology has drawbacks, including slow toxic effects, non-selective toxicity, competition with natural sugar sources, and does not target obligate blood-feeding vectors. Our study focused on expanding the mechanistic knowledge about taste in two major mosquito vectors, the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*, and the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*. To this end, I used adenine nucleotide

artificial diets, previously identified as the major blood component that regulate feeding in a vast array of haematophagous vectors. Using a comparable experimental design, the feeding response of the two study mosquitoes to adenine nucleotide artificial diets was examined. The results demonstrated that both mosquito species exhibit a similar feeding pattern on the four naturally occurring adenine nucleotides with the highest preference for adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Moreover, this study demonstrated a novel bimodal feeding pattern of the two species. While previous studies have shown that heat modulates prediuresis, a process of passing out urine during blood feeding, in *Anopheles* species, this study also indicated a similar role for adenine nucleotides.

To demonstrate the feasibility of leveraging knowledge about bloodderived feeding stimulants for advancing novel blood-associated taste-based control tools for *Ae. aegypti*, ATP was used as the feeding driver for known feeding deterrents and toxicants. Compared to suing sucrose as the feeding driver, ATP was able to override the aversive effects of these compounds resulting in swift toxic effects. This difference in toxicity is likely due to the destination of the induced meals in the intestinal tract of the mosquito.

How ATP and other tastants are detected by the labrum is currently unknown. Using a molecular analytical approach, we analysed the expression of genes putatively involved in this process. This analysis revealed that newly emerged females invest more in the structure development of the labrum but as the mosquito develops the capacity to blood feed, a shift in the expression of genes associated with cellular life processes, as well as sensory functions, including putative ATP receptors, occurs providing the female with a sturdy and sensory competent organ for perforating skin and assessing blood quality.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Världen är hem för ett stort antal myggarter, där de flesta endast orsakar irritation genom sitt surrande och irriterande bett. En liten andel myggor spelar dock en betydande roll då de överför virus och parasiter som negativt påverkar människors hälsa, ekonomi och produktivitet. Exempelvis är *Anopheles*-myggor, starkt förknippade med malaria, en sjukdom som kräver två barns liv varje minut, främst i låginkomstländer. Trots pågående ansträngningar för att bekämpa myggburna sjukdomar är den nuvarande arsenalen av kontrollverktyg begränsad, vilket kräver akut utveckling av kompletterande och alternativa metoder. Att förstå beteendet hos sjukdomsvektorer, däribland hur de suger kan leda till utveckling av nya effektiva kontrollstrategier.

Efter att ha kläckts ur sin puppa, söker en honmygga efter en sockermåltid för att få den energi hon behöver för sin överlevnad och reproduktion, och övergår efter ca tre dagar att leta efter en blodmåltid. Denna process börjar med att honan letar efter en värd med hjälp av sitt doftsinne, landar, och sedan använder smaksinnet för att identifiera lämpliga blodsignaler. Idag känner vi till en hel del om vilka dofter som styr myggans beteende, men vår förståelse för hur smak styr de sista stegen i denna process är fortfarande begränsad. En ökad förståelse för dessa mekanismer kan ge ett nytt perspektiv på hur vi kan kontrollera sjukdomsspridande myggor.

Det mest avancerade smakbaserade kontrollverktyget för närvarande är Attractive Toxic Sugar Baits (ATSB) som drar nytta av att myggor lockas till och suger socker från exempelvis blommor. Denna teknologi har dock en del nackdelar, inklusive en långsam toxisk effekt, icke-selektiv toxicitet, inte effektiv i konkurrens med naturliga sockerkällor och är inte effektiv mot de insekter som livnär sig enbart på blod. Denna studie fokuserade på att utöka den mekanistiska kunskapen om smaksinnet hos två viktiga sjukdomsspridare, den afrikanska malariamyggan, *Anopheles gambiae*, och gula febermyggan, *Aedes aegypti*. I studien utvärderades funktionen av adenin-nukleotider, som är rikligt förekommande i blod, och som tidigare visats vara de huvudsakliga blodkomponenterna som reglerar beteendet hos ett stort antal blodsugande insekter. I en jämförande studie kunde jag visa på att båda myggarterna uppvisar en liknande preferens för de fyra naturligt förekommande adenin-nukleotiderna, med den högsta preferensen för adenosintrifosfat (ATP). Dessutom visade studien att myggor använder sig av ett bimodalt mönster då de livnär sig på adenin-nukleotider. Medan tidigare studier har visat att värme modulerar prediures, det vill säga utsöndring av urin, då *Anopheles* myggor suger i sig blod, visade denna studie också en liknande roll för adenin-nukleotider.

För att demonstrera möjligheten att utnyttja kunskap om de mekanismer som styr blodsugning för att utveckla ny teknologi likande ATSB för att bekämpa sjukdomsspridande myggor som *Ae. aegypti*, användes ATP för att trigga upptaget av toxiska substanser. Jämfört med socker, triggade ATP myggorna att suga i sig dessa måltider, vilket resulterade i snabba toxiska effekter. Denna skillnad i toxicitet beror sannolikt på var måltiden hamnande i myggans mag-tarmkanal.

Hur ATP och andra smakämnen i blod detekteras av det organ som penetrerar huden (labrum) är för närvarande okänt. Med hjälp av molekylära metoder identifierade jag de gener som är förmodat involverade i denna process. Denna analys visade att honor som precis kläckts från sin puppa investerar mer i den strukturella utvecklingen av detta organ, men allt eftersom myggan utvecklar förmågan att suga blod, ökar uttrycket av gener förknippade med cellulära livsprocesser, såväl som sensoriska funktioner, inklusive förmodade ATP-receptorer. Detta förser mygghonan med ett robust och sensoriskt kompetent organ för att penetrera hud och bedöma blodkvalitetet.

Acknowledgements

"Quitters never Win and Winners never Quit: Never measure the height of a mountain until you have reached the top, then you will see how low it was". Climbing on top of this PhD Mountain has had its very exciting moments, but also challenging moments that quitting would have been the easiest option. It has been upon reaching its peak that I realised how low the mountain is, however, the journey to the top would not have been possible if it were not for the unconditional support from family and friends within and outside my academic circles. First and foremost, heartfelt gratitude extends to my mentors, Sharon and Rickard, for granting me the opportunity to delve into the captivating world of mosquito research. Beyond tapping into your academic expertise, I have learnt invaluable lessons about the influence of patient leadership – leaders who believe in and steadfastly support their teams. Thank you for being invaluable team players on this challenging yet rewarding journey.

To Rickard, my co-supervisor, thanks for the guiding and timely experiment discussions and scientific writing sessions. Of course, I will not forget to ensure "alignment"! Special gratitude is owed to Sharon, my main supervisor, for her ceaseless availability, even extending beyond conventional work hours. Your ability to inspire positivity during challenging situations is infectious, and it has been a guiding light. To my cherished colleagues and friends from the Disease Vector Group, the Unit of Chemical Ecology at SLU, and the Plant Protection Department, you have been my second family away from home. While names may go unmentioned, your impact on both my personal and academic life has been profound. In extending appreciation to my Swedish senior citizen friends, Anders and Barbro, I am reminded of the generosity of your hearts and the joy of sharing the Swedish experience. Your reminders of cherished memories from my home country have been a comforting thread connecting past and present.

To my dad, my mom (no longer with us), brothers and sister, thanks for being such a blessing to me at every step of my academic journey. Saving the best for last is gratitude to my wife, Patience, and our children, Keisha and Nicole. You three have consistently been my wellspring of inspiration. Your prayers, encouragement, and unwavering moral and emotional support, have anchored me, allowing me to weather the storms along this journey to the mountaintop.
I

Chapter 17 Phagostimulants drive the acceptance of a blood meal in disease vectors

M. Lukenge, R. Ignell and S.R. Hill*

Disease Vector Group, Unit of Chemical Ecology, Department of Plant Protection Biology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 23054 Alnarp, Sweden; sharon.hill@slu.se

Abstract

Blood feeding is pivotal for the survival and reproduction of haematophagous arthropods, and is intimately linked to the transmission of vector-borne diseases. As such, understanding the dynamics of phagostimulation may identify targets, which can be used in future vector control. The behaviour leading up to the acceptance of a blood meal relies ultimately on the sense of taste, by which disease vectors assess the quality of the meal through blood-related phagostimulatory ligands. Adenylated nucleotides, often in combination with NaCl, NaHCO₃ and other blood-related factors, elicit pronounced, species-specific feeding responses in haematophagous arthropods, an effect reflected in the response of gustatory sensory neurons housed within hairlike sensilla on the mouthparts involved in blood feeding. While there has been progress made to understand the molecular mechanisms regulating the response to blood phagostimulants, there are yet many voids to fill. This chapter gives an account of the existing knowledge about the phagostimulatory dynamics leading up to and during blood-feeding activation in select disease vectors, with emphasis on the blood-related feeding stimulants/mechanisms, which potentially could be targeted for advancing alternative vector control tools.

Keywords: phagostimulation, adenylated nucleotides, purinoceptors, haematophagy, blood feeding

17.1 Introduction

Haematophagy (blood feeding) in arthropods has evolved independently at least five times, at the order level, within the past 150-200 million years, giving rise to over 400 haematophagous genera (Mans, 2011; Ribeiro, 1995). This specialised feeding behaviour has likely arisen as a result of niche expansion due to resource limitation, e.g. the need for a protein-rich meal for egg development and maturation (Azar and Nel, 2012; Huff, 1929; Klowden, 1995; Kogan, 1990; Lehane, 2005), or to salt acquisition, as seen in *Calyptra* moths (Zaspel, 2008). The blood-feeding habit has evolved through two separate pathways: pre-adaptation of the mouthparts for piercing and sucking/lapping, or a prolonged close association between the arthropod and a vertebrate blood host (Lehane, 2005). Irrespectively, most haematophagous arthropods display similar behavioural and physiological adaptations, as a result of convergent evolution (Adam, 1999; Snodgrass, 1945), reflected also in the sensory mechanisms by which these arthropods

detect and evaluate their blood meal (Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun, 1966; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun *et al.*, 1985a,b; Hosoi, 1958, 1959; Liscia *et al.*, 1987; Mitchell, 1976; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c).

In this chapter, we review the existing literature on the phagostimulatory dynamics in diseasevector arthropods, including the behavioural events leading up to blood feeding, the morphology of the related sensory apparatus, the blood phagostimulants and their varied phagostimulatory roles across arthropod species, as well as the current knowledge on the sensory and molecular detection of these phagostimulants. Throughout the chapter, mosquitoes will be used as the main exemplar species, due to the breadth of knowledge available for this family. Future perspectives, in which an in-depth understanding of blood phagostimulation may open new insights in viable avenues for the development of supplementary and/or alternative vector-control interventions, are discussed.

17.2 The behavioural events prior to blood feeding

Blood feeding is the ultimate behaviour following the attraction to (Hinze *et al.*, 2022), and the acceptance of, a host (Jones and Pilitt, 1973; Klowden, 1995; Lehane, 2005). This behaviour can be facultative or obligate, and sexually dimorphic (Lee, 1974; Lehane, 2005; Schofield and Dolling, 1993; Vickerman, 1985; Wenk and Raybould, 1972). Irrespective of these factors, blood feeding is a risky venture, which predisposes the arthropod to be attacked and/or predated on by the host. Since random probing for blood vessels increases the risk of a fatal counter response by the host, the process needs to be targeted and executed swiftly and/or stealthily. This process has been well described in mosquitoes, and will therefore be the main exemplar species to describe this behaviour.

Upon landing on the host, a female mosquito first makes contact using the tarsi, which are covered by contact chemosensory sensilla (Jones and Pilitt, 1973). Sensilla are hairlike structures housing the dendrites of sensory neurons, which protrude from the surface of the sensory organs (Figure 17.1) (Pitts *et al.*, 2022). Signals from the tarsal sensory neurons initiate the engagement of the mouthparts, which results in the sensilla on the labellum making contact with the skin to identify an optimal piercing site. The labellum is then retracted, exposing the fascicle, consisting of six specialised mouthparts (stylets) (Figure 17.1A) (Day, 1954; Lee, 1974; Newland *et al.*, 2009; Owen, 1963), which perforates the skin, probes for suitable blood vessels, and ultimately tastes the blood quality prior to its acceptance. Male mosquitoes do not blood feed, and their stylets are rudimentary with conspicuous maxillae and mandibles (Lee, 1974; Wahid *et al.*, 2002, 2007). Moreover, the female labrum is long and tapered with an open point, whereas that of males is shorter, terminating at an abrupt angle with a potentially vestigial, labium-fused immobile hypopharynx (Christophers, 1960; Wahid *et al.*, 2002, 2007). Of the six stylets in the female, the labrum is the specialised sensory organ for the detection of blood phagostimulants, and is apically shaped like a hypodermic needle (Figure 17.1A and B).

Prior to imbibing an acceptable meal, the female mosquito ensures a stable flow of blood by preventing platelet aggregation and coagulation, which are part of the haemostatic response of the host to skin and blood vessel puncture (Chan and Pardes, 2013; Gale, 2011). This is achieved



Figure 17.1. Mouthparts and sensory apparatus involved in blood feeding of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. (A) A schematic illustration of the fascicles, which pierce the skin and provide the tube through which the blood meal is imbibed, housed within the labellum of the mosquito proboscis (reproduced with permission from Gurera *et al.*, 2018). (B) Scanning electron micrograph of the distal tip of the labrum, together with the apical and sub-apical sensilla. (C) Schematic illustration of a taste sensillum housing four gustatory receptor neurons and one mechanosensory neuron, which provides an interface with contact chemoreceptive cues.

by secreting saliva, which contains general and species-specific anti-haemostatic and anaesthetic agents, thus minimising the risk of alerting the host during the blood meal (Isawa *et al.*, 2002; Islam *et al.*, 2019; Martin-Martin *et al.*, 2020; Ribeiro *et al.*, 1985). Once a suitable capillary bed and blood vessel are located, phagostimulants in the blood regulate subsequent feeding.

17.3 The structure and role of labral sensilla in blood feeding

The decision to accept or reject a blood meal is ultimately determined by the sensory response by the labrum. At the distal end of the female labrum are three pairs of sensilla. The most proximal pair of sensilla are mechanosensory campaniform sensilla (Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983), and are likely involved in the detection of diet flow (Lee, 1974). The apical and subapical paired sensilla are short, single-walled, apical pore sensilla, characteristic of gustatory sensilla (Figure 17.1B) (Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983). Each apical and subapical sensillum has four gustatory sensory neurons (GSNs), which terminate in the region of the tip pore, and one mechanosensitive neuron,

which terminates at the base of the sensillum (Figure 17.1C) (Lee, 1974; Mclver and Charlton, 1970; Newland *et al.*, 2009). The apical and subapical sensilla are involved in the assessment of a blood meal through the detection of phagostimulants in the blood, primarily adenylated nucleotides, NaCl, NaHCO₃ and albumin (Galun, 1967; Galun *et al.*, 1984, 1985b; Jové *et al.*, 2020; Lee, 1974; Won Jung *et al.*, 2015).

While various species use an array of taste cues to evaluate blood meal quality, each species uses only a fraction of these phagostimulants, corresponding to the small number of gustatory sensilla and GSNs on the labrum (Lee, 1974; Lee and Craig, 1983; Liscia *et al.*, 1993). Individually, or in combination, the key phagostimulant ligands activate sub-populations of the labral GSNs (Jové *et al.*, 2020; Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c). However, in *Aedes aegypti*, the ultimate decision to imbibe a meal occurs only when all the key ligands are present, suggesting that the ultimate decision to imbibe a blood meal is determined by a combinatorial response of these GSNs (Jové *et al.*, 2020).

17.4 Taste modalities associated with haematophagy

Critical assessment of blood quality in disease vectors is primarily dependent on three humanascribed taste modalities, including the canonical salty (e.g. NaCl) and sour (e.g. NaHCO₃), and a non-canonical modality based on the detection of adenylated nucleotides (Galun, 1967; Galun *et al.*, 1963, 1985b; Hosoi, 1958, 1959; Jové *et al.*, 2020). Of note, the other canonical umami (protein), sweet and bitter tastes do not appear to be required for blood meal acceptance (Gonzales and Hansen, 2016; Kogan, 1990). While we recognise that this terminology is anthropocentric, and that in arthropods these ligands may signal through multiple channels, we continue to use these terms so that the readers are able to refer back to the existing body of literature. In this section, we review the current knowledge on the detection of the key ligands within these taste modalities, and how they stimulate feeding, predominantly in mosquitoes.

17.4.1 Blood phagostimulatory ligands

The ligands, which activate blood feeding, derive primarily from the cellular components of whole blood (Galun *et al.*, 1985a; Hosoi, 1959), particularly the phagostimulants, which are liberated from erythrocytes/red blood cells (RBCs) (Friend and Smith, 1974; Galun, 1967; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun *et al.*, 1984, 1985a; Hosoi, 1959). However, while plasma components are not generally as potent as the cellular components, these have been reported to be phagostimulatory in e.g. *Anopheles* mosquitoes (Galun *et al.*, 1985a), triatomines (Friend and Smith, 1982) and sandflies (Ready, 1978). The variable contribution of these phagostimulants to induce blood feeding among species is discussed below.

A wide array of nucleosides and nucleotides have been evaluated and observed to be variably stimulatory among vectors, with adenylated nucleotides, i.e. adenosine triphosphate (ATP), adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and adenosine monophosphate (AMP), shown to be the most common feeding stimulants (Figure 17.2) (Friend and Smith, 1974; Galun *et al.*, 1963; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992). Adenosine triphosphate is identified as the key phagostimulant



Figure 17.2. Schematic illustration of the major adenylated nucleotide phagostimulants and their related analogues. (A) adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), (B) adenosine 5'-diphosphate (ADP), (C) adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP) and (D) cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate (cAMP). (E) adenylylmethylenediphosphate (AMP-PCP), (F) adenylylimidodiphosphate (AMP-PNP) and (G) 2'3'-dideoxyadenosine 5'-triphosphate. (H) (*E*)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl-pyrophosphate (HMBPP) is a non-nucleotide intermediate product of the isoprenoid biosynthetic pathway of microbes and apicomplexans.

for several mosquito species (Galun, 1967; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1963; Hosoi, 1959; Liscia *et al.*, 1993), triatomine bugs (Friend and Smith, 1974, 1982), horse flies (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Lall 1969), bed bugs (Romero and Schal, 2014), tsetse flies (Galun and Margalit, 1969; Mitchell, 1976), rat fleas (Galun, 1966), stable flies (Ascoli-Christensen *et al.*, 1990), ticks (Galun and Kindler, 1968) and blowflies (Liscia *et al.*, 1987).

Adenosine triphosphate is a key component in metabolic processes, and is abundant within cellular components of blood (Rich, 2003), and thus, a reliable signal of an acceptable blood meal. This phagostimulant is liberated into plasma as an inflammatory marker (Di Virgilio and Vuerich, 2015; Trautmann, 2009), upon mechanical shearing of endothelial and blood cells during labral perforation, as well as during vasoconstriction (Born and Kratzer, 1984; Forsyth *et al.*, 2011). While ATP is a reliable signal, it is also an ephemeral one, being highly labile (Fang *et al.*, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2005), which has motivated investigation into more stable analogues as an avenue for alternative vector control tools, e.g. as a driver to induce engorging in attractive bait control agent delivery systems (see conclusions) (Ascoli-Christensen *et al.*, 1990; Friend and Smith, 1982; Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1963). While promising stimulatory analogues to ATP have been assessed in various species (Friend and Smith, 1982; Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Galun *et al.*, 1985a,b; Hosoi, 1959; Romero and Schal, 2014), further exploration of thermally and/or environmentally stable analogues is necessary to make these a cost-effective viable option.

17.4.2 Variation in nucleotide structure affects phagostimulation

Adenvlated nucleotides have three main structural groups affecting phagostimulation, i.e. the phosphate group, the amino group on the purine (C6) and the hydroxyl groups on the ribose sugar (C2-OH and C3-OH). The addition or removal of phosphate groups to/from ATP, generating ADP, AMP or adenosine tetraphosphate $(A_{tota}P)$, demonstrates a positive correlation between feeding stimulation and the length of the phosphate chain in several blood-feeding arthropods (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun et al., 1963, 1985b). Complete removal of the phosphate groups abolishes phagostimulation in all blood-feeding arthropods, except for Simulium venestum, which is responsive to adenosine (Sutcliffe and McIver, 1979). Increasing the stability of the phosphate chain using non-hydrolysable ATP analogues, e.g. adenylylimidodiphosphate (AMP-PNP) and adenylylmethylenediphosphate (AMP-PCP) (Figure 17.2), enhances phagostimulation in Ae. aegypti (Galun et al., 1985b) and Tabanus nigrovittatus compared with ATP (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983). This demonstrates that stimulation by ATP is not an energy-dependent event, i.e. does not require energy to be released from the hydrolysis of ATP (Galun et al., 1985b). Rather, ATP and its analogues act as ligands, with the direct correlation between the intensity of phagostimulation and the strength of binding affinity (Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun et al., 1985b). Insertion of imido and methylene groups between select phosphate groups increases the distance between the amino group (NH₂) and the phosphate group (Galun et al., 1985b). While this distance enhances the binding affinity and potency of the adenine nucleotides, the complete removal of the NH₂ group from C6 of the adenine purine breaks this key bond with the receptor, rendering the ligands inactive, as evidenced in Aedes and Culex mosquitoes (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun et al., 1985b).

The removal of the hydroxyl groups from the ribose sugar at either C2 (2'd ATP) or C3 (3'd ATP) generates analogues that are approximately half as potent as ATP in eliciting phagostimulation in *Ae. aegypti* (Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun *et al.*, 1985b), similar to the replacement of the ribose group with its stereoisomer arabinosyl (Galun *et al.*, 1985b). However, removal of both hydroxyl groups (2',3'-dideoxyadenosine triphosphate) from the ribose increases phagostimulation in *Ae. aegypti* 10-fold compared to ATP (Galun *et al.*, 1985b). The structural changes in 2',3'-dideoxyadenosine triphosphate further exposes the phosphate chain, and thereby likely increase the ability of the ligand to rotate in a putative receptor pocket, thus improving binding affinity of the amino group and the terminal phosphates (Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun *et al.*, 1985b). *Culex* and *Aedes* mosquitoes respond differentially to these structural changes in ATP (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992). In contrast to the behaviour of *Ae. aegypti*, feeding stimulation in *Culex* spp. is abolished with the removal of both hydroxyl groups (2'd ATP or 3'dATP) (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1988). Therefore, while adenylated nucleotides are important in phagostimulation leading to blood meal acceptance, the mechanism by which this is achieved varies among blood-feeding arthropods.

While ATP is the most potent naturally existing nucleotide in a wide variety of genera, there are exceptions to this rule. For example, ADP is the key phagostimulant in select mosquito species and the black fly *S. venestum* (Table 17.1). Moreover, the sensitivity to ATP may differ between strains,

Table 17.1. The ranked sensitivity to adenosine phosphates and their analogues of select haematophagic
disease vectors.

Species	Ranking ¹	References	
Aedes aegypti	$AMP-PNP > AMP-PCP > A_{retra}P > ATP > ADP > AMP > cAMP$	Galun (1967); Galun <i>et al.</i> (1985b)	
Glossina palpalis	$\begin{array}{l} A_{\text{tetra}}P \geq \text{ATP} = 2'\text{dATP} \geq \text{ADP} = 2'\text{dADP} > \text{AMP-PNP} > 3'\text{dATP} \geq \text{ddATP} \geq 2'3'\text{ddATP} > \\ \text{AMP-PCP} > \text{adenosine 5' triphosphate 2',3'\text{dialdehyde} > \text{AMP-CPP} \geq \text{AMP} \end{array}$	Galun and Kabayo (1988)	
Tabanus nigrovitattus	$\label{eq:ATP} \begin{array}{l} ATP > ADP > 2'dATP > ATP-y-S = 2'dADP > AMP-PCP = A_{_{tetra}}P > AMP-PNP = 2'3'dd - ATP = AMP = APS \end{array}$	Friend and Stoffolano (1983)	
Rhodnius prolixus	$A_{tetra}P > ATP > AMP-PNP > ADP > AMP-PCP > cAMP > AMP$	Friend and Smith (1982)	
Culex pipiens	ADP > ATP > AMP-PNP > AMP-PCP > AMP	Galun <i>et al.</i> (1988); Galun and Vardimon-Friedman (1992); Liscia <i>et al.</i> (1993)	
Culiseta inornata	ADP > AMP-PNP > ATP > AMP-PCP >> AMP >> AMP-S	Galun <i>et al.</i> (1988)	
Simulium venestum	ADP > ATP > AMP > Adenosine > cAMP	Sutcliffe and McIver (1979)	
¹ AMP-PNP = adenylylimidodiphosphate; AMP-PCP = adenylyl methylenediphosphate; 2'3'ddATP = 2'3'-dideoxyadenosine 5'-triphosphate; AMP-			

 $^{\circ}$ AMP-PNP = adenyiyimidodipnosphate; AMP-PCP = adenyiyi metnyienedipnosphate; 2 3 ddATP = 2 3 -ddeoxyadenosine 5 -triphosphate; AMP-CPP = a,β-methyleneadenosine 5'-triphosphate; ATP-y-S = adenosine-5'-(γ-thio)-triphosphate; APS = adenosine-phosphosulfate.

as demonstrated for *Ae. aegypti* (Galun *et al.*, 1984, 1985b). While adenylated nucleotides are key phagostimulants in disease vectors, their potency is affected by various structural modifications, and the dissolving solvent is a key factor known to modulate and synergise the response during blood feeding. A plausible explanation for the interspecific differences in sensitivity to ATP and ADP may be linked to an adaptation of some species to increase the rate of blood uptake, and limit the duration of probing, in response to increased predation risk (Ribeiro *et al.*, 1985). For example, ornithophilic mosquitoes (e.g. *Culiseta inornata, Culex pipiens* and *Culex univitattus*) are more sensitive to ADP than ATP (Table 17.1).

17.4.3 Other phosphate-related phagostimulants in blood

A number of non-adenylated and non-nucleotide phosphate-rich ligands have been demonstrated to elicit significant phagostimulation in triatomines and malaria vectors (Emami *et al.*, 2017; Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun *et al.*, 1985a). Phosphorylated compounds, which modify oxygen-haemoglobin affinity in birds (phytic acid) and mammals (2,3-diphosphoglyceric acid) are highly phagostimulatory in triatomines (Friend and Smith, 1982). In fact, *Rhodnius prolixus* appears to be flexible in which phosphate components in blood are required for phagostimulation, as pyrophosphates and phosphate buffers, in addition to the aforementioned compounds, can induce feeding (Friend and Smith, 1982). Moreover, a phosphorylated compound found in the isoprenoid 2-*C*-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate (MEP) biosynthetic pathway of apicomplexan parasites, *(E)*-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl-pyrophosphate (HMBPP), has been found to be released into the blood by the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*, and is highly phagostimulatory in *Anopheles* spp., *Culex* spp. and *Ae. aegypti* (Emami *et al.*, 2017; Stromsky *et al.*, 2021). Thus, while the presence and/or length of the phosphate group(s) appears crucial for phagostimulation, variation in the stimulation is species dependent.

17.4.4 Salty and sour taste modalities

Non-cellular components of blood, i.e. plasma, contain salts of various forms, which are classified among the salty and sour taste modalities. Sodium chloride ensures the isotonic balance in blood, and stimulates feeding in most haematophagous arthropods, e.g. mosquitoes (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1985a,b; Hosoi, 1959; Liscia *et al.*, 1993), kissing bugs (Friend and Smith, 1974; Guerenstein and Nunez, 1994; Pontes *et al.*, 2017; Smith and Friend, 1970) sand flies (Ready, 1978) and tsetse flies (Galun and Kabayo, 1988). For additional information, please see Chapter 18 (Barrozo *et al.*, 2022). Sodium bicarbonate, and to a lesser extent other phosphate buffers used as replacements for plasma in RBC cultures, enhance phagostimulation (Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun, 1967; Galun *et al.*, 1985b; Romero and Schal, 2014). A plausible explanation for this is the release of soluble carbon dioxide, through the dissociation of the buffer (Fischler *et al.*, 2007; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun *et al.*, 1985b; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c), which enhances probing in the vectors (Jové *et al.*, 2020; Khan and Maibach, 1966). While these taste modalities are central in the blood matrix, individually these do not elicit feeding in most vectors.

17.4.5 Synergy among phagostimulants

Mixtures of ATP, NaCl, NaHCO₃ and other blood components elicit pronounced feeding responses, similar to that of whole blood, in several species of mosquitoes (Friend, 1985; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun *et al.*, 1985b; Hosoi, 1959; Jové *et al.*, 2020; Moskalyk and Friend, 1994; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c), tsetse flies (Galun and Margalit, 1969), triatomines (Friend and Smith, 1982; Guerenstein and Nunez, 1994; Pontes *et al.*, 2017; Smith and Friend, 1970), tabanids (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Lall, 1969) and bedbugs (Romero and Schal, 2014). Depending on the taxa, however, the importance of individual phagostimulants in the mixtures may vary. For example, Galun and colleagues (1985a) demonstrated that a mixture of ATP, NaCl and NaHCO₃ elicited minor or negligible increase in feeding over NaCl and NaHCO₃ alone in several *Anopheles* species, whereas in *Ae. aegypti*, the feeding response to ATP, NaCl and NaHCO₃ was shown to be dose-dependent (Galun *et al.*, 1985b). In stable flies, however, the addition of ATP reduces the potency of saline (Ready, 1978). The fact that several anophelines readily engorge on plasma, with or without ATP, suggests an evolutionary adaptation of other accessible ligands in the blood plasma (Galun *et al.*, 1985a).

Evaluation of blood fractions containing either cellular components or higher molecular weight substances, e.g. albumin, supports the role of these factors as additional phagostimulants (Galun *et al.*, 1984, 1985a; Hosoi, 1959). In fact, several vector species will not readily gorge on plasma alone, but require the presence of either the cellular component of the blood, or its component parts, e.g. culicine mosquitoes (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1988; Hosoi, 1959), tsetse flies (Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun and Kabayo, 1988) and tabanids (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Lall, 1969; Stoffolano, 1990). In *Ae. aegypti*, ATP-supplemented platelet-poor plasma induces higher feeding rates than either ATP-supplemented filtered plasma or ATP in saline alone (Galun *et al.*, 1984). This suggests that plasma contains higher molecular weight substances, e.g. albumin, which improves phagostimulation. The addition of serum albumin to the ATP, NaCl and NaHCO₃.

plasma (Galun *et al.*, 1984). A similar role of albumin has been demonstrated for *Anopheles dirus* (Galun *et al.*, 1985b). There is, therefore, an increased support for combinatorial coding playing a role in phagostimulation and its resulting blood-feeding behaviour.

17.5 Other factors affecting phagostimulation

Blood includes various components in addition to those discussed above, which directly or indirectly modulate phagostimulation, and further potentiate the effects of circulating phagostimulants. Examples of such factors include the intrinsic ionic environment, blood group antigens and the size of the RBCs.

17.5.1 Intrinsic ionic environment

Phagostimulation is more pronounced when ATP is dissolved in solution with inorganic chlorides, particularly NaCl and CaCl₂ (Hosoi, 1958). Isosmotic NaCl is the most effective electrolyte in this regard (Galun, 1967; Galun and Kindler, 1968; Galun *et al.*, 1963; Hosoi, 1959). The salivary enzyme apyrase, which degrades nucleotides, however, requires divalent ions, i.e. calcium and magnesium, to act as a cofactor for its activity (Friend and Stoffolano, 1983; Galun *et al.*, 1985b). Thus, ATP and other nucleotides, are degraded during feeding in the presence of calcium and magnesium ions, which reduces the overall potential of adenylated phagostimulants. Therefore, it is not only ligands that directly affect phagostimulation during blood feeding, but also the physical and chemical properties of the diet.

17.5.2 Blood group antigens

Mosquitoes demonstrate selective landing and feeding preferences based on the ABO blood types, defined by the presence or absence of antigens on the red blood cells (Watkins, 1966; Schenkel-Brunner, 1980). *Aedes aegypti* (Wood, 1976), *Ae. albopticus* (Shirai *et al.*, 2004) and *Anopheles* spp. (Anjomruz *et al.*, 2014b) preferentially select and feed on people with blood group O more often than on those with either A or B antigens. The mechanism by which mosquitoes are able to discriminate among blood type meals, and why, is so far unclear, especially in the light of the lack of a clear fitness advantage associated with this preference (Anjomruz *et al.*, 2014a; Prasadini *et al.*, 2019; Wood, 1974; Wood *et al.*, 1972). The likely explanation for this meal preference may relate to the high level of the H antigen in type O blood (Blancher, 2013; Yamamoto, 1995), which may have been selected for over evolutionary time.

17.5.3 The source and size of red blood cells

Mosquitoes access the intracellular protein content within the RBCs through haemolysis, either by enzymatic lysis in the gut or by mechanical shearing as the RBCs pass through the cibarial armature, situated anterior of the foregut (Coluzzi *et al.*, 1982). The type of cibarial armature is species dependent, with the more derived armature leading to enhanced haemolysis (Chadee *et al.*, 1996; Coluzzi *et al.*, 1982). In addition, the size of the RBCs varies considerably across the vertebrate hosts (Gulliver, 1870; Martinho, 2012; Wintrobe, 1933), and mosquitoes with derived armatures are more likely to be able to make use of the nucleated blood from birds (e.g. *Culex* spp.) and reptiles (Henning, 1972), compared to those with less developed cibaria (e.g. *Anopheles*) (Coluzzi *et al.*, 1982; Sinton and Covell, 1927). This type of morphological adaptation, along with the bore diameter of the labrum are potential drivers for host preference.

17.6 Mechanism underlying the detection of phagostimulants

Phagostimulants are detected by receptors on the dendritic surface of GSNs housed in the apical and sub-apical labral sensilla in mosquitoes (Figure 17.1) (Galun *et al.*, 1985b; Jové *et al.*, 2020; Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c) and the labella of pool feeders, e.g. tsetse flies (Ascoli-Christensen *et al.*, 1990; Michtell, 1976; Rice *et al.*, 1973). The physiological response of these GSNs to various phagostimulants has been characterised and shown to be age- and state-dependent (Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c).

17.6.1 Physiological responses of labral sensilla in mosquitoes

The current understanding of the sensory basis for blood-phagostimulant detection is based primarily on fundamental analyses of the labral-apical sensilla of mosquitoes (Jové et al., 2020; Liscia et al., 1993; Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b,c). The labral sensilla in mosquitoes house four GSNs (Figure 17.1C), each of which has a different tuning profile. Functional imaging of the labral tip of Ae. aegypti, including the apical and sub-apical gustatory sensilla, revealed that each of the four types of GSNs have unique tuning profiles to ATP, NaHCO, and NaCl, or a mixture of NaHCO., NaCl and glucose (Jové et al., 2020). While all GSNs respond to adenylated nucleotides (Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b,c), each differs in sensitivity reflecting the variation in behavioural activity to these ligands (Galun et al., 1985a,b; Hosoi, 1959). A mixture of ATP, NaHCO., NaCl and glucose stimulates the labral GSNs in a manner similar to blood (Jové et al., 2020). While the results obtained by functional imaging reflect that which was previously found using electrophysiology in Ae. aegypti (Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b,c), there appears to be significant variation in tuning profiles across species (Mitchell, 1976; Liscia et al., 1993; Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b,c), as has also been observed in behaviour (Friend and Stoffolano, 1990; Friend and Smith, 1982; Galun, 1967; Galun and Kabayo, 1988; Galun and Margalit, 1969; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun et al., 1985a,b; Hosoi, 1959). While interaction between stimuli is not explicit in the imaging results, presentation of ATP in combination with either saline, bicarbonate buffer or sugar in electrophysiological studies resulted in the potentiation or dampening of the response to ATP alone in several GSNs across species (Ascoli-Christensen et al., 1990; Jové et al., 2020; Liscia et al., 1993; Werner-Reiss et al., 1999a,b,c). These studies emphasise that the combinatorial code relayed by the labral GSNs is reflected in the feeding behaviour of the different vectors, as is the speciesdependent variability in these responses.

17.6.2 Gustatory plasticity

Gustatory plasticity in blood feeding is exemplified by the variable behavioural responses to blood or blood-related phagostimulants, and is influenced by both intrinsic, e.g. age (Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c), and previous experience and learning (Mwandawiro *et al.*, 2000; Tomberlin *et al.*, 2006;

Vantaux *et al.*, 2014), as well as extrinsic factors, e.g. heat (Bodin *et al.*, 2009; Fresquet and Lazzari, 2011). In *Ae. aegypti*, the sensitivity of the labral apical GSNs increases as the mosquito ages, i.e. with a higher neural response rate in females 17 days post-emergence compared with 24 h post-emergence, while there is no response to ATP 5 h post-emergence (Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c). These changes in blood-feeding behaviour reflect the developmental propensity of mosquito to host seek (Brown *et al.*, 1994; Davis, 1984). While the modulatory mechanism regulating host seeking has received some attention, identifying neuropeptides involved in regulating the refraction to host odour (Christ *et al.*, 2018; Duvall *et al.*, 2019), additional research is required to elucidate the role of these, and/or other neuromodulators, in regulating the gustatory system in mosquitoes.

17.6.3 Molecular mechanism of blood phagostimulation

While a variety of chemosensory receptors, including gustatory receptors (GRs), ionotropic receptors (IRs), odorant receptors (ORs), transient receptor potentials (Trps) and pickpocket receptors (Ppks) (Ruel and Bohbot, 2022), have been shown to be expressed in the fascicles of mosquitoes (Choo *et al.*, 2015; Jové *et al.*, 2020; Won Jung *et al.*, 2015), the molecular mechanism underlying the detection of blood phagostimulants remains largely unknown. Here, we provide a short précis of the current understanding of phagostimulant detection by the labrum in mosquitoes.

17.6.4 Salty and sour taste modalities

Salty and sour are the only canonical taste modalities, which so far have been associated with phagostimulation in haematophagous insects (Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Galun *et al.*, 1985b; Hosoi, 1958; Pontes *et al.*, 2017; Smith and Friend, 1970; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c). While the mosquito labral apical sensilla house both low and high salt-sensitive GSNs (Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999c), a chemosensory receptor gene encoding a putative salt receptor has yet to be identified in the labrum. Proposed to modulate both the appetitive low salt sensing (Zhang *et al.*, 2013), and the high salt aversive response in *Drosophila* (Lee *et al.*, 2017), the ionotropic co-receptor IR76b, is widely expressed in various taste-associated organs, including the mosquito stylet, and is thus a candidate receptor for salt sensing and blood feeding in the labral gustatory neurons (Ye *et al.*, 2021). Similarly, the pickpocket receptor AePPK301 responds to water and low salinity, and has been demonstrated to be involved in oviposition-site choice in *Ae. aegypti*, however transcriptome analysis does not indicate its expression in the labrum (Jové *et al.*, 2020; Matthews *et al.*, 2018, 2019). For an in-depth discussion on salt detection, please see Barrozo *et al.* (2022).

The sour taste modality is mediated by soluble carbon dioxide (CO_2) , which is present in blood predominantly as HCO_3^- (Centor, 1990; Xu *et al.*, 2020). A triad of mosquito gustatory receptors involved in CO_2 detection have been postulated to also detect bicarbonates (Jones *et al.*, 2007; Kwon *et al.*, 2007), however, none of these subunits are reported to be expressed in the labrum (Jové *et al.*, 2020). While IR56d, as well as the IR co-receptors, IR25a and IR76b, have been reported to be involved in the detection of carbonation in *Drosophila* (Sánchez-Alcañiz *et al.*, 2018), these IRs also have not been reported to be expressed in the labrum of mosquitoes (Jové *et al.*, 2020).

However, the bicarbonate-responsive neurons in the labrum do express an IR, *IR7f*, in *Ae. aegypti*, which hitherto has not been shown to be carbonate-sensitive (Jové *et al.*, 2020). Further analysis is required to elucidate the molecular mechanism for the salty and sour modalities in the labrum.

17.6.5 Adenylated nucleotides

The molecular mechanism underlying the binding and detection of adenylated nucleotides is in the process of being described, with individual components of the pathway identified and/or characterised (Mitchell, 1976; Galun *et al.*, 1985a, b; Galun and Vardimon-Friedman, 1992; Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c; Jové *et al.*, 2020; Martin-Martin *et al.*, 2020). The recent identification of a member of the salivary protein D7 family, CxD7L1, in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* as an adenosine nucleotide binding protein, besides inhibiting haemostatic vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation, has increased our knowledge of the families of molecules involved in blood feeding on mammalian hosts (Martin-Martin *et al.*, 2020). This study suggests a role for these binding proteins in degradation protection, transport and detection of ATP and ADP by GSNs in the labrum, similar to the role of odorant binding proteins in the olfactory system of insects (Vogt and Riddiford, 1981; Leite *et al.*, 2009). While the identity of the membrane-bound receptors for adenylated nucleotides in arthropod vectors is unknown, several studies have inferred the structure of the putative receptor based on ligand and agonist activation of the GSNs in comparison with vertebrate purinoceptors (Liscia *et al.*, 1993; Mitchell, 1976; Werner-Reiss *et al.*, 1999a,b,c).

Vertebrate purinoceptors are transmembrane receptors activated by extracellular ATP and purine ligands (Burnstock, 1972, 1980), and are subclassified as P1 and P2 depending on their response to variations in the length of phosphate chains, and a preference for either adenosine or ATP/ ADP, respectively (Burnstock and Kennedy, 1985). The P, receptors may be further classified (Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1994; Gordon, 1986; Murgia et al., 1993), including the ligand-gated ion channels (P_{2x}) (Benham and Tsien, 1987) and the G-protein-coupled receptors (P_{2x}) (Cusack, 1993), which are relevant for most haematophagous insects (Galun et al., 1988). For example, *G. palpalis* has a potency order of $A_{tetra}P \ge ATP = 2'ATP \ge ADP = 2'ADP > AMP-PNP > 3'ATP$ \geq 2' 3' ddATP > AMP-PCP > AMP-CPP >> AMP and is categorised as a P₂ receptor (Galun *et al.*, 1988). In addition, *Stomoxys calcitrans* has a potency order of CH₂-S-ATP = ATP > ADP > AMP > adenosine (Ascoli-Christensen et al., 1991) and is categorised as a P_{2x} receptor (Burnstock, 1972). However, there are exceptions to the vertebrate classification of purinoceptors, e.g. Cx. pipiens and *Cu. inornata*, which have a uniquely strong response to ADP, and are inhibited by changes in the length of the phosphate chain (Hosoi, 1959; Galun et al., 1988; Liscia et al., 1993). Thus, these vectors either lack the P₁ (>AMP) and P₂ (>ATP) purinoceptor type system or express both types of receptors, the additive effect of which would result in the demonstrated response to ADP (Galun et al., 1988). The P_{yy} receptor type is not indicated to be present in mosquitoes. With improved functional genomic tools, and increasing availability of curated vector genomes, we are likely on the cusp of identifying the vector arthropod purinoceptors.

17.7 Conclusions

Knowledge concerning blood-related phagostimulants provides a mechanistic insight into vector feeding and viable avenues for the improvement and development of complementary vector control tools. To this end, identification of stable analogues of known blood phagostimulants, e.g. ATP, may enhance arrestment, acceptance and diet uptake to increase the efficacy of existing control tools, such as attractive toxic sugar baits (Barbosa *et al.*, 2019; Maia *et al.*, 2018; Revay *et al.*, 2014). By varying these analogues, these tools may be targeted against specific species using a variety of control agents, which may also be tailored to different species or taxa, e.g. RNA interference (Pillai *et al.*, 2017; Whitten, 2019). Identification of such analogues may be benefited by an enhanced understanding of the molecular and physiological characteristics of the gustatory system of disease vectors from an evolutionary perspective. Ultimately, much remains to be explored concerning taste associated with haematophagy and understanding its underlying mechanisms might bring new invaluable insights that can be used for vector control.

References

- Abbracchio, M.P. and Burnstock, G., 1994. Purinoceptors: are there families of P2X and P2Y purinoceptors? Pharmacology and Therapeutics 64: 445-475. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-7258(94)00048-4
- Adam, T.S., 1999. Hematophagy and hormone release. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 92: 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/92.1.1
- Anjomruz, M., Oshaghi, M.A., Pourfatollah, A.A., Sedaghat, M.M., Raeisi, A., Vatandoost, H., Khamesipour, A., Mohammad, R.A., Mohtarami, F., Akbarzadeh, K., Rafie, F. and Besharati, M., 2014a. Preferential feeding success of laboratory reared *Anopheles stephensi* mosquitoes according to ABO blood group status. Acta Tropica 140: 118-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2014.08.012
- Anjomruz, M., Oshaghi, M.A., Sedaghat, M.M., Raeisi, A., Vatandoost, H., Khamesipour, A., Mohammad, R.A., Mohtarami, F., Rafie, F., Besharati, M., Yeryan, M., Bakhshi, H. and Nikpour, F., 2014b. ABO blood groups of residents and the ABO host choice of malaria vectors in southern Iran. Experimental Parasitology 136: 63-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2013.11.005
- Ascoli-Christensen, A., Sutcliffe, J.F. and Albert, P.J., 1990. Effect of adenine nucleotides on labellar chemoreceptive cells of the stable fly, *Stomoxys calcitrans*. Journal of Insect Physiology 36: 339-344. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(90)90015-8
- Ascoli-Christensen, A., Sutcliffe, J.F. and Albert, P.J., 1991. Purinoceptors in blood feeding behaviour in the stable fly, Stomoxys calcitrans. Physiological Entomology 16: 145-152. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1991.tb00550.x
- Azar, D. and Nel, A., 2012. Evolution of hematophagy in 'non-biting midges' (Diptera: Chironomidae). Terrestrial Arthropod Reviews 5: 15-34. https://doi.org/10.1163/187498312X620577
- Barbosa, D.S., Rodrigues, M.M.S. and Silva, A.A.E., 2019. Evaluation of attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB) against Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) in laboratory. Tropical Biomedicine 36: 578-586.
- Barrozo, R.B., Latorre Estivalis, J.M. and Ortega-Insaurralde, I., 2022. Salt perception in disease vectors. Chapter 18. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G. and Hill, S.R. (eds.) Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands, pp. 489-509. https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9_18
- Benham, C.D. and Tsien, R.W., 1987. A novel receptor-operated Ca²⁺-permeable channel activated by ATP in smooth muscle. Nature 328: 275-278. https://doi.org/10.1038/328275a0

- Blancher, A., 2013. Evolution of the ABO supergene family. International Society of Blood Transfusion Science Series 8: 201-206. https://doi.org/10.1111/voxs.12044
- Bodin, A., Vinauger, C. and Lazzari, C.R., 2009. State-dependency of host-seeking in *Rhodnius prolixus*: the postecdysis time. Journal of Insect Physiology 55: 574-579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2009.02.004
- Born, G.V. and Kratzer, M.A., 1984. Source and concentration of extracellular adenosine triphosphate during haemostasis in rats, rabbits and man. The Journal of Physiology 354: 419-429. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1984.sp015385
- Brown, M.R., Klowden, M.J., Crim, J.W., Young, L., Shrouder, L.A. and Lea, A.O., 1994. Endogenous regulation of mosquito host-seeking behavior by a neuropeptide. Journal of Insect Physiology 40: 399-406. https://doi. org/10.1016/0022-1910(94)90158-9
- Burnstock, G. and Kennedy, C., 1985. Is there a basis for distinguishing two types of P2-purinoceptor? General Pharmacology 16: 433-440. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-3623(85)90001-1
- Burnstock, G., 1972. Purinergic nerves. Pharmacology Reviews 24: 509-581.
- Burnstock, G., 1980. Do some nerve cells release more than one transmitter? In: Smith, A.D., Llinás, R. and Kostyuk, P.G. (eds.) Commentaries in the neurosciences. Pergamon Press, Oxford, UK, pp. 151-160.
- Centor, R.M., 1990. Serum total carbon dioxide. In: Walker, H.K., Hall, W.D. and Hurst, J.W. (eds.) Clinical methods: the history, physical, and laboratory examinations, 3rd ed. Butterworths, Boston, MA, USA, pp. 1087.
- Chadee, D.D., Beier, J.C. and Martinez, R., 1996. The effect of the cibarial armature on blood meal haemolysis of four anopheline mosquitoes. Bulletin of Entomological Research 86: 351-354. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007485300034921
- Chan, A.K.C. and Paredes, N., 2013. The coagulation system in humans. Methods in Molecular Biology 992: 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-339-8_1
- Choo, Y.M., Buss, G.K., Tan, K. and Leal, W.S., 2015. Multitasking roles of mosquito labrum in oviposition and blood feeding. Frontiers in Physiology 6: 306 https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00306
- Christ, P., Hill, S.R., Schachtner, J., Hauserc, F. and Ignell, R., 2018. Functional characterization of mosquito short neuropeptide F receptors. Peptides 103: 31-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2018.03.009'
- Christophers, R.S., 1960. *Aedes aegypti* (l.) The yellow fever mosquito; Its life history, bionomics and structure, 1st ed.. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 750.
- Coluzzi, M., Concetti, A. and Ascoli, F., 1982. Effect of cibarial armature of mosquitoes (Diptera, Culicidae) on blood-meal haemolysis. Journal of Insect Physiology 28: 885-888. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(82)90103-2
- Cusack, N.J., 1993. P2 receptor: Subclassification and structure-activity relationships. Drug Development Research 28: 244-252. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddr.430280310
- Davis, E.E., 1984. Regulation of sensitivity in the peripheral chemoreceptor systems for host-seeking behaviour by a haemolymph-borne factor in *Aedes aegypti*. Journal of Insect Physiology 30: 179-183. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(84)90124-0
- Day, M.F., 1954. The mechanism of food distribution to midgut or diverticula in the mosquito. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences 7: 515-524. https://doi.org/10.1071/bi9540515
- Di Virgilio, F., Vuerich, M., 2015. Purinergic signaling in the immune system. Autonomic Neuroscience 191: 117-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2015.04.011
- Duvall, L.B., Ramos-Espiritu, L., Barsoum, K.E., Glickman, J.F. and Vosshall, L.B., 2019. Purinergic signaling in the immune system Cell 176: 687-701.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.12.004
- Emami, S.N., Lindberg, B.G., Hua, S., Hill, S.R., Mozuraitis, R., Lehmann, P., Birgersson, G., Borg-Karlson, A.K., Ignell, R. and Faye, I., 2017. A key malaria metabolite modulates vector blood seeking, feeding, and susceptibility to infection. Science 355: 1076-1080. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah4563

- Fang, M., Ivanisevic, J., Benton, H.P., Johnson, C.H., Patti, G.J., Hoang, L.T., Uritboonthai, W., Kurczy, Michael, E. and Siuzdak, G., 2015. Thermal degradation of small molecules: A global metabolomic investigation. Analytical Chemistry 87: 10935-10941. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b03003
- Fischler, W., Kong, P., Marella, S. and Scott, K., 2007. The detection of carbonation by the Drosophila gustatory system. Nature 448: 1054-1057. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06101
- Forsyth, A.M, Wan, J., Owrutsky, P.D., Abkarian, M. and Stone, H.A., 2011. Multiscale approach to link red blood cell dynamics, shear viscosity, and ATP release. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 108: 10986-10991. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1101315108
- Fresquet, N. and Lazzari, C.R., 2011. Response to heat in *Rhodnius prolixus*: the role of the thermal background. Journal of Insect Physiology 57: 1446-1449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2011.07.012
- Friend, W.G. and Smith, J.J.B., 1974. Feeding in *Rhodnius prolixus*: Increasing the sensitivity to ATP during prolonged food deprivation. Journal of Insect Physiology 21: 1081-1084.
- Friend, W.G. and Smith, J.J.B., 1982. ATP analogues and other phosphate compounds as gorging stimulants for *Rhodnius prolixus*. Journal of Insect Physiology 28: 371-376. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(82)90050-6
- Friend, W.G. and Stoffolano, J.G., 1983. Feeding responses of the horsefly, *Tabanus nigrovittatus*, to phagostimulants. Physiological Entomology 8: 377-383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1983.tb00371.x
- Friend, W.G. and Stoffolano, J.G., 1990. Feeding responses of the horsefly, *Tabanus nigrovittatus* (Diptera; Tabanidae) to purinergic phagostimulants. Journal of Insect Physiology 36: 805-812. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(90)90166-D
- Friend, W.G., 1985. Diet ingestion and destination in *Culiseta inornata* (Diptera: Culicidae): Effects of mouthpart deployment and contact of the fascicle and labellum with sucrose, water, waline, or ATP. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 78: 495-500. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/78.4.495
- Gale, A.J., 2011. Current understanding of hemostasis. Toxicologic Pathology 39: 273-280. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310389474
- Galun, R. and Kabayo, J.P., 1988. Gorging response of *Glossina palpalis palpalis* to ATP analogues. Physiological Entomology 13: 419-423. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1988.tb01125.x
- Galun, R. and Kindler, S.H., 1968. Chemical basis of feeding in the tick Ornithodoros tholozani. Journal of Insect Physiology 14: 1409-1421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(68)90175-3
- Galun, R. and Margalit, J., 1969. Adenine nucleotides as feeding stimulants of the tsetse fly *Glossina austeni* Newst. Nature 222: 583-584. https://doi.org/10.1038/222583a0
- Galun, R. and Vardimon-Friedman, H., 1992. Gorging response of the mosquito, *Culex univittatus*, to adenine nucleotides. Naturwissenschaften 79: 519-520. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01135773
- Galun, R., 1966. Feeding stimulants of the rat flea *Xenopsylla cheopis* Roth. Life Sciences 5: 1335-1342. https://doi. org/10.1016/0024-3205(66)90035-X
- Galun, R., 1967. Feeding stimuli and artificial feeding. Bulletin of World Health Organisation 36: 590-593
- Galun, R., Avi-Dor, Y. and Bar-Zeev, M., 1963. Feeding response in *Aedes aegypti*: Stimulation by adenosine triphosphate. Science 142: 1674-1675. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.142.3600.1674
- Galun, R., Friend, W.G. and Nudelman, S., 1988. Purinergic reception by culicine mosquitoes. Journal of Comparative Physiology 163: 665-670. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00603850
- Galun, R., Koontz, L.C. and Gwadz, R.W., 1985a. Engorgement response of anopheline mosquitoes to blood fractions and artificial solutions. Physiological Entomology 10: 145-149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1985. tb00029.x
- Galun, R., Koontz, L.C., Gwadz, R.W. and Ribeiro, J.M.C., 1985b. Effect of ATP analogues on the gorging response of Aedes aegypti. Physiological Entomology 10: 275-281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1985.tb00048.x

- Galun, R., Oren, N. and Zecharia, M., 1984. Effect of plasma components on the feeding response of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* L. to adenine nucleotides. Physiological Entomology 9: 403-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1984. tb00781.x
- Gonzales, K. and Hansen, I., 2016. Artificial diets for mosquitoes. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 13: 1267. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13121267
- Gordon, J.L., 1986. Extracellular ATP: effects, sources and fate. Biochemical Journal 233: 309-319.
- Guerenstein, P.G. and Nunez, J.A., 1994. Feeding response of haematophagous bugs *Rhodinus prolixus* and *Triatoma infestans* to saline solutions: a comparative study. Journal of Insect Physiology 40: 747-752.
- Gulliver, G., 1870. On the size of the red corpuscles of the blood of Moschus, Tragulus, Orycteropus, Ailurus, and some other Mammalia, with historical notes. Proceedings of the Zoological Society London 1870: 92-99.
- Gurera, D., Bhushan, B. and Kumar, N. 2018. Lessons from mosquitoes' painless piercing. Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials. 84: 178-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2018.05.025
- Henning, W., 1972. Insektenfossilien aus der unteren Kreide. IV. Psychodidae (Phlebotominae). mit einer kritischen Übersicht über das phylogenetische System der Familie und die bisher beschriebenen Fossilien (Diptera). Stuttgarter Beiträge zur Naturkunde 241: 1-69.
- Hinze, A., Hill, S.R. and Ignell, R., 2022. Odour-mediated host selection and discrimination in mosquitoes. Chapter 9.
 In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G. and Hill, S.R. (eds.) Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands, pp. 253-276. https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9_9
- Hosoi, T., 1958. Adenosine-5'-phosphates as the stimulating agent in blood for inducing gorging of the mosquito. Nature 181: 1664-1665. https://doi.org/10.1038/1811664a0
- Hosoi, T., 1959. Identification of blood components which induce gorging of the mosquito. Journal of Insect Physiology 3: 191-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(59)90001-0
- Huff, C.G., 1929. Ovulation requirements of *Culex pipiens* Linn. Biological Bulletin 56: 347-350. https://doi.org/10.2307/1537074
- Isawa, H., Yuda, M., Orito, Y. and Chinzei, Y., 2002. A mosquito salivary protein inhibits activation of the plasma contact system by binding to factor XII and high molecular weight kininogen. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277: 27651-27658. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203505200
- Islam, A., Emran, T.B., Yamamoto, D.S., Iyori, M., Amelia, F., Yusuf, Y., Yamaguchi, R., Alam, M.S., Silveira, H. and Yoshida, S., 2019. Anopheline antiplatelet protein from mosquito saliva regulates blood feeding behavior. Scientific Reports 9: 3129. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39960-2
- Jones, J.C. and Pilitt, D.R., 1973. Blood-feeding behavior of adult Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. Biological Bulletin 145: 127-139. https://doi.org/10.2307/1540353
- Jones, W.D., Cayirlioglu, P., Kadow, I.G. and Vosshall, L.B., 2007. Two chemosensory receptors together mediate carbon dioxide detection in *Drosophila*. Nature 445: 86-90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05466
- Jové, V., Gong, Z., Hol, F.J.H., Zhao, Z., Sorrelis, R.T., Carroll, S.T., Prakash, M., McBride, C.S. and Vosshall, L.B., 2020. Sensory discrimination of blood and floral nectar by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. Neuron 108: 1163-1180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.09.019
- Khan, A.A. and Maibach, H.I., 1966. Quantitation of effect of several stimuli on landing and probing by *Aedes aegypti*. Journal of Economical Entomology 59: 902-905. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/59.4.902
- Klowden, M.J., 1995. Blood, sex, and the mosquito. Biological Science 45: 326-331. https://doi.org/10.2307/1312493
- Kogan, P.H., 1990. Substitute blood meal for investigating and maintaining Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of Medical Entomology 27: 709-712. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/27.4.709

- Kwon, J.Y., Dahanukar, A., Weiss, L.A. and Carlson, J.R., 2007. The molecular basis of CO₂.reception in *Drosophila*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the USA 104: 3574-3578. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0700079104
- Lall, S.B., 1969. Phagostimulants of haematophagous tabanids (Diptera). Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 12: 325-336. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1570-7458.1969.tb02528.x
- Lee, M.J., Sung, H.Y., Jo, H., Kim, H.W., Choi, M.S., Kwon, J.Y. and Kang, K.J., 2017. Ionotropic receptor 76b is required for gustatory aversion to excessive Na⁺ in *Drosophila*. Molecules and Cells 40: 787-795. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2017.0160
- Lee, R., 1974. Structure and function of the fascicular stylets, and the labral and cibarial sense organs of male and female *Aedes aegypti* (L.) (Diptera, Culicidae). Quaestiones Entomologicae 10: 187-216.
- Lee, R.M.K.W. and Craig, D.A., 1983. The labrum and labral sensilla of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae): a scanning electron microscope study. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61: 1568-1579. https://doi.org/10.1139/z83-211
- Lehane, M.J., 2005. The biology of blood-sucking in insects, 2nd ed., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 336.
- Leite, N.R., Krogh, R., Xu, W., Ishida, Y., Iulek, J., Leal, W.S. and Oliva, G., 2009. Structure of an odorant-binding protein from the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* suggests a binding pocket covered by a pH-sensitive 'Lid'. PLoS ONE 4: e8006. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008006
- Liscia, A., Crnjar, R., Muroni, P. and Barbarossa, I.T., 1993. Electrophysiological responses of labral-apical chemoreceptors to adenine nucleotides in *Culex pipiens*. Journal of Insect Physiology 39: 261-265.
- Liscia, A., Pietra, P., Angioy, A.M., Crnjar, R. and Barbarossa, I.T., 1987. Effects of ATP and cAMP on salt and sugar (responses of chemosensilla in the blowfly). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 88: 455-459.
- Maia, M.F., Tenywa, F.C., Nelson, H., Kambagha, A., Ashura, A., Bakari, I., Mruah, D., Simba, A. and Bedford, A., 2018. Attractive toxic sugar baits for controlling mosquitoes: a qualitative study in Bagamoyo, Tanzania. Malaria Journal 17: 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-018-2171-2
- Mans, B.J., 2011. Evolution of vertebrate hemostatic and inflammatory control mechanisms in blood-feeding arthropods. Journal of Innate Immunity 3: 41-51. https://doi.org/10.1159/000321599
- Martinho, F., 2012. Blood transfusion in birds. Revista Lusófona de Ciência e Medicina Veterinária 19: 5.
- Martin-Martin, I., Paige, A., Valenzuela, L.P.C., Gittis, A.G., Kern, O., Bonilla, B., Chagas, A.C., Ganesan, S., Smith, L.B., Garboczi, D.N. and Calvo, E., 2020. ADP binding by the *Culex quinquefasciatus* mosquito D7 salivary protein enhances blood feeding on mammals. Nature Communications 11: 2911. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16665-z
- Matthews, B.J., Dudchenko, O., Kingan, S.B., Zappia, G., Sivasubramaniam, A.K., Abuin, L., Sahai, S.Y. and Benton, R., 2018. Improved reference genome of *Aedes aegypti* informs arbovirus vector control. Nature 563: 501-507. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0692-z
- Matthews, B.J., Younger, M.A. and Vosshall, L.B., 2019. The ion channel ppk301 controls freshwater egg-laying in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. eLife 8: e43963. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.43963
- Mclver, S. and Charlton, C., 1970. Studies on the sense organs on the palps of selected culicine mosquitoes. Canadian Journal of Zoology 48: 293-295 https://doi.org/10.1139/z70-048
- Mitchell, B.K., 1976. ATP reception by the tsetse fly, *Glossina morsitans west*. Experientia 32: 192-194. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF01937759
- Moskalyk, L.A. and Friend, W.G., 1994. Feeding behaviour of female *Aedes aegypti*: effects of diet temperature, bicarbonate and feeding technique on the response to ATP. Physiological Entomology 19: 223-229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1994.tb01046.x

- Murgia, M., Hanau, S., Pizzo, P., Rippa, M. and Di Virgilio, F., 1993. Oxidized ATP an irreversible inhibitor of the macrophage purinergic P2Z receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268: 8199-8203.
- Mwandawiro, C., Boots, M., Tuno, N, Suwonkerd, W., Tsuda, Y. and Takagi M., 2000. Heterogeneity in the host preference of Japanese encephalitis vectors in Chiang Mai, northern Thailand. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 94: 238-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0035-9203(00)90303-1
- Newland, P., Cobb, M. and Marion-Poll, F., 2009. Insect Taste, 1st ed. Taylor and Francis group, New York, USA, pp. 279.
- Owen, W.B., 1963. The contact chemoreceptor organs of the mosquito and their function in feeding behaviour. Journal of Insect Physiology 9: 73-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(63)90085-4
- Pillai, A.B., Nagarajan, U., Mitra, A., Krishnan, U., Rajendran, S., Hoti, S.L. and Mishra, R.K., 2017. RNA interference in mosquito: understanding immune responses, double-stranded RNA delivery systems and potential applications in vector control. Insect Molecular Biology 26: 127-139. https://doi.org/10.1111/imb.12282
- Pitts, R.J., Ibarra Bouzada, L.M.E. and Guerenstein, P.G., 2022. Comparative morphology of the peripheral olfactory system of disease vector arthropods. Chapter 2. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G. and Hill, S.R. (eds.) Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands, pp. 29-70. https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9_2
- Pontes, G., Pereira, M.H. and Barrozo, R.B., 2017. Salt controls feeding decisions in a blood-sucking insect. Journal of Insect Physiology 98: 93-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2016.12.002
- Prasadini, M., Dayananda, D., Fernando, S., Harischandra, I. and De Silva, N., 2019. Blood feeding preference of female *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes for human blood group types and its impact on their fecundity: implications for vector control. American Journal of Entomology 3: 43. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.aje.20190302.13
- Ready, P.D., 1978. The feeding habits of laboratory-bred *Lutzomyia longipalpis* (Diptera: Psychodidae). Journal of Medical Entomology 14: 545-552. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/14.5.545
- Revay, E.E., Müller, G.C., Qualls, W.A., Kline, D.L., Naranjo, D.P., Arheart, K.L., Kravchenko, V.D., Yefremova, Z., Hausmann, A., Beier, J.C., Schlein, Y. and Xue, R.D., 2014. Control of *Aedes albopictus* with attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB) and potential impact on non-target organisms in St. Augustine, Florida. Parasitology Research 113: 73-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-013-3628-4
- Ribeiro, J.M., 1995. Blood-feeding arthropods: live syringes or invertebrate pharmacologists? Infectious Agents and Disease 4: 143-152.
- Ribeiro, J.M.C., Rossignol, P.A. and Spielman, A., 1985. Salivary gland apyrase determines probing time in anopheline mosquitoes. Journal of Insect Physiology 31: 689-692. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(85)90048-4
- Rice, M.J., Galun, R. and Margalit, J., 1973. Mouthpart sensilla of the tsetse fly and their function: III: Labrocibarial sensilla. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology 67: 109-116.
- Rich, P.R., 2003. The molecular machinery of Keilin's respiratory chain. Biochemical Society Transactions 31: 1095-1105. https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0311095
- Romero, A. and Schal, C., 2014. Blood constituents as phagostimulants for the bed bug *Cimex lectularius L.* Journal of Experimental Biology 217: 552-557. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.096727
- Ruel, D.M. and Bohbot, J.D., 2022. The molecular and neural determinants of olfactory behaviour in mosquitoes. Chapter 3. In: Ignell, R., Lazzari, C.R., Lorenzo, M.G. and Hill, S.R. (eds.) Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, the Netherlands, pp. 71-115. https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-932-9_3
- Sánchez-Alcañiz, J.A., Silbering, A.F., Croset, V., Zappia, G., Sivasubramaniam, K.A. and Abuin, L. 2018. An expression atlas of variant ionotropic glutamate receptors identifies a molecular basis of carbonation sensing. Nature Communications 9: 4252. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06453-1

- Schenkel-Brunner, H. 1980. Blood-group-ABH antigens of human erythrocytes. European Journal of Biochemistry 104: 529-534. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1980.tb04455.x
- Schofield, C.J. and Dolling, W.R., 1993. Bedbugs and kissing-bugs (bloodsucking Hemiptera). In: Lane, R.P. and Crosskey, R.W. (eds.) Medical insects and arachnids. Springer, Dordrecht, the Netherlands, pp 483-516.
- Shirai, Y., Funada, H., Seki, T., Takizawa, H., Morohashi, M. and Kamimura, K., 2004. Landing preference of *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) on human skin among ABO blood groups, secretors or non-secretors, and ABH antigens. Journal of Medical Entomology 41: 796-799. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-41.4.796
- Sinton, J.A. and Covell, G., 1927. The relation of the morphology of the buccal cavity to the classification of anopheline mosquitoes. Indian Journal of Medical Research 15: 301-308
- Smith, J.J.B. and Friend, W.G., 1970. Feeding in *Rhodnius prolixus*: Responses to artificial diets as revealed by changes in electrical resistance. Journal of Insect Physiology 16: 1709-1720. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(70)90270-2
- Snodgrass, R.E., 1945., The feeding apparatus of biting and sucking insects affecting man and animals. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 38: 32-32. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/38.1.32
- Stoffolano, J.G., 1990. Feeding responses of the horsefly, *Tabanus nigrovittatus* (Diptera; Tabanidae) to purinergic phagostimulants. Journal of Insect Physiology 36: 805-812.
- Stromsky, V.E., Hajkazemian, M., Vaisbourd, E., Mozūraitis, R. and Emami, S.N., 2021. *Plasmodium* metabolite HMBPP stimulates feeding of main mosquito vectors on blood and artificial toxic sources. Communications Biology 4: 1161. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02689-8
- Sutcliffe, J.F. and McIver, S.B., 1979. Experiments on biting and gorging behaviour in the black fly, *Simulium venustum*. Physiological Entomology 4: 393-400. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3032.1979.tb00632.x
- Tomberlin, J.K., Rains, G.C., Allan, S.A., Sanford, R.M. and Lewis, W.J., 2006. Associative learning of odor with foodor blood-meal by *Culex quinquefasciatus* Say (Diptera: Culicidae). Naturwissenschaften 93: 551-556. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00114-006-0143-9
- Trautmann, A., 2009. Extracellular ATP in the immune system: more than just a 'danger signal'. Science Signaling 2: 6. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.256pe6
- Vantaux, A., Lefèvre, T., Dabiré, K.R. and Cohuet, A., 2014. Individual experience affects host choice in malaria vector mosquitoes. Parasites & Vectors 7: 249. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-7-249
- Vickerman, K., 1985. Developmental cycles and biology of pathogenic trypanosomes. British Medical Bulletin 41: 105-114. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a072036
- Vogt, R.G. and Riddiford, L.M., 1981. Pheromone binding and inactivation by moth antennae. Nature 293: 161-163. https://doi.org/10.1038/293161a0
- Wahid, I., Sunahara, T. and Mogi, M., 2007. The hypopharynx of male and female mosquitoes. Open Entomology Journal 1: 1-6. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874407900701010001
- Wahid, I., Sunuhara T. and Nogi, M., 2002. Mouthparts of male Aedes (stegomta) mosquitoes. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association 18: 73-80.
- Wang, L., Olivecrona, G., Götberg, M., Olsson, M.L., Winzell, M.S. and Erlinge, D., 2005. ADP acting on P2Y13 receptors is a negative feedback pathway for ATP release from human red blood cells. Circulation Research 96: 189-196. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000153670.07559.E4
- Watkins, W.M., 1966. Blood-group substances. Science 152: 172-181. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.152.3719.172
- Wenk, P. and Raybould, J.N., 1972. Mating, blood feeding, and oviposition of *Simulium damnosum* Theobald in the laboratory. Bulletin of World Health Organisation 47: 627-634.
- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A., 1999a. Sensitivity of the mosquito Aedes aegypti (Culicidae) labral-apical chemoreceptors to phagostimulants. Journal of Insect Physiology 45: 629-636. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0022-1910(98)00152-8

- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A., 1999b. Sensitivity of the mosquito Aedes aegypti (Culicidae) labral-apical chemoreceptors to blood plasma components. Journal of Insect Physiology 45: 485-491 https://doi. org/10.1016/S0022-1910(98)00151-6
- Werner-Reiss, U., Galun, R., Crnjar, R. and Liscia, A., 1999c. Factors modulating the blood feeding behavior and the electrophysiological responses of labral-apical chemoreceptors to adenine nucleotides in the mosquito Aedes aegypti (Culicidae). Journal of Insect Physiology 45: 801-808. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1910(98)00153-X
- Whitten, M.M., 2019. Novel RNAi delivery systems in the control of medical and veterinary pests. Current Opinion in Insect Science 34: 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.02.001
- Wintrobe, M.M., 1933. Variations in the size and hemoglobin content of erythrocytes in the blood of various vertebrates. Folia Haematologica 10: 213-215
- Won Jung, J., Baeck, S.J., Perumalsamy, H., Hansson, B.H., Ahn, Y.J. and Kwon, H.W., 2015. A novel olfactory pathway is essential for fast and efficient blood-feeding in mosquitoes. Scientific Reports 5: 13444. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep13444
- Wood, C.S., 1974. Preferential feeding of *Anopheles gambiae* mosquitoes on human subjects of blood group O: A relationship between the ABO polymorphism and malaria vectors. Human Biology 46: 385-404.
- Wood, C.S., 1976. ABO blood groups related to selection of human hosts by yellow fever vector. Human Biology 48: 337-341.
- Wood, C.S., Harrison, G.A., Doré, C. and Weiner, J.S., 1972. Selective feeding of Anopheles gambiae according to ABO blood group status. Nature 239: 165-165. https://doi.org/10.1038/239165a0
- Xu, P., Wen, X. and Leal, W.S., 2020. CO₂ per se activates carbon dioxide receptors. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 117: 103284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibmb.2019.103284
- Yamamoto, F., 1995. Molecular genetics of the ABO histo-blood group system. Vox Sanguinis 69: 1-7. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1995.tb00339.x
- Ye, Z., Liu, F., Sun, H., Baker, A. and Zwiebel, L.J., 2021. Discrete roles of the Ir76b ionotropic co-receptor impact olfaction, blood feeding, and mating in the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles coluzzii*. BioRxiv, https://doi. org/10.1101/2021.07.05.451160 (preprint)
- Zaspel, J.M., 2008. Skin-piercing and blood-feeding moths, *Calyptra* spp. (Lepidoptera: *Noctuidae: Calpinae*). In: Capinera, J.L. (ed.), Encyclopedia of Entomology. Springer Dordrecht, the Netherlands, pp. 3383-3385.
- Zhang, Y.V., Ni, J. and Montell, C., 2013. The molecular basis for attractive salt-taste coding in *Drosophila*. Science 340: 1334-1338. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1234133

IV

RESEARCH

Parasites & Vectors



Adenosine triphosphate overrides the aversive effect of antifeedants and toxicants: a model alternative phagostimulant for sugar-based vector control tools

Matthew Lukenge¹, Rickard Ignell¹ and Sharon Rose Hill^{1*}

Abstract

Background Sugar, when used as the phagostimulant in attractive toxic bait control tools, limits the efficacy and selectivity of this technology. Thus, more potent and selective phagostimulants than sugar are required to improve this technology. The potency of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) as an alternative model phagostimulant was assessed to determine its capacity to override the aversive effects of select antifeedants and toxicants. How ATP and sucrose modulate the rate of toxicity in the yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti* was also examined.

Methods A no-choice feeding assay was used to investigate the phagostimulatory ability of ATP to override the aversive effects of structurally divergent antifeedant and toxicant compounds, and to modulate the rate of toxicity over 24 h. Binary combinations of antifeedant and toxicant compounds, at various concentrations, were similarly assessed for enhanced lethal potency. In comparison, no-choice open access and cotton wick feeding assays were used to determine the phagostimulatory role of sucrose in the ingestion of boric acid-laced diets. Dissections of the guts were performed to determine the diet destination as dependant on the phagostimulant.

Results ATP is a potent phagostimulant that dose dependently overrides aversion to antifeedant and toxicant tastants. Feeding on antifeedant- or toxicant-laced diets that was induced by ATP selectively resulted in rapid knock-down (nicotine, lobeline and caffeine) or death (boric acid and propylene glycol), with a combination of the two lethal compounds inducing a synergistic effect at lower concentrations. ATP- and sucrose-induced feeding predominantly directed the antifeedant- or toxicant-laced meals to the midgut and the crop, respectively.

Conclusions ATP is an efficacious alternative model phagostimulant to sucrose that overrides the aversive effects of antifeedants and toxicants, resulting in rapid toxic effects. Furthermore, this study demonstrates that variation in the rate of toxicity between ATP- and sugar-induced feeding is at least partly regulated by the differential feeding response, volume imbibed and the destination of the meals. Additional research is needed to identify structurally related, stable analogues of ATP due to the ephemeral nature of this molecule. For future applications, the workflow presented in this study may be used to evaluate such analogues for their suitability for use in attractive bait stations designed to target a broad range of haematophagous arthropods and prevent off-target species' feeding.

Keywords Adenosine triphosphate, Taste, Toxins, Aedes aegypti, Feeding, Mosquito, Attractive toxic sugar bait

*Correspondence: Sharon Rose Hill sharon.hill@slu.se Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s) 2023. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 40 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/40/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecom mmons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise tain a credit in e to the data.

Background

Interventions targeting arthropod vectors are the most efficient strategies in the fight against vector-borne diseases [1]. With a limited arsenal of vector control tools, and those that are available becoming less effective [1, 2], the World Health Organization advocates for the development of new tools with different modes of action to be used in future integrated vector management strategies [3]. Although taste-based arthropod control tools date back as far as the eighteenth century [4], the model tastebased tool, the attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB), has received insufficient attention. Improvements in ATSB efficiency and efficacy offer a viable avenue to increase their usefulness for integrated vector management strategies.

Current ATSB technologies have several limitations, primary among which is the use of sucrose as a nonselective phagostimulant, targeting select disease vectors and beneficial insects, e.g. pollinators, alike [5]. In addition, sucrose may not be an efficient phagostimulant to override the aversive effects of natural antifeedants and synthetic toxicants, as reliance on sugar phagostimulants is prone to resistance [6, 7]. Moreover, many disease vectors are obligate blood feeders that do not imbibe sugar meals [8], and are thus not targeted by ATSBs. For mosquito vectors, which tend to imbibe small sugar meals at a time, it may also require multiple visits to an ATSB station to accumulate a sufficient level of a toxin for it to be lethal. Thus, to mitigate the limitations highlighted, a more potent and selective phagostimulant, to which the cost of evolutionary pressure is too high for the vector to develop resistance, needs to be identified.

A model alternative phagostimulant for this purpose is adenosine triphosphate (ATP), a highly potent and strongly selective phagostimulant for the majority of blood-feeding arthropods [9]. The likelihood of blood-feeding vectors developing resistance to ATP is low because ATP is an indicator of a blood meal, which is required to secure fitness-related behaviours. Due to the labile nature of ATP [10], it cannot be used in current ATSB technology. An increased understanding of the signalling pathway and how this modulates the uptake of toxic antifeedants may, however, provide guidance for the identification and/or development of stable ATP analogues for future use in attractive toxic ATP-analogue bait technology. In this study, ATP was assessed for its ability to drive the feeding of the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti on a variety of structurally different antifeedant and toxicant compounds that elicited varying degrees of toxicity, ranging from knockdown to lethal effects. Depending on the phagostimulant used, i.e. ATP or sugar, the diet destination differed, correlating with different rates of action of the toxic compounds. We

discuss the use of ATP as a model for alternative phagostimulants to sugar as a driver for toxic baits in vector control tools.

Methods

Mosquito rearing

Aedes aegypti (Rockefeller strain) was reared at 25 ± 2 °C, 70 ± 2% relative humidity and a 12 h:12 h light:dark photoperiod. Briefly, eggs were hatched in plastic trays (23.5 cm×18 cm×7.5 cm; ca. 300 ml water), with ca. 300 larvae per tray. The pupae, which were collected in small plastic cups (30 ml water), were transferred into BugDorm-4E1515 cages (17.5 cm×17.5 cm×17.5 cm; Megaview Science, Taichung, Taiwan). Emerging adults were provided with ad libitum access to 10% weight/volume (w/v) sucrose up to 4 days post-eclosion, and then starved for 22 ± 2 h with ad libitum access to water prior to the feeding experiments.

Bioassay to assess ATP-induced feeding on antifeedant and toxicant compounds

To make the feeding test solutions, stock solutions of 12 mM ATP [Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) no. 34369-07-8; Merck, Darmstadt, Germany] were prepared by dissolving ATP in bicarbonate buffered saline [150 mM sodium chloride (Merck) and 10 mM sodium bicarbonate (Merck)] at pH 7.4±0.07, and then stored at -20 °C. To examine whether ATP overrides feeding deterrence and induces feeding on natural antifeedants or synthetic toxicants, a panel of tastants, previously classified as antifeedants, toxicants or feeding deterrents, were assessed at a range of concentrations (Table 1). The natural antifeedants were the plant-derived alkaloids caffeine [11, 12], quinine, nicotine [11, 13, 14], lobeline [13] and capsaicin [15, 16], while the toxicants were the synthetic compounds N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), a major insect repellent [13], and propylene glycol [17],

 Table 1
 Antifeedant and toxicant compounds and concentration ranges evaluated in the presence of 0.6 mM adenosine triphosphate (ATP)

Compound	CAS number	Concentration (mM)
Caffeine	58-08-02	0.10-20
Nicotine	54-11-5	0.10-3
Quinine	130-95-0	0.0010-2
Lobeline hydrochloride	134-063-4	0.10-3
Capsaicin	10,045-35-3	0.10-5
Boric acid	57-55-6	1.60-323.50
Propylene glycol	134-62-3	131-2628.50
DEET	404-86-4	0.0050-53.30

DEET N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide, CAS Chemical Abstracts Service

and the mineral acid boric acid, which are known insecticides [16, 18-20] (Table 1). Stock solutions of the tastants were prepared as follows: water-soluble compounds, i.e. caffeine (80 mM), propylene glycol (10.5 M), DEET (209 mM), nicotine (20 mM) and boric acid (1.3 M), were dissolved in the bicarbonate buffered saline. This was done at room temperature, except for boric acid and quinine that required heating at 42 °C to fully dissolve. In contrast, lobeline hydrochloride (100 mM) and capsaicin (100 mM) were dissolved in 50% (volume/volume; v/v) ethanol, while quinine (20 mM) was dissolved in 30% (v/v) ethanol. Working dilutions were prepared for lobeline hydrochloride and capsaicin at 5 mM, and for quinine at 2 mM in the bicarbonate buffered saline. The final concentrations contained less than 2.5% (v/v) ethanol. Ethanol at 2.5% (v/v) was examined for its effect on ATP phagostimulation in a membrane feeding assay, as described below, which demonstrated that it had no effect on ATP potency $[U_{(9)} = 10.50, Z = 0.30, P > 0.99]$.

Each stock solution of the tastant compounds was serially diluted using the pH-controlled bicarbonate buffered saline to which was added an equal volume of ATP to a final concentration of 0.6 mM, a concentration that elicited maximum phagostimulation [maximal effective concentration (EC_{max})] in Ae. aegypti, as determined in a preliminary analysis, through the generation of a dose-response curve with nine doses between 0.005 and 0.6 mM (data not shown), and supported by a previous study [21]. In addition, xylene cyanol FF (CAS no. 2650-17-1; Merck) was added to a final concentration of 1 mg ml⁻¹ to aid visualisation of engorged individuals. The final concentration ranges of the tastants are indicated in Table 1. A positive control (0.6 mM ATP in buffer) and two negative controls, i.e. buffer alone and buffer together with the lowest concentration of each antifeedant and toxicant, were used, in which avid probing, but no engorgement, was observed.

To confirm whether the mosquitoes detected the antifeedants and toxicants, a concentration at, or close to, the threshold of behavioural response was used. The assay included a negative control (antifeedant or toxicant "tastant" alone) and two positive ATP controls, the 50% and fully effective concentrations (respectively, EC_{50} 0.072 mM and EC_{max} 0.6 mM, as determined in preliminary studies; see above), as well as the tests, i.e. combinations of the tastant with either of the ATP concentrations (n=5, n=50).

Ten female mosquitoes at 5 days post-eclosion were gently aspirated into bioassay chambers (tall polystyrene Petri dishes, 12 cm diameter $\times 6$ cm height; Semadeni, Ostermundigen, Switzerland) covered with fine mesh, for each of the controls and tests, and for five replicates. Using a membrane feeding system (Hemotek, Blackburn, UK), and feeding reservoirs (0.3 ml; Hemotek) filled with 200 μ l of the diets under a collagen membrane (Hemotek), the mosquitoes were exposed to the diets for 30 min at 37 °C. Since *Ae. aegypti* is a diurnal feeder, the assays were performed at Zeitgeber time 6–9, within the peak activity period [22]. Mosquitoes that scored iv or v on the feeding scale were considered engorged, while those that scored above ii were considered fed (Fig. 1a), and used as such in further analyses.

Toxic effects of antifeedant and toxicant diets imbibed during ATP-induced feeding

To examine the toxic effect of the antifeedant and toxicant compounds, a no-choice feeding assay was used as described above in which 10 mosquitoes were exposed to the antifeedant and toxicant diets and observed for 24 h without access to sugar and water. This experiment was replicated 5 times. Unlike in previously conducted sugarbait toxic assays, in which the mosquitoes had access to the toxic diet ad libitum for the duration of the experiment [19, 20, 23], the mosquitoes in this experiment had access to the ATP diet for 30 min, since ATP is thermolabile and rapidly loses its integrity. Lethal and knockdown effects were scored after exposure to the diets for up to 24 h.

Toxicity of sucrose-induced feeding on boric acid

Taste-based toxic baits commonly include sucrose as a feeding stimulant. To compare our results of ATPinduced feeding on boric acid by Ae. aegypti to those of previous studies, an assessment of the sugar-induced feeding [10% (w/v) sucrose] on a boric acid diet was conducted. For this purpose, 10 female mosquitoes (5 days post-eclosion) were placed in a BugDorm cage and then exposed to the diet via either of two methods: a cotton wick soaked in a 1% (w/v) boric acid, 10% (w/v) sucrose (Merck) and xylene cyanol (1 mg ml⁻¹) diet contained in a 5-ml glass vial; or an open-access feeding assay, in which 200 µl of the same solution was added to a Hemotek feeding reservoir (without a membrane), as described above, with refills every 20-24 h. In both experiments, eight replicates of the treatments and two replicates of the control [10% (v/v) sucrose plus dye (xylene cyanol)] were conducted. The survival of the exposed individuals was scored for up to 5 days.

Synergistic effect of ATP-induced feeding on combined antifeedant and toxicant diets

In our panel of toxicants, boric acid and propylene glycol elicited lethal effects, while the antifeedants nicotine, lobeline and caffeine induced knockdown followed by recovery. We hypothesised that a combination of lower concentrations of each of the compounds would result



Fig. 1a–c Adenosine triphosphate (*ATP*) overrides the aversive response to antifeedants and toxicants in *Aedes aegypti*. **a** The scale (*i–v*) used to score unfed to engorged individuals. **b** The proportion of *Ae. aegypti* engorged on meals of antifeedant and toxicant compounds, in combination with ATP at half maximal effective concentration (EC_{sp}) (0.072 mM) and EC_{max} (0.6 mM) (*n* = 50). The behavioural response of the mosquitoes to the antifeedant and toxicant compounds is aversive when these are presented in combination with ATP at EC_{sp} . whereas ATP EC_{max} is able to override this effect. ANOVA was used for the pairwise comparisons; *ns* non-significant, * *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01. **c** Mosquitoes engorged on 0.6 mM ATP-containing antifeedant and toxicant diets in a dose-dependent manner. The error bars indicate the SEM. The number of replicates for each diet and concentration was 50. *DEET N,N*-diethyl-meta-toluamide, *PRO* propylene glycol

in a synergistic lethal effect. To address this hypothesis, the same membrane feeding assay as described above was performed with 10 female mosquitoes, and was replicated 5 times, using a combination of boric acid and propylene glycol, nicotine or caffeine (Additional file 1: Table S1). In all cases, the mosquitoes were stimulated to feed using 0.6 mM ATP, which also served as the positive control.

Destination of ATP- and sucrose-induced diets

Having observed that the rate of toxicity in ATP-induced feeding was, by far, much faster when compared to sucrose-induced feeding, we hypothesised that this difference was in part due to the destination of the meals in either instance. To test this hypothesis, the lowest concentrations that induced the highest level of engorgement while still eliciting a toxic effect were considered for each individual compound. In brief, for the ATP-induced meal, the membrane feeding assay, as described above, was used. For comparison, a sucrose-induced feeding assay was used, in which cotton balls soaked with the diet were placed on top of bioassay chambers (Semadeni) and heated to 37 °C for 40 min. Each BugDorm contained

10 mosquitoes per diet. After exposure, the mosquitoes were anaesthetised on ice and their guts dissected in Ringer's solution under a stereo microscope (×10, Nikon SMZ100; Nikon, Stockholm, Sweden) equipped with a 64 MP Android camera (Tecno Camon 19 Pro; Tecno, Shenzhen, China). The experiment was repeated until the guts of 10 fed individuals per diet had been successfully dissected.

Statistical analysis

To test whether the mosquitoes detected the antifeedant and toxicant compounds, a one-way ANOVA was used to test the proportion of individuals that engorged on ATP (EC_{50}) and those that fed on a combination of ATP (EC_{50}) plustastant. In addition, an ANOVA was used to test whether ATP (EC_{max}) is able to override the aversive effect of the antifeedants and toxicants (ATP at EC_{max} plustastant). To analyse the level of feeding aversion of mosquitoes across the antifeedant and toxicant compounds in the presence of ATP (EC_{max} 0.6 mM), the dose–response curves were compared using the least squares regression method in a non-linear regression model, in which the proportion of engorged mosquitoes was the response variable, while the diets were the predictor variables. An extra sum-of-squares F-test was used to compare whether the best fit values of select parameters (log EC₅₀, Hill slope, top value) differed between individual antifeedant and toxicant datasets. To assess the mortality rates of both ATP-induced (24 h) and sucrose-induced (5 days) toxicity, the probability of survival was visualised using Kaplan-Meier survival curves, and the rate of survival analysed using the log-rank Mantel-Cox test. To test for differences in the potency of the knockdown effects, a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's pairwise post hoc comparison was used based on the 30-min timepoint as the earliest peak knockdown time point. In contrast, the comparison of mortality as a result of boric acid alone and that of boric acid in combination with either nicotine or caffeine was analysed using the Mann-Whitney U-test based on data at the 24-h timepoint. All of the analyses and generated graphs were done using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Prism, v. 8.0.0; GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) and variance is indicated on the graphs, where appropriate.

Results

ATP overrides the aversive effect of antifeedant and toxicant compounds

To assess whether the mosquitoes were able to detect the antifeedant and toxicant compounds, no-choice feeding assays were performed, which demonstrated that all tastants elicited an aversive response when combined with ATP at EC₅₀ (0.072 mM; Fig. 1a, b). In contrast, when tested at the same concentration, the antifeedant and toxicant compounds in combination with ATP at EC_{max} (0.6 mM) elicited no aversive response (Fig. 1b), demonstrating that ATP is able to override the aversive effect of these tastants. A comparison of the proportion of females engorging in response to a range of concentrations of antifeedant and toxicant compounds together with ATP (ECmax) demonstrated an overall significant difference in sensitivity to various antifeedant and toxicant compounds [F_(7,212)=30.54, P<0.001; Fig. 1c]. More specifically, the antifeedants and toxicants were ranked with respect to female mosquito sensitivity as follows: DEET $(EC_{50}=0.39 \text{ mM})=quinine [EC_{50}=0.23 \text{ mM};$ $F_{(1, 61)} = 1.19, P = 0.28$ | < lobeline [EC₅₀ = 1.14] mM; $F_{(1, 61)} = 23.03$, P < 0.001] = nicotine (EC₅₀ = 1.25 mM; F=0.21, P=0.65) < capsaicin (EC₅₀=3.07 mM; F=57.15, P < 0.001) < caffeine $(EC_{50} = 9.34)$ mM; F = 51.37, P < 0.001) < boric acid (EC₅₀ = 321.80 mM; F = 16.50, P < 0.001) < propylene glycol (EC₅₀=1429 mM; F=8.11, P = 0.0070) (Fig. 1c).

The observed volume of antifeedant- and toxicant-laden diets imbibed due to ATP phagostimulation was higher (stage iv–v) than that observed in the sugar-induced feeding (stage ii-iii; Fig. 1a). However, the volume of nicotine imbibed due to ATP-induced feeding was lower than that of the other antifeedants or toxicants tested, ranking on average as fed (stages ii-iii) compared to engorged (stages iv-v), respectively (Fig. 1a). In general, the females that fed on the antifeedant- and toxicant-laden meals displayed similar windows of dynamic response to the antifeedant and toxicant compounds, as indicated by similar slopes of the linear parts of the curves (F=2.87, P=0.0070; Fig. 1c). While similar, the slopes associated with feeding on DEET (slope = -0.92) and propylene glycol [slope = -1.21; $F_{(1, 44)} = 0.39$, P=0.53] demonstrated wider dynamic windows for these antifeedants and toxicants when compared to the rest of the compounds, which shared similar dynamic windows $[F_{(5, 168)} = 0.49, P = 0.80;$ Fig. 1c].

Feeding on toxicant-laced diets elicits toxic effects

ATP-induced feeding on boric acid and propylene glycol elicited rapid lethal effects in individuals that engorged (Fig. 2a, b), as well as in those that had fed, but not engorged, on the diets (Additional file 2: Fig. S1a, b). Boric acid (χ^2 =247.50, df=5, P<0.001) and propylene glycol (χ^2 =163.00, df=4, P<0.001) elicited significant mortality in engorged individuals in a dose-dependent manner, with maximum mortality observed within the first 3 h for the two and three highest doses tested of the respective toxicants (Fig. 2a, b). Among the total individuals as well as in those that individuals to the highest concentration of propylene glycol, mortality was observed in those that had engorged as well as in those that imbibed less than a complete meal (Additional file 2: Fig. S1b).

The highest doses of boric acid and propylene glycol that did not result in a reduction in the proportion of mosquitoes engorging (boric acid, 16 mM; propylene glycol, 131 mM; Fig. 2c) caused no significant effect on mortality alone, but when combined, elicited a synergistic effect on mortality (Fig. 2d). The second lowest combined doses, eliciting both engorging and feeding (boric acid, 81 mM; propylene glycol, 657 mM), elicited an effect similar to that of propylene glycol alone (propylene glycol, 657 mM; Fig. 2e; Additional file 2: Fig. S1c), while at the highest doses tested (boric acid, 162 mM; propylene glycol, 1314 mM), mortality reduced with the combined diet compared with the individual toxicants (Fig. 2f), likely due to the reduced diet intake (Fig. 2c).

ATP-induced feeding on antifeedants and boric acid diets elicits knockdown toxic effects

In addition to the observed lethal effects, knockdown effects were observed in response to feeding on nicotine, lobeline and caffeine in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 2g; Additional file 2: Fig. S1d-f). Nicotine



Fig. 2a-h ATP-induced feeding elicits rapid antifeedant- and toxicant-associated toxic effects in *Aedes aegypti*. Kaplan–Meier probability of survival curves for **a** ATP and boric acid (*BOR*) and **b** ATP and PRO in the engorged individuals. **c** Comparisons of the proportion of engorged individuals on ATP-induced feeding on BOR and PRO, and combinations thereof, over various concentrations. Comparison of Kaplan–Meier survival curves in response to ATP-induced feeding on BOR and PRO, and combinations thereof, over the low (**d**), middle (**e**) and high (**f**) concentrations. **g** Proportion of mosquitoes knocked down at the most potent concentrations of nicotine (*NIC*), caffeine (*CAF*) and lobeline (*LOB*) following exposure to ATP-containing meals. **h** The probability of survival of sugar-induced feeding on BOR in open access (dotted line) and cotton wick (solid line) exposure assays. A log-rank (Mantel-Cox) statistical test was used to analyse the probability of survival, while a Kruskal–Wallis test was used to analyse the protobability of survival. While the lowercase letters indicate significant differences among the individual concentrations tested and the combinations thereof. For other abbreviations, see Fig. 1

elicited a more rapid knockdown effect, peaking after 30 min, compared with lobeline and caffeine (H=10.76, df=2, P<0.001; Fig. 2g). Dunn's post hoc comparison indicated a significantly higher knockdown effect for nicotine than caffeine (Z=2.20, P=0.030) or lobeline (Z=3.21, P=0.0010), whereas the knockdown effects of caffeine and lobeline were not significantly different (Z=1.010, P=0.31; Fig. 2g).

To assess the possible synergistic effect of nicotine and boric acid on mortality, mosquitoes were fed on combined diets, which demonstrated that the reduction in engorgement elicited by nicotine at the two highest doses tested resulted in reduced mortality in the combined diets compared to that induced by boric acid alone (Additional file 3: Fig. S2a, b). The lowest doses tested elicited no difference in engorgement and no mortality in response to the combined diet (Additional file 3: Fig. S2a, b). To assess the potentiation effect of caffeine on mosquitoes engorging on boric acid, 5 mM caffeine, the concentration eliciting the highest level of engorgement alone, was used together with various concentrations of boric acid in the toxicity assay. There was no increase in the proportion of mosquitoes feeding $[F_{(2, 30)} = 1.53, P = 0.23;$ Additional file 3: Fig. S2c], nor was there an increase in the mortality within the corresponding combinations ($\chi^2 = 9.5$, df = 5, P = 0.091; Additional file 3: Fig. S2d-f), when combined caffeine and boric acid diets were analysed.

Sucrose-induced feeding on boric acid-containing diets elicits slow lethal effects

To compare the mortality rates in response to ATP- and sugar-induced diets, three modes of sugar meal delivery were assessed. While membrane feeding did not elicit sufficient numbers of fed mosquitoes within 30 min to compare with ATP-fed individuals, open source and cotton wick feeding ad libitum resulted in diet uptake and significant mortality (comparison between sucrose plus boric acid vs. sucrose alone, $\chi^2 = 108$, df = 2, P < 0.001; comparison between open source vs. cotton wick feeding, $\chi^2 = 2.51$, df = 1, P = 0.11; Fig. 2h). The maximum mortality in response to feeding on boric acid-laced sugar diets occurred at or before 5 days (Fig. 2h).

Diet destination is modulated by the type of phagostimulant

To assess whether ATP and sucrose modulate the destination of the antifeedant and toxicant diet in the mosquito, gut dissections were performed. In the mosquitoes that were induced to feed on blood or ATP-containing diets the meals were predominantly directed to the midgut, whereas in those induced to feed on sucrose-containing diets the meals were predominantly directed to the crop (Fig. 3). It is noteworthy that caffeine induced an increase in the volume imbibed when combined with sucrose (stage iv) compared to the other diets (stage ii, iii), while feeding on both caffeine and DEET, in combination with sucrose, led to variable distribution of the meal to different destinations in the gut (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 ATP and sucrose variably modulate the final destination of the meal. Exemplar micrographs of gut dissections of *Aedes aegypti* demonstrate the predominant destination of antifeedant- and toxicant-laced meals [NIC, LOB, quinine (*QUI*), capsaicin (*CAP*), *CAF*, BOR] to the crop (*CP*), oesophagus (*OS*), midgut (*MG*) and hindgut (*HG*). The control gut dissections for unfed, sucrose-, blood- and ATP-fed mosquitoes are presented in the four leftmost panels. The guts of mosquitoes fed on antifeedant- and toxicant-laden meals induced by either sucrose or ATP are shown in the upper and lower panels, respectively. The pie charts represent a semi-quantitative indication of the distribution of the meals to the four main gut regions. The colour intensities in the pie chart (scale to the right) visually rank the average intensity of the blue dye in the gut regions on a scale of 0 (lowest) to 3 (highest (*n* = 10). For other abbreviations, see Figs. 1 and 2

Discussion

The ATSB technology used in the control of mosquito vectors relies on sugar as the phagostimulant for the toxin-laden meals. A general food substrate for many non-target organisms, sugar induces intermittent feeding by mosquitoes [24], requiring multiple visits to the control tool, which results in a low rate of toxicity [5]. In this study, we evidenced that ATP is a potent modelalternative phagostimulant to sucrose, overriding the aversive effect of a range of structurally divergent antifeedant and toxicant compounds in a dose-dependent manner. The ATP-induced feeding on a toxic diet predominantly directed the meal to the midgut and rapidly elicited both knockdown and lethal effects, contrary to the slower acting sugar-induced toxicity (this study; [5, 17]). The combination of ATP and binary mixtures of toxic compounds resulted in either synergistic or additive lethal effects at low concentrations. In sum, we identified a novel and more effective pathway for delivering toxic and/or modifying agents in mosquito vector control tools.

Feeding on ATP-containing meals induces rapid ingestion of high volumes of the meal that are directed to the midgut, as part of a chain of reflexes initiated during host seeking [24], while feeding on sucrose induces a slower ingestion of smaller meal volumes, which are directed predominantly to the crop [15, 25-28]. This difference in feeding strategy likely relates to the risk of assault associated with host-seeking and blood-feeding [29, 30] compared to feeding on nectar resources. Both ATP and sucrose dose dependently override the aversive response induced by antifeedant and toxicant compounds, with ATP driving the meal uptake at a more rapid rate and to a greater volume than sucrose (this study; [15, 26]). The behavioural response to the antifeedant and toxicant compounds suggests differential sensitivity of the pathways detecting aversive compounds, similar to that observed in Drosophila, in which antifeedant and toxicant compounds can activate antifeedant- and toxicantsensitive receptors and/or suppress the response of sugar-sensitive neurons [31, 32]. Behavioural evidence in mosquitoes (this study; [13, 33]) suggests that chemosensory neurons in sensilla on the labrum, or in the cibarium, differentially detect antifeedants and toxicants. However, whether antifeedant compounds modulate the response of sensory neurons in these sensilla in mosquitoes, or act through a dedicated pathway, is currently unknown. As with other flower-visiting insects, mosquitoes have evolved the ability to detect aversive compounds as a response to their presumed toxicity in nectar sources [32, 34, 35]. Similarly, there appears to be a selection pressure to detect antifeedant compounds in blood (this study; [13, 33]), as evidenced by the ability of obligate haematophagous animals to maintain antifeedant-sensitive receptors over an evolutionary timescale [36].

The risk associated with naturally occurring alkaloids likely explains the higher sensitivity to these tastants compared to boric acid, the most common lethal agent [5], and the synthetic compound propylene glycol, a potentially safer toxicant [17, 37] for use in ATSBs. Of the alkaloids tested in this study, nicotine, lobeline and caffeine elicited a knockdown effect, likely by acting as agonists of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors [38, 39]. While the cholinergic antagonist quinine [40] had no effect in Ae. aegypti (this study; [13]), in Anopheles gambiae, blood meals containing quinine induced knockdown effects [33], likely due to differences in sensitivity to quinine. In contrast, the mechanisms of action of boric acid and the breakdown products of propylene glycol are direct, with the former acting as a stomach poison in the midgut of mosquitoes, disrupting the gut epithelium, affecting metabolism, and potentially acting as a neural toxin [41]. While the ability to detect and evade antifeedant- or toxicant-containing meals is an innate response, this can be overridden by the use of a phagostimulant, which in turn influences the meal destination and the rate of toxicity.

ATP-induced feeding elicited a more rapid toxic effect compared to sucrose-induced feeding (this study; [17-19, 23, 42]), as a result of directing the meals containing the toxic agents almost exclusively to the midgut, as opposed to the crop. The destination of the meals was not influenced by the type of the antifeedant or toxicant compound contained within, with two notable exceptions, caffeine and DEET, when combined with sucrose. This suggests that the detection of select antifeedants and toxicants has the potential to affect diet destination. Caffeine combined with boric acid was predicted to potentiate the lethal effects of boric acid when feeding was induced by ATP; however, this was not observed in the present study. In contrast, combinations of low doses of boric acid and propylene glycol significantly and synergistically enhanced the lethal effect. Combinations of the most potent knockdown-inducing compound, i.e. nicotine, with boric acid, did not increase the lethal effect of the meal, likely due to nicotine regulating the ingestion of low diet volumes at the high concentrations. Overall, the available results suggest that phagostimulants triggering feeding via the ATP-pathway may be used to improve the efficacy and efficiency of the technology in the control of disease vectors.

ATP as a model phagostimulant in taste-based control tools provides additional advantages compared with sucrose. In principle, not only would ATP agonists increase selectivity for haematophagous vectors, these would also include obligate blood feeders [8] that are currently not targeted by sugar-based control tools. Resistance is a major factor limiting the usefulness of currently available vector control tools [43-45]. Moreover, resistance to glucose, caused by the misexpression of a sugar receptor in the aversive sensory neuron, has led to a loss of efficacy of ATSBs used to control cockroaches [7]. The evolutionary cost of a mutation in the ATP-detection pathway would detrimentally affect vector fitness and is thus highly unlikely to be a "selected for" trait. Taken together, the advantages associated with ATP as a phagostimulant strongly suggest that its thermostable agonists represent a set of alternative phagostimulants to sucrose for future oral-based vector control technologies. Such technologies would allow for the oral delivery of other vector-modifying agents, including biological material (e.g. Bacillus thuringiensis toxins), genetic material (e.g. double-stranded RNA) and chemical agents [5, 46-48].

Conclusions

Aedes aegypti, used as a representative haematophagous vector, responds reflexively to ATP and demonstrates variable sensitivities to ATP-laced antifeedant and toxicant meals. ATP non-specifically overrides the aversive effect of a range of structurally divergent antifeedants and toxicants in a dose-dependent manner. Based on the combined aspects of ATP-driven feeding responses, i.e. reflexive engorgement, high meal volume and midgut diet destination, ATP serves as a model alternative phagostimulant delivering more efficient toxic effects than sucrose when used in available ATSBs, which non-selectively affects off-target organisms, and does not target obligate blood-feeding vectors. Being an ephemeral molecule, rapidly degrading at room temperature, further studies are required to identify structurally related, stable analogues of ATP, such as the non-hydrolysable ATP analogues adenylyl imidodiphosphate and adenylyl methylene diphosphate [49], from among the currently known and commercially available ATP analogues [50, 51]. Such analogues may allow for the use of more lethal and eco-friendly toxic compounds, which can be used individually or synergistically, in future attractive toxic bait technologies. Further still, to ascertain the wide application of ATP analogue-based toxic baits, the stable analogues should be examined with a wider array of representative haematophagous vectors under both laboratory and field conditions. For this purpose, the workflow presented in this study is ideal, and is amenable to the recently developed bait stations designed to prevent off-target species feeding [52].

Abbreviations

ATP Adenosine triphosphate

ATSB Attractive toxic sugar bait

DEET N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi. org/10.1186/s13071-023-06039-x.

Additional file 1. Table S1: The concentrations (millimolar; mM) of combined antifeedants and toxicants and their corresponding percentages. The tabulation indicates combinations of propylene glycol (*PRO*) and boric acid (*BOR*), BOR and nicotine (*NIC*), as well as BOR and caffeine (*CAF*).

Additional file 2. Figure S1: Toxic effects of adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-induced feeding on toxicant- and antifeedant-laced meals by *Aedes aegypti*. The probability of survival among all of the individuals having been exposed to diets containing ATP (0.6 mM) together with a BOR, **b** PRO and **c** a combination of the two toxins. The proportion of individuals knocked down in response to having been exposed to diets containing ATP and **d** nicotine, **e** lobeline and **f** caffiene. Different lowercase letters indicate significant difference among treatments and concentrations.

Additional file 3. Figure S2: Evaluation of the potentiation effect of combing antifeedant compounds inducing knockdown with BOR. a The proportion of engorged individuals on BOR and NIC, as well as combinations thereof. The gradations in colour indicate the corresponding increase in concentrations. b The mortality rate in response to these treatments after 24 h. a, b *P < 0.05, **P < 0.001, ns non-significant. c The proportion of engorgement in individuals induced to feed on meals laden with BOR or BOR and CAF. Kaplan–Meier survival curves for the corresponding mortality rates of BOR as well as BOR in a 5-mM CAF background for the low (d), average (e) and high (f) concentrations. Different lowercase letters indicate significant difference among treatments and concentrations.

Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

Author contributions

ML, RI and SRH conceived and designed the study. ML performed the experiments and analysed the results. ML drafted the manuscript and ML, RI and SRH critically revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

Open access funding provided by Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. This project was funded by the Swedish Research Council for Sustainable Development (Formas FR-2017/0009). The funding body had no role in the design of the study or in the collection, analysis and interpretation of the data, or in the writing of the manuscript.

Availability of data and materials

All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article and Additional files 1–3.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Disease Vector Group, Unit of Chemical Ecology, Department of Plant Protection Biology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden. Received: 14 September 2023 Accepted: 30 October 2023 Published online: 14 November 2023

References

- Wilson AL, Courtenay O, Kelly-Hope LA, Scott TW, Takken W, Torr SJ, et al. The importance of vector control for the control and elimination of vector-borne diseases. PLOS Negl Trop Dis. 2020;14:e0007831.
- Milam D, Farris JLJ, Wilhi D. Evaluating mosquito control pesticides for effect on target and non-target organisms. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 2000;39:324–8.
- World Health Organization. Handbook for integrated vector management. ISBN: 9789241502801. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/ 44768 (2012). Accessed 16 Dec 2022.
- Dethier VJ. Chemical insect attractants and repellents. Soil Sci. 1948;65:204.
- Fiorenzano JM, Koehler PG, Xue RD. Attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) for control of mosquitoes and its impact on non-target organisms: a review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14:398.
- Wada-Katsumata A, Robertson HM, Silverman J, Schal C. Changes in the peripheral chemosensory system drive adaptive shifts in food preferences in insects. Front Cell Neurosci. 2018;12:281.
- Wada-Katsumata A, Silverman J, Schal C. Changes in taste neurons support the emergence of an adaptive behavior in cockroaches. Science. 2013;340:972–5.
- Rio RVM, Attardo GM, Weiss BL. Grandeur alliances: symbiont metabolic integration and obligate arthropod hematophagy. Trends Parasitol. 2016;32:739–49.
- Lukenge M, Ignell R, Hill SR. Phagostimulants drive the acceptance of a blood meal in disease vectors. In: Ignell R, Lazzari CR, Lorenzo MG, Hill SR, editors. Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers; 2022. p. 469–88.
- Heptinstall S, Johnson A, Glenn JR, White AE. Adenine nucleotide metabolism in human blood—important roles for leukocytes and erythrocytes. J Thromb Haemost. 2005;3:2331–9.
- Ignell R, Okawa S, Englund J-E, Hill SR. Assessment of diet choice by the yellow fever mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. Physiol Entomol. 2010;35:274–86.
- Kessler S, Vlimant M, Guerin PM. The sugar meal of the African malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae* and how deterrent compounds interfere with it: a behavioural and neurophysiological study. J Exp Biol. 2013;216:1292–306.
- Dennis EJ, Goldman OV, Vosshall LB. Aedes aegypti mosquitoes use their legs to sense DEET on contact. Curr Biol. 2019;29:1551–6.
- Kessler S, González J, Vlimant M, Glauser G, Guerin P. Quinine and artesunate inhibit feeding in the African malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae: the role of gustatory organs within the mouthparts. Physiol Entomol. 2014;39:1.
- Jové V, Gong Z, Hol FJH, Zhao Z, Sorrells TR, Carroll TS, et al. Sensory discrimination of blood and floral nectar by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. Neuron. 2020;108:1163–80.
- Stromsky VE, Hajkazemian M, Vaisbourd E, Mozüraitis R, Noushin ES. Plasmodium metabolite HMBPP stimulates feeding of main mosquito vectors on blood and artificial toxic sources. Commun Biol. 2021;4:1161.
- Lindsley P, Lyons HB, Leon-Noreña M, Pitts R. Survivorship-reducing effect of propylene glycol on vector mosquito populations and its potential use in attractive toxic sugar baits. Insects. 2022;13:595.
- Xue RD, Barnard DR. Boric acid bait kills adult mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J Econ Entomol. 2003;96:1559–62.
- Barbosa D, Rodrigues M, Silva A. Evaluation of attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB) against *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) in the laboratory. Trop Biomed. 2019;36:578–86.
- Kumar G, Sharma A, Dhiman RC. Laboratory evaluation of the efficacy of boric acid containing toxic sugar baits against *Anopheles culicifacies*, *An.* stephensi and *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. J Vector Borne Dis. 2022;59:52.
- Galun R, Oren N, Zecharia M. Effect of plasma components on the feeding response of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* L. to adenine nucleotides. Physiol Entomol. 1984;9:403–8.
- Jones MD, Gubbins SJ. Modification of circadian flight activity in the mosquito Anopheles gambiae after insemination. Nature. 1977;268:731–2.

- Kumar S, Sharma A, Samal RR, Kumar M, Verma V, Sagar RK, et al. Attractive sugar bait formulation for development of attractive toxic sugar bait for control of *Aedes aegypti* (Linnaeus). J Trop Med. 2022;2022:e2977454.
- Sissoko F, Junnila A, Traore MM, Traore SF, Doumbia S, Dembele SM, et al. Frequent sugar feeding behavior by *Aedes aegypti* in Bamako, Mali makes them ideal candidates for control with attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB). PLoS ONE. 2019;14:e0214170.
- Friend WG, Smith JJ. Factors affecting feeding by bloodsucking insects. Annu Rev Entomol. 1977;22:309–31.
- Day MF. The mechanism of food distribution to midgut or diverticula in the mosquito. Aust J Biol Sci. 1954;7:515–24.
- 27. Jones JC. The feeding behavior of mosquitoes. Sci Am. 1978;238:138-50.
- 28. Klowden MJ. Blood, sex, and the mosquito. Bioscience. 1995;45:326-31.
- 29. Edman JD, Kale HW. Host behavior: its influence on the feeding success of mosquitoes. Ann Entomol Soc Am. 1971;64:513–6.
- Klowden MJ. Making generalizations about vectors: is there a physiology of "the mosquito"? Entomol Res. 2007;37:1–13.
- French A, Ali Agha M, Mitra A, Yanagawa A, Sellier M, Marion-Poll F. Drosophila bitter taste(s). Front Integr Neurosci. 2015;9:1.
- French A, Sellier M, Agha M, Guigue A, Chabaud M, Reeb PD, et al. Dual mechanism for bitter avoidance in *Drosophila*. J Neurosci. 2015;35:3990–4004.
- Kessler S, González J, Vlimant M, Glauser G, Guerin PM. Quinine and artesunate inhibit feeding in the African malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae: the role of gustatory organs within the mouthparts. Physiol Entomol. 2014;39:172–82.
- Stevenson PC. For antagonists and mutualists: the paradox of insect toxic secondary metabolites in nectar and pollen. Phytochem Rev. 2020;19:603–14.
- Lomelí AM, Dahanukar AA. Host-plant feeding in mosquitoes. In: Sensory ecology of disease vectors. In: Ignell R, Lazzari CR, Lorenzo MG, Hill SR, editors. Sensory ecology of disease vectors. Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers; 2022. p. 449–68.
- Ziegler F, Behrens M. Bitter taste receptors of the common vampire bat are functional and show conserved responses to metal ions in vitro. Proc R Soc B. 2021;288:20210418.
- Thomas DB. A safe and effective propylene glycol based capture liquid for fruit fly (Diptera: Tephritidae) traps baited with synthetic lures. Fla Entomol. 2008;91:210–3.
- Unwin N. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and the structural basis of neuromuscular transmission: insights from torpedo postsynaptic membranes. Q Rev Biophys. 2013;46:283–322.
- Alkam T, Nabeshima T. Molecular mechanisms for nicotine intoxication. Neurochem Int. 2019;125:117–26.
- Gisselmann G, Alisch D, Welbers-Joop B, Hatt H. Effects of quinine, quinidine and chloroquine on human muscle nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:1339.
- Sippy R, Rivera GE, Sanchez V, Heras F, Morejón B, Beltrán E, et al. Ingested insecticide to control *Aedes aegypti*: developing a novel dried attractive toxic sugar bait device for intra-domiciliary control. Parasit Vectors. 2020;13:78.
- Revay EE, Müller GC, Qualls WA, Kline D, Naranjo DP, Arheart KL, et al. Control of *Aedes albopictus* with attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB) and potential impact on non-target organisms in St. Augustine, Florida. Parasitol Res. 2014;113:73–9.
- 43. Liu N. Insecticide resistance in mosquitoes: impact, mechanisms, and research directions. Annu Rev Entomol. 2015;60:537–59.
- Karunaratne SHPP, Silva WAPPD, Weeraratne TC, Surendran SN. Insecticide resistance in mosquitoes: development, mechanisms and monitoring. Ceylon J Sci. 2018;47:299–309.
- Kreppel KS, Viana M, Main BJ, Johnson PCD, Govella NJ, Lee Y, et al. Emergence of behavioural avoidance strategies of malaria vectors in areas of high LLIN coverage in Tanzania. Sci Rep. 2020;10:14527.
- Wiltshire RM, Duman-Scheel M. Advances in oral RNAi for disease vector mosquito research and control. Curr Opin Insect Sci. 2020;40:18–23.
- Davis J, Bibbs CS, Müller GC, Xue RD. Evaluation of Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis as toxic sugar bait against adult Aedes aegypti, Aedes albopictus, and Culex quinquefasciatus mosquitoes. J Vector Ecol. 2021;46:30–3.
- Mysore K, Hapairai LK, Realey JS, Sun L, Roethele JB, Duman-Scheel M. Oral RNAi for gene silencing in mosquitoes: from the bench to the field. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2022;2022:1.

- Galun R, Koontz LC, Gwadz RW, Ribeiro JM. Effect of ATP analogues on the gorging response of *Aedes aegypti*. Physiol Entomol. 1985;10:275–81.
- Bagshaw CR. ATP analogues at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2001;114:459–60.
 Jacobson KA, Boeynaems JM. P2Y nucleotide receptors: promise of therapeutic applications. Drug Discov Today. 2010;15:570–8.
- Traore MM, Junnila A, Traore SF, Doumbia S, Revay EE, Kravchenko VD, et al. Large-scale field trial of attractive toxic sugar baits (ATSB) for the control of malaria vector mosquitoes in Mali. West Africa Malar J. 2020;19:72.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions


Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae Doctoral Thesis No. 2024:14

To determine the quality and palatability of a blood meal, mosquitoes use the labrum to detect blood-associated feeding stimulants, including adenine nucleotides. I investigated the underlying phagostimulatory mechanism of adenine nucleotide detection in *Aedes aegypti* and *Anopheles gambiae*. Species-specific feeding responses were observed, placing ATP as the major phagostimulant, which acted as a strong model taste-based feeding driver for mosquito toxic agents. Putative ATP receptors were identified in the labrum, which were upregulated at a time when mosquitoes need to blood feed.

Matthew Lukenge completed his doctoral education at the Department of Plant Protection Biology, SLU, Alnarp, Sweden. He received his M.Sc. in "Medical Research, Infection biology, and M.Sc. in Zoology, Entomology from Uppsala University, Sweden and Makerere University, Uganda.

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae presents doctoral theses from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

SLU generates knowledge for the sustainable use of biological natural resources. Research, education, extension, as well as environmental monitoring and assessment are used to achieve this goal.

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-8046-292-1 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-8046-293-8